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	1
	1:00:00:00
	BEGINNING OF REEL.
	
	
	

	2
	1:00:00:02
	CHILD WALKING IN SURF FACING SUN ON HORIZON.
	
	
	

	
	
	M/T #1: SUNRISE PICTURES
	
	
	

	
	
	M/T #2: PITBULL PICTURES
	
	
	

	
	
	M/T #3: SUNRISE PICTURES AND PITBULL PICTURES PRESENT
	
	
	

	
	
	M/T #4: In Association with TOCM Productions
	
	
	

	
	
	M/T #5: An ERIC KARTEN / PETER SCHAFER Production
	
	
	

	
	
	M/T #6: A KAREN MONCRIEFF Film
	
	
	

	
	
	M/T #7: THE TRIALS OF CATE McCALL
	
	
	

	
	
	FADE UP:
	
	
	

	3
	1:00:59:17
	INT. CATE’S APARTMENT – BEDROOM – MORNING – MS – CATE LYING IN BED.
	
	
	

	
	
	FADE OUT.
	
	
	

	
	
	FADE UP:
	
	
	

	4
	1:01:16:17
	CS – CATE LYING IN BED LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	
	
	FADE OUT.
	
	
	

	
	
	FADE UP:
	
	
	

	5
	1:01:30:07
	MWS – VIEW THROUGH BEDROOM DOORWAY OF CATE LYING IN BED.
	
	
	

	
	
	FADE OUT.
	
	
	

	
	
	FADE UP:
	
	
	

	6
	1:01:53:04
	MS – CATE’S NIGHTSTAND WITH PAPER AND FILES AND A FRAMED PHOTO ON TOP OF IT.
	
	
	

	7
	1:02:05:19
	INT. CATE’S APARTMENT – HALLWAY – MORNING – FS – CATE WALKING SLOWLY TO THE BATHROOM.
	
	
	

	
	
	FADE OUT.
	
	
	

	
	
	FADE UP:
	
	
	

	8
	1:02:24:10
	INT. CATE’S BATHROOM – CS – CATE PUTTING IN EYEDROPS, THEN STARING AT HER OWN REFLECTION IN THE MIRROR.
	
	
	

	9
	1:02:38:23
	CS – POST-IT WITH LIST: “EVERY NIGHT WASH FACE, BRUSH TEETH, PRAY.” NEXT TO POST-IT, CARD READING: “WHEN LIFE HANDS YOU LEMONS...”
	
	
	

	10
	1:02:43:10
	CS – CATE – TURNING AND EXITING BATHROOM.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1.
	1:02:45:11
	THERAPIST)

And the drinking?

	
	
	
	2.
	1:02:46:19
	CATE)

Uh, I’ve been having a hard time sleeping. My husband and I weren’t doing well.

	
	
	FADE OUT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	3.
	1:02:54:03
	CATE VO)

It was a really bad time.

	
	
	FADE UP:
	
	
	

	11
	1:02:55:10
	INT. THERAPIST’S OFFICE – DAY – CS – CATE LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	4.
	1:02:56:06
	CATE)

And, uh, I started having a few drinks to, uh, knock myself out. And when that didn’t kill it, then I added pain meds.

	12
	1:03:09:10
	CS – THERAPIST LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	5.
	1:03:09:14
	THERAPIST)

Your husband said that you were suspended from the bar?

	13
	1:03:12:01
	CS – CATE LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	6.
	1:03:12:04
	CATE)

No, I wasn’t suspended.

	
	
	
	7.
	1:03:14:07
	THERAPIST)

Oh. Okay. Well, he had mentioned–

	
	
	
	8.
	1:03:16:23
	CATE)

I was– I was put on probation.

	14
	1:03:18:21
	CS – THERAPIST LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	9.
	1:03:19:00
	CATE)

One morning I was late to court and...

	15
	1:03:21:22
	CS – CATE LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	10.
	1:03:22:02
	CATE)

...the judge chastised me. And, uh, I just– I lost it. You know? I-I don’t know what he said, but he ordered a– a Breathalyzer test and, um, I was put on probation. You know? I wa– I wasn’t suspended.

	16
	1:03:45:10
	CS – THERAPIST LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	11.
	1:03:45:14
	THERAPIST)

Must have been difficult for you to tell me all that.

	17
	1:03:48:19
	OTS OF THERAPIST TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	12.
	1:03:50:00
	CATE)

Will it get me my daughter back?

	
	
	FADE OUT.
	
	
	

	
	
	FADE UP:
	
	
	

	18
	1:03:56:03
	INT. ADMINISTRATOR’S OFFICE – DAY – MS – CATE SITTING AT ADMINISTRATOR’S DESK. ADMINISTRATOR ENTERS R.
	
	
	

	19
	1:04:12:00
	WS – ADMINISTRATOR SITTING BEHIND DESK. CATE PUTS FILE FOLDER ON DESK.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	13.
	1:04:15:01
	CATE)

I need another case. Preferably one I can win.

	
	
	
	14.
	1:04:18:03
	ADMINISTRATOR)

Ms. McCall, your work here is considered restitution. You don’t get to pick and choose.

	20
	1:04:21:03
	MS – CATE SITTING AT DESK LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	15.
	1:04:22:03
	CATE)

The one part of my life I haven’t completely fucked up is my record in court. I’d like to keep it that way.

	21
	1:04:27:15
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO ADMINISTRATOR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	16.
	1:04:27:19
	CATE)

This is a goddamn habeas case. I’m a civil defense attorney.

	
	
	
	17.
	1:04:30:14
	ADMINISTRATOR)

It’s essentially a civil action. I’m sure you’ll find the rules...

	22
	1:04:33:01
	MS – CATE LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	18.
	1:04:33:04
	ADMINISTRATOR)

...affecting pleadings and discovery familiar.

	
	
	
	19.
	1:04:35:04
	CATE)

Oh, come on! You must have people who are better qualified.

	23
	1:04:37:07
	OTS OF CATE TO ADMINISTRATOR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	20.
	1:04:37:11
	ADMINISTRATOR)

We try to provide destitute women access to the very best legal counsel available. At the moment, the best counsel we have to offer Lacey Stubbs is you.

	24
	1:04:44:22
	MS – FRUSTRATED CATE LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	21.
	1:04:47:18
	ADMINISTRATOR)

She was just moved from Valley State to C.W.C.F.

	
	
	
	22.
	1:04:51:22
	CATE)

Why?

	25
	1:04:53:08
	MS – ADMINISTRATOR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	23.
	1:04:53:11
	ADMINISTRATOR)

She was moved after being raped repeatedly by a guard.

	
	
	ADMINISTRATOR SETS FILE IN FRONT OF CATE.
	
	
	

	26
	1:04:58:01
	OTS OF ADMINISTRATOR TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	24.
	1:04:59:09
	CATE)

So you’re saying I can’t refuse.

	
	
	
	25.
	1:05:00:21
	ADMINISTRATOR)

Of course you can.

	27
	1:05:01:13
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO ADMINISTRATOR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	26.
	1:05:01:16
	ADMINISTRATOR)

And I can refuse to recommend you be taken off probation.

	28
	1:05:06:15
	EXT. AIRPORT - DAY - LOW ANGLE – LS - JET COMING IN FOR LANDING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	27.
	1:05:10:21
	AIRPORT CLERK VO)

You’re all set.

	29
	1:05:11:20
	INT. AIRPORT TERMINAL – DAY – MS – AIRPORT CLERK HANDS TICKET TO PASSENGER, WHO THEN EXITS TOWARD BGR. BRIDGES AND CATE ENTER R.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	28.
	1:05:11:23
	AIRPORT CLERK)

Have a great flight.

	
	
	
	29.
	1:05:14:02
	CATE)

When the cops first arrest her, she says, yeah, she and her friend went over to the victim’s house with a rope and a butcher knife, but only to frighten her. Later things got out of hand and whoops, she accidentally slit the girl’s throat.

	30
	1:05:24:08
	OTS OF CATE TO BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	30.
	1:05:24:11
	BRIDGES)

Oh. Hate when that happens.

	
	
	
	31.
	1:05:26:14
	CATE)

Later, she changes her story and says the boyfriend did it.

	31
	1:05:29:06
	OTS OF BRIDGES TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	32.
	1:05:29:10
	CATE)

Look– Look at her.

	32
	1:05:30:12
	OTS OF CATE TO BRIDGES, LOOKING AT CATE’S CELL PHONE.
	
	
	

	33
	1:05:31:22
	CU OF CELL PHONE. PICTURE OF LACEY IN GOTH COSTUME.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	33.
	1:05:32:02
	BRIDGES)

She like to play dress-up?

	
	
	
	34.
	1:05:33:22
	CATE)

She’s a fucking freak show.

	34
	1:05:34:10
	ALTERNATING OTS OF BRIDGES AND CATE (6x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	35.
	1:05:35:16
	CATE)

The D.A.’s got the best friend saying Lacey did it, the boyfriend saying Lacey did it, even the victim saying Lacey did it right before she died.

	
	
	
	36.
	1:05:42:03
	BRIDGES)

Well, the mind is like–

	
	
	
	37.
	1:05:43:15
	CATE)

It’s a loser.

	
	
	
	38.
	1:05:44:19
	BRIDGES)

Come on, Cate. You’re doing great. You really are.

	
	
	
	39.
	1:05:49:07
	CATE)

Well, I feel like shit.

	
	
	
	40.
	1:05:51:01
	AIRPORT CLERK)

You’re all set.

	
	
	AIRPORT CLERK HANDS BRIDGES HIS TICKETS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	41.
	1:05:52:15
	BRIDGES)

Thank you.

	
	
	
	42.
	1:05:53:05
	AIRPORT CLERK)

You’re welcome.

	40
	1:05:53:20
	OTS OF CATE TO BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	43.
	1:05:55:03
	BRIDGES)

Feelings aren’t facts.

	41
	1:05:57:03
	TWO-SHOT PAST BRIDGES TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	44.
	1:05:58:06
	BRIDGES)

Give me a hug.

	
	
	CATE AND BRIDGES HUG.
	
	
	

	42
	1:06:02:03
	ALTERNATING TWO-SHOTS – BRIDGES AND CATE (2x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	45.
	1:06:03:20
	BRIDGES)

Just call me. Every day. Okay? It’s simple.

	
	
	BRIDGES EXITS LFG.
	
	
	

	44
	1:06:11:00
	INT. CATE’S KITCHEN – DAY – MWS – CATE MAKING TEA.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: TEAPOT WHISTLING ]
	
	
	

	45
	1:06:24:20
	MCS – CATE LOOKING DOWN AT FILE FOLDER.
	
	
	

	
	
	CAMERA TILTS DOWN TO FOLDER.
	
	
	

	46
	1:06:34:13
	CS OF DOCUMENT AS CATE HIGHLIGHTS SENTENCE: “CAROTID ARTERY COMPLETELY SEVERED.”
	
	
	

	47
	1:06:38:20
	CS – CATE LOOKING DOWN AT DOCUMENT.
	
	
	

	48
	1:06:42:16
	INT. JAIL HALLWAY – DAY – LS – CATE AND OFFICER WALKING TOWARD FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	46.
	1:06:47:09
	PRISON GUARD)

Hold the other gate!

	49
	1:06:52:10
	INT. JAIL CELL BLOCK HALLWAY – MS – CAMERA PUSHES IN BEHIND CATE AND OFFICER WALKING PAST JAIL CELLS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	47.
	1:07:01:00
	TOOMEY)

Hey, Snow White!

	
	
	
	48.
	1:07:02:04
	MALE GUARD)

Shut up, Toomey. Stubbs, you got a visitor.

	50
	1:07:06:22
	CS – CATE SITTING OUTSIDE LACEY’S CELL. OFFICER STANDING IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	49.
	1:07:07:02
	CATE)

Do you understand what a habeas petition is?

	51
	1:07:09:17
	MCS – LACEY SEEN THROUGH CELL DOOR BARS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	50.
	1:07:09:20
	LACEY)

I think so. After you lose all your appeals, you go to the judge–

	52
	1:07:13:23
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF CATE AND LACEY (3x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	51.
	1:07:14:03
	CATE)

You’re telling a federal judge you believe your imprisonment was unconstitutional because the state court that convicted you made a legal or factual error.

	
	
	
	52.
	1:07:21:07
	LACEY)

I’ve been keeping a list of all the mistakes.

	
	
	
	53.
	1:07:24:07
	CATE)

You have to persuade the judge that there was significant trial error.

	55
	1:07:27:15
	CS – LACEY BEHIND BARS LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	54.
	1:07:27:19
	LACEY)

I didn’t kill Jen.

	56
	1:07:29:18
	MCS – CATE LOOKING OSR. OFFICER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	55.
	1:07:31:08
	CATE)

Honestly, whether you’re guilty or innocent is beside the point.

	
	
	
	56.
	1:07:34:07
	LACEY)

She went out with my boyfriend...

	57
	1:07:35:09
	CS – LACEY BEHIND BARS LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	57.
	1:07:35:12
	LACEY)

...when I was pregnant. I screamed at her. I said terrible things. But I didn’t kill her.

	58
	1:07:40:07
	MCS – CATE LOOKING OSR. OFFICER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	58.
	1:07:40:11
	CATE)

So why did you tell the cops that you did?

	59
	1:07:42:17
	CS – LACEY BEHIND BARS LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	59.
	1:07:42:20
	LACEY)

Because I didn’t want to send my baby’s daddy to the gas chamber. Then when I found out he lied to me about everything, including ever loving me or the baby, I had to tell the cops the truth.

	60
	1:07:54:08
	MCS – CATE LOOKING OSR. OFFICER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	60.
	1:07:55:23
	CATE)

Which is what?

	61
	1:07:57:12
	CS – LACEY BEHIND BARS LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	61.
	1:07:57:15
	LACEY)

Me and Dorrie just went over there to scare her. But Dorrie just lost it. She was screaming in Jen’s face and pushed her really hard. Jen hit her head.

	62
	1:08:08:10
	MCS – CATE LOOKING OSR. OFFICER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	62.
	1:08:10:00
	LACEY)

I tried to pull her off, but...

	63
	1:08:12:06
	CS – LACEY BEHIND BARS LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	63.
	1:08:12:10
	LACEY)

...she was just gone. She was straddling her and hacking off her hair with a butcher knife.

	64
	1:08:20:11
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF CATE AND LACEY (9x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	64.
	1:08:21:15
	LACEY)

There was all this blood and– I ran outside to tell Rusty, and he said he’d take care of it. A couple minutes later, they came running out and told me to get in the fucking car.

	
	
	
	65.
	1:08:34:15
	CATE)

So Rusty killed her? Why would he do that?

	
	
	
	66.
	1:08:40:00
	LACEY)

She was telling everyone he raped her. He was afraid that she’d press charges.

	
	
	
	67.
	1:08:45:00
	CATE)

Was it true?

	
	
	
	68.
	1:08:47:04
	LACEY)

That he raped her?

	
	
	
	69.
	1:08:48:19
	CATE)

Mm-hmm.

	
	
	
	70.
	1:08:51:08
	LACEY)

Knowing Rusty. He raped me on our second date.

	
	
	
	71.
	1:08:57:12
	CATE)

So why would Dorrie tell police that it was you?

	
	
	
	72.
	1:09:01:11
	LACEY)

Because I told her to. We were in his trailer, and he said he’d get the death penalty, but they’d go lighter on a girl.

	
	
	
	73.
	1:09:11:16
	CATE)

Unfortunately, when you change your story–

	
	
	
	74.
	1:09:13:20
	LACEY)

You look at me like I’m shit. I’m not shit. Maybe I didn’t do everything right or go to college or have a perfect life like you. But I have a kid out there that I’m not raising because my shitty lawyer let the D.A. fuck me over...

	73
	1:09:25:14
	CS – LACEY BEHIND BARS LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	75.
	1:09:25:18
	LACEY)

...and give me life without parole when I wasn’t even there.

	74
	1:09:29:12
	MCS – CATE LOOKING OSR. OFFICER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	76.
	1:09:33:11
	CATE)

I’ll look at your list.

	75
	1:09:37:03
	INT. JOSH’S HOUSE – DAY – MS – AUGIE PACKING HER STUFFED ANIMALS IN A BOX.
	
	
	

	76
	1:09:41:16
	TWO-SHOT PAST AUGIE TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	77.
	1:09:41:19
	CATE)

Getting everything organized?

	
	
	
	78.
	1:09:44:06
	AUGIE)

I’m packing.

	
	
	
	79.
	1:09:45:07
	CATE)

Oh.

	77
	1:09:46:15
	MWS – CATE AND AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	80.
	1:09:46:19
	CATE)

You taking a trip?

	
	
	
	81.
	1:09:49:17
	AUGIE)

Mm-hmm.

	
	
	
	82.
	1:09:53:00
	CATE)

Can I come too?

	78
	1:09:54:13
	OTS OF CATE TO AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	83.
	1:09:54:16
	AUGIE)

Just me and Daddy and Blue Dog.

	79
	1:09:57:21
	MS – CATE. AUGIE PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	80
	1:10:00:05
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF CATE AND AUGIE (6x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	84.
	1:10:00:08
	AUGIE)

I’m gonna have a rainbow room and a fish.

	
	
	
	85.
	1:10:05:19
	CATE)

Sounds nice.

	
	
	
	86.
	1:10:07:14
	AUGIE)

We have to take a plane.

	
	
	
	87.
	1:10:09:18
	CATE)

To your rainbow room?

	
	
	
	88.
	1:10:11:17
	AUGIE)

For Daddy’s new job.

	
	
	
	89.
	1:10:14:15
	CATE)

Daddy has a new job?

	
	
	
	90.
	1:10:16:10
	AUGIE)

Mm-hmm. In Seattle.

	
	
	
	91.
	1:10:20:17
	JOSH VO)

You never see her...

	86
	1:10:21:16
	INT. JOSH’S HOUSE – LS – DOWN HALLWAY THROUGH GLASS DOORS TO DINING ROOM – DAY – JOSH AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	92.
	1:10:21:19
	JOSH)

...anyway.

	
	
	
	93.
	1:10:22:06
	CATE)

I see her!

	
	
	
	94.
	1:10:22:20
	JOSH)

You’re either off having a mental breakdown, or you’re too busy working.

	87
	1:10:26:02
	INT. LIVING ROOM – DAY – WS – SEEN THROUGH LIVING ROOM DOORS – AUGIE PACKING UP HER TOYS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	95.
	1:10:26:06
	CATE)

Well, one of us had to earn some money!

	88
	1:10:27:11
	MS – DINING ROOM – JOSH WALKING TOWARD FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	96.
	1:10:28:05
	CATE)

I’m sorry.

	89
	1:10:28:22
	MCS – JOSH. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	97.
	1:10:29:02
	CATE)

I’m sorry. I know I fucked up.

	90
	1:10:31:07
	MCS – CATE. JOSH PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	98.
	1:10:31:12
	CATE)

But you can’t do this. You can’t take her to another state. I’m her mom.

	91
	1:10:36:06
	OTS OF CATE TO JOSH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	99.
	1:10:36:10
	JOSH)

You’ll always be her mom. I’m just not gonna let you keep hurting her.

	92
	1:10:40:07
	WS – DINING ROOM DOORS – JOSH ENTERS LIVING ROOM. CATE REMAINS IN DINING ROOM.
	
	
	

	93
	1:10:44:14
	WS – AUGIE IN LIVING ROOM SEEN THROUGH DINING ROOM DOORS.
	
	
	

	94
	1:10:46:10
	INT. FERN’S OFFICE – DAY – TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO FERN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	100.
	1:10:46:14
	FERN)

While you were in rehab, Josh had de facto sole custody. We’re working against a mountain of unpleasant evidence.

	95
	1:10:54:10
	MS – CATE. FERN PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	101.
	1:10:54:14
	CATE)

I’ve been going to meetings. I’m working this pro bono case so I can get off probation. I’m completely fucking sober...

	96
	1:11:00:10
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF CATE AND FERN (4x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	102.
	1:11:00:14
	CATE)

...except for a cigarette here and there.

	
	
	
	103.
	1:11:02:02
	FERN)

Are you seeing Augie?

	
	
	
	104.
	1:11:03:03
	CATE)

I’d be seeing a lot more of her if I had any kind of help. This case I’m working on–

	
	
	
	105.
	1:11:07:19
	FERN)

Spend time with your kid, Cate. We need to make you a presence in her life again.

	
	
	
	106.
	1:11:16:19
	WOMAN VO)

I’ve been having a really tough week this week.

	100
	1:11:18:22
	INT. MEETING ROOM – NIGHT – WS – WOMAN SITTING IN FRONT OF GROUP OF PEOPLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	107.
	1:11:19:02
	WOMAN)

Um, just got a lot of stuff going on, trying to, you know, figure it out.

	101
	1:11:23:07
	MWS – CATE ENTERING ROOM, CROSSES L TO CHAIR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	108.
	1:11:25:22
	WOMAN)

You know, I’m just having a really hard time surrendering.

	102
	1:11:30:03
	WS – CATE AND GROUP. CATE SITS IN CHAIR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	109.
	1:11:30:07
	WOMAN)

I’ve been, you know, pretending to give up control...

	103
	1:11:34:16
	MS – WOMAN IN FRONT OF GROUP.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	110.
	1:11:34:19
	WOMAN)

...but I still want what I want. I still want certain outcomes.

	104
	1:11:38:04
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	111.
	1:11:38:07
	WOMAN)

You know? So I start bargaining.

	
	
	[ SFX: CELL PHONE BUZZING ]
	
	
	

	
	
	
	112.
	1:11:42:16
	WOMAN)

And then I start making a deal with God.

	
	
	CATE PULLS OUT HER CELL PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	113.
	1:11:46:09
	WOMAN)

If you do this for me...

	105
	1:11:48:06
	CU OF CELL PHONE – MESSAGE FROM WILSON GEORGE “I NEED TO TALK TO YOU”
	
	
	

	
	
	
	114.
	1:11:48:10
	WOMAN)

...I will have another month sober.

	106
	1:11:50:20
	MS – CATE LOOKING SURPRISED.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	115.
	1:11:52:11
	WOMAN)

And then I start feeling guilty about how I’m working my program, or how I’m not working my program.

	107
	1:11:59:08
	INT. CATE’S BEDROOM – NIGHT – WS – CATE IN BED ON PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	116.
	1:12:00:11
	BRIDGES ON PHONE)

So, how was the notorious Lacey Stubbs?

	
	
	
	117.
	1:12:05:04
	CATE)

She accused me of being perfect.

	108
	1:12:07:13
	MS – CATE IN BED ON PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	118.
	1:12:10:17
	CATE)

Well, it’s nice to know...

	109
	1:12:11:22
	MCS – PICTURE ON NIGHTSTAND OF CATE HOLDING INFANT AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	119.
	1:12:12:02
	CATE)

...I can still fool somebody.

	
	
	
	120.
	1:12:14:17
	BRIDGES ON PHONE)

Hey.

	110
	1:12:15:17
	MS – CATE IN BED ON PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	121.
	1:12:16:03
	BRIDGES ON PHONE)

Are you okay?

	
	
	
	122.
	1:12:20:14
	CATE)

I got a text from Wilson George. Maybe I should just call him. He’s on my list.

	
	
	
	123.
	1:12:27:05
	BRIDGES ON PHONE)

The idea isn’t to endanger yourself. Why don’t you just change your number?

	
	
	
	124.
	1:12:32:23
	CATE)

I like my number.

	
	
	
	125.
	1:12:35:04
	BRIDGES ON PHONE)

Wilson George may have been cleared, but he is still dangerous.

	111
	1:12:42:23
	INT. THERAPIST’S OFFICE – DAY – MCS – THERAPIST SITTING, WRITING ON PAD.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	126.
	1:12:45:11
	THERAPIST)

Had you been treated for alcohol addiction or depression prior to your stay at Clearhaven?

	112
	1:12:51:03
	OTS OF THERAPIST TO CATE SITTING ON COUCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	127.
	1:12:51:07
	CATE)

No.

	
	
	
	128.
	1:12:53:09
	THERAPIST)

Do you want to tell me about it?

	
	
	
	129.
	1:12:55:05
	CATE)

Do I want to?

	113
	1:12:56:15
	OTS OF CATE TO THERAPIST.
	
	
	

	114
	1:12:58:13
	OTS OF THERAPIST TO CATE. CAMERA PUSHES IN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	130.
	1:12:59:23
	CATE)

Um... I was working in the D.A.’s office. This was 12 years ago. It was 12. Um, and I was assigned this, um– It was a– a rape-murder of a six-year-old girl.

	115
	1:13:18:07
	MS – THERAPIST.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	131.
	1:13:19:11
	CATE)

And I’d seen some horrible, awful things, but this one was just... beyond.

	116
	1:13:26:05
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	132.
	1:13:26:08
	CATE)

I made it my mission to put this guy away. And so when I got the conviction, I felt great. You know? And– And then wh– when the jury sentenced him to die...

	117
	1:13:38:23
	OTS OF CATE TO THERAPIST.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	133.
	1:13:39:03
	CATE)

...I felt like I– I did something right.

	118
	1:13:42:17
	MCS – CATE. THERAPIST PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	134.
	1:13:42:20
	CATE)

For a long time I just– I didn’t really think about him, except that I was glad that he wasn’t out there hurting anybody. Um–

	119
	1:13:51:19
	OTS OF CATE TO THERAPIST.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	135.
	1:13:52:17
	CATE)

And so, I was deep into another case. I’d left the prosecutor’s office a few years before. And I got a call.

	120
	1:13:59:01
	MCS – CATE. THERAPIST PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	136.
	1:13:59:04
	CATE)

They had tested semen samples taken from the girl’s socks. And I guess technology had advanced to where they were able to determine, based on the new D.N.A. evidence, that, uh– that it– it wasn’t actually Wilson George, and, um, he was innocent.

	121
	1:14:19:03
	MS – THERAPIST.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	137.
	1:14:21:02
	CATE)

I felt like...

	122
	1:14:23:04
	MCS – CATE. THERAPIST PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	138.
	1:14:23:07
	CATE)

...everything that I knew, everything that I felt good about, was, uh– was just– was wrong, uh, false.

	123
	1:14:36:22
	EXT. PRISON – DAY – WS – BARBED WIRE FENCE AND PRISON TOWER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	139.
	1:14:38:10
	CATE VO)

They’ve got Dorrie’s testimony...

	124
	1:14:40:11
	INT. PRISON VISITATION AREA – DAY – WS – CATE AND LACEY ON PHONES LOOKING AT EACH THROUGH GLASS PARTITION.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	140.
	1:14:40:15
	CATE)

...they’ve got Rusty’s testimony, and they’ve got the victim’s grief-stricken mother...

	125
	1:14:44:05
	OTS OF LACEY TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	141.
	1:14:44:08
	CATE)

...standing up there saying her daughter’s last words were “Lacey did it.”

	126
	1:14:47:08
	REVERSE ANGLE – OTS OF CATE TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	142.
	1:14:47:11
	LACEY)

But it’s a lie. My lawyer said he spoke to some medical examiner guy that said there’s no way Jen could’ve said I did it because her throat was sliced through.

	127
	1:14:55:19
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF CATE AND LACEY (3x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	143.
	1:14:55:23
	CATE)

Who, Ennis? I read his testimony. That’s not what he said in court.

	
	
	
	144.
	1:15:00:11
	LACEY)

I-I know, but that’s what he told my lawyer. He said there was no way she could say anything.

	130
	1:15:07:04
	INT. LABORATORY DAY – MS – ENNIS PATHOLOGY DOORWAY – SIGN ON DOOR READS: “ENNIS PATHOLOGY CONSULTANTS, INC. SUITE 17A” – CATE ENTERS LFG, KNOCKS ON DOOR.
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE ENTERS ROOM, CROSSES TO LAB IN BACK ROOM.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: CLASSICAL MUSIC ]
	
	
	

	
	
	DR, ENNIS SITTING, EATING, LOOKING IN A MICROSCOPE.
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE APPROACHES DESK.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	145.
	1:15:24:15
	CATE)

Dr. Ennis?

	
	
	
	146.
	1:15:26:21
	DR. ENNIS)

Yes.

	
	
	
	147.
	1:15:29:08
	CATE)

You do consulting work on trials?

	
	
	
	148.
	1:15:32:03
	DR. ENNIS)

Yes. Yes, that’s right. Excuse me.

	
	
	DR. ENNIS PUTS DOWN FOOD.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	149.
	1:15:34:14
	CATE)

So I could hire you to give testimony?

	
	
	
	150.
	1:15:37:14
	DR. ENNIS)

Well, uh, we work primarily with law enforcement. Uh, police, D.A.’s office, mainly.

	131
	1:15:45:03
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	151.
	1:15:45:07
	CATE)

And they keep you busy enough?

	
	
	
	152.
	1:15:46:19
	DR. ENNIS)

Yeah, they keep us real busy.

	132
	1:15:48:02
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO DR. ENNIS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	153.
	1:15:48:06
	DR. ENNIS)

I’d say 99.9% of our work comes from law enforcement.

	133
	1:15:51:15
	MS – CATE. SHE SITS IN CHAIR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	154.
	1:15:51:19
	CATE)

So, uh, you wouldn’t just change your opinion because somebody called you and asked you to? Like, say, one of the D.A.’s who gives you all that business?

	134
	1:16:01:04
	MS – DR. ENNIS, STANDING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	155.
	1:16:01:07
	DR. ENNIS)

No. No, of course not.

	
	
	
	156.
	1:16:03:08
	CATE)

Because five years ago...

	135
	1:16:05:01
	MS – CATE. DR. ENNIS PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	157.
	1:16:05:04
	CATE)

...you told Lacey Stubbs’ lawyer that Jennifer Cole couldn’t have spoken. And then in court...

	136
	1:16:09:16
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF CATE AND DR. ENNIS (7x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	158.
	1:16:09:19
	CATE)

...you changed your mind and said she could have spoken in a somewhat slurred, less intelligible manner. Sounds like a pretty big change, don’t you think? Says the D.A. admitted to calling you. And when the judge asked you if you felt threatened or intimidated, you said no.

	
	
	
	159.
	1:16:24:04
	DR. ENNIS)

That’s right.

	
	
	
	160.
	1:16:25:20
	CATE)

Even though 99.9% of your business was at stake?

	
	
	
	161.
	1:16:31:08
	DR. ENNIS)

You should leave now.

	143
	1:16:33:16
	EXT. FREEWAY OVERPASS – DAY – HIGH ANGLE – WS – TRAFFIC MOVING ON FREEWAY BELOW.
	
	
	

	144
	1:16:35:23
	INT. CATE’S VEHICLE – DAY – MS – BRIDGES SITTING IN PASSENGER SEAT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	162.
	1:16:36:03
	BRIDGES)

So they tampered with him.

	145
	1:16:37:08
	TWO-SHOT PAST BRIDGES TO CATE DRIVING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	163.
	1:16:37:13
	CATE)

It sure as hell looks like it. This isn’t a simple appeal. I need to re-investigate the damn case.

	146
	1:16:42:21
	MS – BRIDGES. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	164.
	1:16:43:00
	CATE)

I don’t have a big-money firm backing me here.

	147
	1:16:45:20
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	165.
	1:16:45:23
	CATE)

No in-house P.I., no team of paralegals. I don’t even have an office.

	148
	1:16:50:20
	MCS – BRIDGES, HOLDING SMALL BUDDHA FIGURINE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	166.
	1:16:50:23
	BRIDGES)

There he is. Now, doesn’t that just scream serenity?

	
	
	
	167.
	1:16:55:22
	CATE)

Criminal defense is your world.

	149
	1:16:58:14
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF CATE AND BRIDGES (13x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	168.
	1:17:00:09
	CATE)

What? You’re not gonna answer me?

	
	
	
	169.
	1:17:02:08
	BRIDGES)

Was there a question back there someplace?

	
	
	
	170.
	1:17:04:20
	CATE)

I need to find out what rock Rusty Burkhardt crawled under after he served his whopping three months.

	
	
	
	171.
	1:17:10:03
	BRIDGES)

Three months? For accessory to murder?

	
	
	
	172.
	1:17:12:16
	CATE)

Hindering apprehension. D.A. cut him a sweetheart deal in exchange for testifying against Lacey. And I need to talk to Dorrie Boothe.

	
	
	
	173.
	1:17:20:22
	BRIDGES)

Are you asking me for help?

	
	
	
	174.
	1:17:22:22
	CATE)

Like you’re so busy.

	
	
	
	175.
	1:17:24:18
	BRIDGES)

What do I get?

	
	
	
	176.
	1:17:26:23
	CATE)

My undying love and continued esteem.

	
	
	
	177.
	1:17:30:02
	BRIDGES)

Ho-hum.

	
	
	
	178.
	1:17:31:20
	CATE)

Fine. I’ll blow you.

	
	
	
	179.
	1:17:33:12
	BRIDGES)

Now we’re talking.

	162
	1:17:36:09
	INT. CATE’S APARTMENT – LIVING ROOM – NIGHT – FS – CATE ON PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	180.
	1:17:36:12
	CATE)

I supported Josh for years while he was trying to get this video game launched and that project built.

	
	
	[ SFX: DOOR BUZZER BUZZES ]
	
	
	

	
	
	
	181.
	1:17:44:03
	CATE)

Hold on.

	
	
	CATE CROSSES L TO R TO INTERCOM BY FRONT DOOR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	182.
	1:17:46:19
	CATE)

Who is it?

	
	
	
	183.
	1:17:48:08
	BRIDGES ON INTERCOM)

Hey, where were you?

	
	
	[ SFX: SECURITY BUZZER BUZZES ]
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE OPENS FRONT DOOR, CROSSES R INTO LIVING ROOM.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	184.
	1:17:53:19
	CATE)

Sorry. Um, so, yeah. So I support him, and I’m the deadbeat? It’s– It’s wrong. And I guess I was hoping that you guys could talk some sense into him. I don’t wanna–

	
	
	BRIDGES ENTERS ROOM CARRYING LUGGAGE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	185.
	1:18:05:12
	BRIDGES)

Missed you tonight.

	
	
	BRIDGES CROSSES TO BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	186.
	1:18:07:13
	CATE)

I don’t want to talk for hours and hours on your machine. Um, but... I love you both and, uh, I hope we can talk soon.

	
	
	CATE HANGS UP PHONE, TURNS, CROSSES TO BRIDGES IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	187.
	1:18:19:16
	CATE)

Josh’s parents won’t even pick up the phone. I’m ranting on their voice mail.

	
	
	
	188.
	1:18:23:16
	BRIDGES)

A meeting is like a raffle. You must be present to win.

	
	
	
	189.
	1:18:27:07
	CATE)

Are you trying to make me jump out of the fucking window?

	
	
	BRIDGES WALKS INTO KITCHEN FOLLOWED BY CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	190.
	1:18:30:07
	BRIDGES)

Did you eat?

	163
	1:18:32:15
	MS – CATE LOOKING OSL. BRIDGES PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	191.
	1:18:32:19
	CATE)

I had a yogurt. It made me feel so much better.

	164
	1:18:35:00
	OTS OF CATE TO BRIDGES IN KITCHEN, GETTING BOWL FROM CUPBOARD.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	192.
	1:18:37:07
	BRIDGES)

One of my other “sponsees” made me a lovely batch of soup.

	165
	1:18:41:09
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	193.
	1:18:41:12
	CATE)

Seriously, did you just come over here to guilt-trip me?

	
	
	
	194.
	1:18:44:02
	BRIDGES)

No.

	166
	1:18:44:18
	MS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	195.
	1:18:45:07
	BRIDGES)

No, Cate, I came here to enable you.

	167
	1:18:48:23
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF CATE AND BRIDGES (7x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	196.
	1:18:49:03
	CATE)

Okay.

	
	
	
	197.
	1:18:50:20
	BRIDGES)

Both Dorrie and Rusty are still guests of the state. Dorrie won’t talk or doesn’t want to talk, but Rusty is willing. For a small fee.

	
	
	
	198.
	1:19:03:03
	CATE)

Rusty’s still in jail?

	
	
	
	199.
	1:19:04:15
	BRIDGES)

Yes, he is. Apparently, he and the D.A. are no longer sweethearts.

	174
	1:19:11:01
	INT. MEN’S PRISON – DAY – TWO-SHOT – RUSTY SITTING IN GLASS BOOTH. CATE IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	200.
	1:19:13:19
	CATE)

Lacey and Dorrie...

	175
	1:19:14:16
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF CATE AND RUSTY (22x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	201.
	1:19:14:19
	CATE)

...don’t agree on much, but they both say you drove them to the condo.

	
	
	
	202.
	1:19:19:23
	RUSTY)

Yeah, I– I dropped them off.

	
	
	
	203.
	1:19:23:14
	CATE)

Lacey says when she came out and told you what was going on, that you ran inside to take care of it.

	
	
	
	204.
	1:19:30:07
	RUSTY)

Lacey’s a fuckin’ liar.

	
	
	
	205.
	1:19:32:15
	CATE)

Is it a lie that you raped her on your second date?

	
	
	RUSTY JUST STARES AT CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	206.
	1:19:36:18
	CATE)

Is it a lie that you raped her on your second date?

	
	
	
	207.
	1:19:39:18
	RUSTY)

What can I say? The bitch likes it rough.

	
	
	
	208.
	1:19:41:23
	CATE)

Did Jen Cole like it rough too when you sodomized her in the back of your van?

	
	
	
	209.
	1:19:46:18
	RUSTY)

No. That was a pity fuck.

	
	
	
	210.
	1:19:53:15
	CATE)

So what happened to the deal you cut with the D.A.?

	
	
	
	211.
	1:19:57:03
	RUSTY)

I don’t know. Ask them.

	
	
	
	212.
	1:19:59:04
	CATE)

I did ask them. They say they yanked your deal because you lied under oath at Lacey’s trial about a list of questions that she slipped you when you were both in County, questions that you were good enough to answer in writing. Question: “If I cover up, that you helped Dorrie kill Jennifer, do you promise to love me forever and never beat my face again?” Your written answer: “I promise.”

	
	
	
	213.
	1:20:18:05
	RUSTY)

She changed the questions.

	
	
	
	214.
	1:20:19:12
	CATE)

That’s what you said under oath, but the D.A. knew it wasn’t true because their own expert found that the handwriting was yours and Lacey’s, with no changes, erasures or alterations.

	
	
	
	215.
	1:20:28:15
	RUSTY)

I don’t care what the experts say. Lacey’s a fucking liar.

	
	
	
	216.
	1:20:31:15
	CATE)

Oh, she’s a liar?

	
	
	
	217.
	1:20:35:11
	RUSTY)

Are we done here?

	
	
	
	218.
	1:20:37:02
	CATE)

Yeah, we’re done.

	
	
	RUSTY STANDS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	219.
	1:20:38:22
	RUSTY)

Guard!

	
	
	[ SFX: SECURITY BUZZER BUZZES ]
	
	
	

	197
	1:20:41:13
	INT. WOMEN’S PRISON – VISITING AREA – DAY – WS – CATE AND LACEY SITTING AT LONG TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	220.
	1:20:41:16
	CATE)

The problem is I can’t get the discovery I need to prove we deserve a hearing until after the judge grants one.

	
	
	
	221.
	1:20:47:13
	LACEY)

What’s discovery?

	198
	1:20:48:23
	TWO-SHOT PAST LACEY TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	222.
	1:20:49:03
	CATE)

Witness statements, uh, police reports...

	199
	1:20:52:06
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	223.
	1:20:52:15
	CATE)

...evidence, interviews.

	
	
	
	224.
	1:20:54:14
	LACEY)

So if they found an earring in Jen’s condo with blood on it...

	200
	1:20:58:12
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF LACEY AND CATE (5x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	225.
	1:20:58:15
	LACEY)

...would they have to give it to you?

	
	
	
	226.
	1:21:01:04
	CATE)

The cops found an earring with Jen Cole’s blood on it? Was it yours?

	
	
	
	227.
	1:21:07:03
	LACEY)

No, it was Rusty’s. But they kept it out of evidence. My lawyer said it wouldn’t help me anyway ’cause Rusty told them the earring was mine. Which never made sense to me ’cause if the cops really thought they had my earring with Jen Cole’s blood on it, why didn’t they use it against me?

	
	
	
	228.
	1:21:24:11
	CATE)

That’s a good question.

	205
	1:21:27:21
	INT. COFFEE BAR – DAY – WS – BRIDGES AND CATE SITTING AT SMALL TABLE COVERED WITH FILES AND DOCUMENTS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	229.
	1:21:28:00
	CATE)

So we got witness tampering.

	
	
	
	230.
	1:21:30:00
	BRIDGES)

Yeah, suggestive, hard to prove.

	
	
	
	231.
	1:21:32:11
	CATE)

Perjured testimony.

	
	
	
	232.
	1:21:33:22
	BRIDGES)

That’s your best shot. And the fact that the D.A. knew that at least half of Rusty’s testimony was malarkey.

	206
	1:21:41:07
	MS – TWO-SHOT PAST BRIDGES TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	233.
	1:21:41:11
	CATE)

And they didn’t even bother to go back and inform the court.

	
	
	
	234.
	1:21:44:01
	BRIDGES)

That’s not nothin’.

	207
	1:21:44:18
	MCS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	235.
	1:21:44:22
	BRIDGES)

Let’s just hope that this judge– What’s his name? Sumpter–

	208
	1:21:48:21
	MS – TWO-SHOT PAST BRIDGES TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	236.
	1:21:49:00
	BRIDGES)

...agrees.

	
	
	
	237.
	1:21:51:14
	CATE)

Jamison Sumpter?

	
	
	
	238.
	1:21:52:23
	BRIDGES)

Yeah. Friend of yours?

	
	
	
	239.
	1:21:56:03
	CATE)

He was, um, one of my law school profs. Huge victims’ rights guy.

	209
	1:22:00:21
	MCS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	240.
	1:22:01:00
	BRIDGES)

Oh. That’s not good.

	210
	1:22:03:01
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	241.
	1:22:03:04
	CATE)

Really bad kisser.

	211
	1:22:05:07
	MCS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	212
	1:22:07:03
	MS – TWO-SHOT PAST BRIDGES TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	242.
	1:22:08:05
	CATE)

He really liked his students.

	
	
	
	243.
	1:22:09:19
	BRIDGES)

Mmm.

	
	
	
	244.
	1:22:10:15
	CATE)

Particularly the female ones.

	213
	1:22:13:08
	INT. COURTROOM – DAY – MCS – CATE DRUMMING HER FINGERS ON TABLE. BARKER AND ASSISTANT PARTIALLY SEEN IN BG.
	
	
	

	214
	1:22:15:16
	MCS – CATE LOOKS OSL. BARKER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	245.
	1:22:15:19
	SUMPTER)

Mr. Barker, you ought to be...

	215
	1:22:17:23
	MCS– PROFILE – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	246.
	1:22:18:03
	SUMPTER)

...in a good mood this morning.

	
	
	
	247.
	1:22:19:06
	BARKER)

I’d like to point out to the court my...

	216
	1:22:20:18
	OTS OF SUMPTER TO BARKER AND ASSISTANT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	248.
	1:22:20:22
	BARKER)

...celebratory cardinal and gold.

	
	
	
	249.
	1:22:22:12
	SUMPTER)

By the skin of their teeth, Mr. Barker. Are you a football fan, Ms. McCall?

	217
	1:22:23:01
	MCS – CATE LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	250.
	1:22:28:05
	CATE)

Uh, no...

	218
	1:22:29:12
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	251.
	1:22:29:15
	CATE)

...Your Honor.

	
	
	
	252.
	1:22:33:01
	SUMPTER)

Do I know you?

	219
	1:22:34:15
	OTS OF SUMPTER TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	253.
	1:22:34:19
	CATE)

I was in your victims’ rights seminar at UCLA.

	220
	1:22:38:16
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	254.
	1:22:38:19
	SUMPTER)

Did you learn a few things?

	221
	1:22:40:20
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	255.
	1:22:40:23
	CATE)

More than a few.

	
	
	
	256.
	1:22:42:15
	SUMPTER)

Glad to hear it.

	222
	1:22:44:00
	MCS – BARKER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	257.
	1:22:44:03
	SUMPTER)

Mr. Barker...

	223
	1:22:45:15
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	258.
	1:22:45:20
	SUMPTER)

...apparently I was Ms. McCall’s law professor. Do you have a problem with that?

	224
	1:22:49:04
	OTS OF SUMPTER TO BARKER AND ASSISTANT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	259.
	1:22:49:20
	BARKER)

No, sir.

	225
	1:22:51:12
	OTS OF SUMPTER TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	260.
	1:22:51:15
	SUMPTER)

Ms. McCall, do you have a problem with my sitting...

	226
	1:22:53:17
	MCS– PROFILE – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	261.
	1:22:53:20
	SUMPTER)

...on the bench in this case?

	227
	1:22:54:21
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	262.
	1:22:55:00
	CATE)

As I recall, you passed me, sir.

	228
	1:22:57:23
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	263.
	1:22:58:03
	SUMPTER)

I’ll take that as a no.

	229
	1:23:01:18
	MCS– PROFILE – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	264.
	1:23:01:22
	SUMPTER)

Well, Ms. McCall, your petition raises sufficient reason to wonder at the quality of justice administered in Ms. Stubbs’ trial.

	230
	1:23:10:17
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	265.
	1:23:12:02
	SUMPTER)

I’m going to grant your request for unlimited discovery.

	231
	1:23:13:16
	OTS OF SUMPTER TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	266.
	1:23:14:22
	BARKER)

Your Honor, I’m concerned that without limits...

	
	
	CATE LOOKS OSL.
	
	
	

	232
	1:23:16:04
	MS – BARKER LOOKING OSL WITH ASSISTANT IN BG. CATE IN FG, SOFT FOCUS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	267.
	1:23:17:07
	BARKER)

...the discovery process could become unreasonably burdensome.

	233
	1:23:19:14
	MCS– PROFILE – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	268.
	1:23:19:18
	SUMPTER)

Mr. Barker...

	234
	1:23:20:15
	MS – BARKER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	269.
	1:23:20:19
	SUMPTER)

...Ms. McCall can’t very well...

	235
	1:23:22:18
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	270.
	1:23:22:22
	SUMPTER)

...get to the bottom of whether or not this case was prosecuted in a manner befitting the great state of California unless she has all the facts...

	236
	1:23:30:11
	WS – ASSISTANT, BARKER AND CATE STANDING BEHIND TABLES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	271.
	1:23:30:15
	SUMPTER)

...and evidence before her.

	237
	1:23:32:05
	MCS– PROFILE – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	272.
	1:23:32:08
	SUMPTER)

Can she?

	238
	1:23:33:23
	CS – PROFILE – CATE LOOKING OSL. BARKER AND ASSISTANT IN BG, SOFT FOCUS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	273.
	1:23:34:03
	SUMPTER)

The hearing is set for November 7.

	
	
	RACK FOCUS TO BARKER.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: GAVEL RAPS ]
	
	
	

	239
	1:23:38:05
	INT. BRIDGES’S OFFICE – DAY – MCS – CATE LOOKING THROUGH STACK OF PAPERS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	274.
	1:23:39:15
	CATE)

We have coupons from Dunkin’ Donuts.

	240
	1:23:42:18
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	275.
	1:23:42:22
	CATE)

Dry cleaning receipts. They’re trying to bury us under an avalanche of crap.

	241
	1:23:47:13
	MS – BRIDGES. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	276.
	1:23:47:16
	BRIDGES)

You want to hear your horoscope for...

	242
	1:23:49:21
	OTS OF BRIDGES TO CLIPPINGS IN HIS HANDS. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	277.
	1:23:50:00
	BRIDGES)

...June 16, 2006?

	243
	1:23:51:14
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	278.
	1:23:51:18
	CATE)

Phone leads from seven other cases.

	244
	1:23:54:03
	MS – BRIDGES. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	279.
	1:23:54:07
	BRIDGES)

“You’ll be on a learning curve as your horizons...

	245
	1:23:57:12
	MS – CATE LOOKING AT DOCUMENT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	280.
	1:23:57:15
	BRIDGES)

...are broadened.”

	
	
	
	281.
	1:23:59:10
	CATE)

Memo that says police took a statement from a neighbor named Cece Clayman, day of.

	246
	1:24:04:16
	WS – BRIDGES AND CATE. BRIDGES LOOKS DOWN AT DOCUMENTS ON COFFEE TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	282.
	1:24:06:16
	BRIDGES)

Nope. Don’t have it.

	
	
	
	283.
	1:24:07:23
	CATE)

No?

	247
	1:24:09:04
	INT. BRIDGES’S OFFICE – NIGHT – WS – BRIDGES SITTING BEHIND DESK HOLDING TAPE RECORDER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	284.
	1:24:09:07
	MAN ON TAPE RECORDER)

When was this?

	
	
	
	285.
	1:24:11:17
	RUSTY ON TAPE RECORDER)

Before I lost it.

	
	
	CATE ENTERS LFG, CROSSES TO DESK.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: TAPE REWINDS ]
	
	
	

	
	
	
	286.
	1:24:17:01
	BRIDGES)

Did you hear what he said?

	
	
	
	287.
	1:24:18:21
	CATE)

No. Play it again.

	248
	1:24:20:02
	MS – BRIDGES AND CATE AT DESK. BRIDGES HOLDING UP TAPE RECORDER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	288.
	1:24:21:08
	WELCH ON TAPE RECORDER)

Do you recognize this?

	
	
	
	289.
	1:24:23:02
	RUSTY ON TAPE RECORDER)

Yeah. It’s my earring.

	
	
	
	290.
	1:24:25:15
	WELCH ON TAPE RECORDER)

Okay.

	
	
	
	291.
	1:24:26:19
	CATE)

Rusty?

	
	
	
	292.
	1:24:28:07
	BRIDGES)

Yep.

	
	
	
	293.
	1:24:29:02
	RUSTY ON TAPE RECORDER)

Lacey said she liked it, so I gave it to her.

	
	
	
	294.
	1:24:32:02
	WELCH ON TAPE RECORDER)

So you gave this earring to Lacey? When was this?

	
	
	
	295.
	1:24:37:08
	RUSTY ON TAPE RECORDER)

Before I lost it.

	249
	1:24:39:02
	WS – BRIDGES AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	296.
	1:24:41:15
	BRIDGES)

They’re coaching him.

	
	
	
	297.
	1:24:43:11
	CATE)

And he still can’t get it right.

	
	
	
	298.
	1:24:45:15
	BRIDGES)

No. No. It’s un-fucking-believable.

	250
	1:24:49:09
	INT. WOMEN’S PRISON – VISITING AREA – DAY – WS – CATE AND LACEY SITTING AT LONG TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	299.
	1:24:50:21
	CATE)

Do you have any idea why the cops might want to protect Rusty?

	
	
	
	300.
	1:24:55:02
	LACEY)

They hung out sometimes.

	251
	1:24:56:18
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	301.
	1:24:56:22
	CATE)

They were friends?

	252
	1:24:58:22
	TWO-SHOT OF CATE AND LACEY. CATE WRITING ON NOTEPAD.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	302.
	1:24:59:02
	LACEY)

Welch and Rusty played poker together a few times.

	253
	1:25:03:06
	CU – CATE WRITING ON NOTEPAD. CAMERA PANS UP TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	303.
	1:25:03:10
	LACEY)

And paintball. Maybe it wasn’t so much they were protecting Rusty as they were hurting me though.

	254
	1:25:09:19
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	304.
	1:25:09:23
	CATE)

Why would they want to hurt you?

	255
	1:25:12:01
	TWO-SHOT OF CATE AND LACEY.
	
	
	

	256
	1:25:15:16
	MCS – CATE. LACEY PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	305.
	1:25:15:19
	CATE)

If your story doesn’t make sense, we’re gonna lose. Do you understand that?

	257
	1:25:19:08
	REVERSE ANGLE – MCS – LACEY. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	306.
	1:25:22:14
	CATE)

Why would the cops want to hurt you, Lacey?

	
	
	
	307.
	1:25:28:10
	LACEY)

I don’t know.

	258
	1:25:32:02
	MCS – CATE. LACEY PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	259
	1:25:36:17
	INT. POLICE CONFERENCE ROOM – DAY – MCS – CATE WRITING ON PAPER. CAMERA TILTS UP TO HER FACE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	308.
	1:25:39:14
	CATE)

How about number 48? Can you make out what that says?

	260
	1:25:43:16
	WS – CATE, STENOGRAPHER, LAWYER AND WELCH SITTING AT LONG TABLE. WELCH LOOKING AT PIECE OF PAPER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	309.
	1:25:44:14
	WELCH)

Yes. It looks like “earring.”

	
	
	
	310.
	1:25:46:16
	CATE)

Any idea what earring that might refer to?

	261
	1:25:49:07
	TWO-SHOT OF LAWYER AND WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	311.
	1:25:49:11
	WELCH)

Um, I believe that was a C.Z. stud belonging to Lacey Stubbs which we found in the Cole residence.

	262
	1:25:58:01
	OTS OF WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	312.
	1:25:58:04
	WELCH)

If I remember correctly, there was blood on it.

	
	
	
	313.
	1:26:00:20
	CATE)

Rusty Burkhardt has a pierced ear also. Is it possible that the earring might have belonged to him?

	263
	1:26:05:16
	TWO-SHOT OF LAWYER AND WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	314.
	1:26:05:19
	WELCH)

I questioned him about it, and he stated that he had given it...

	264
	1:26:09:00
	OTS OF WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	315.
	1:26:09:01
	WELCH)

...to Miss Stubbs.

	
	
	
	316.
	1:26:10:21
	CATE)

If you had Lacey Stubbs’ earring with Jen Cole’s blood on it, why wasn’t it admitted into evidence at the trial?

	265
	1:26:17:06
	CS – PROFILE – WELCH LOOKING OSL, LAWYER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	317.
	1:26:17:10
	WELCH)

It got lost.

	266
	1:26:19:02
	CS – PROFILE – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	318.
	1:26:19:06
	CATE)

It got lost?

	267
	1:26:20:06
	CS – PROFILE – WELCH LOOKING OSL, LAWYER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	319.
	1:26:20:10
	WELCH)

Yeah. That’s right.

	268
	1:26:22:16
	WS – CATE, STENOGRAPHER, LAWYER AND WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	320.
	1:26:22:19
	CATE)

Detective Welch, um, prior to Jen Cole’s murder...

	269
	1:26:27:11
	OTS OF WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	321.
	1:26:27:15
	CATE)

...did you know Rusty Burkhardt socially?

	270
	1:26:29:05
	TWO-SHOT OF LAWYER AND WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	322.
	1:26:29:08
	WELCH)

Um, I’d seen him around.

	271
	1:26:31:08
	OTS OF WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	323.
	1:26:31:11
	CATE)

Ever play poker with him?

	272
	1:26:32:16
	CS – PROFILE – WELCH LOOKING OSL, LAWYER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	324.
	1:26:33:02
	WELCH)

No– I mean, maybe.

	273
	1:26:34:20
	CS – PROFILE – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	325.
	1:26:34:23
	CATE)

Did you ever play paintball with Mr. Burkhardt?

	274
	1:26:37:05
	CS – PROFILE – WELCH LOOKING OSL, LAWYER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	326.
	1:26:37:08
	WELCH)

I don’t remember.

	275
	1:26:38:20
	CS – PROFILE – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	327.
	1:26:38:23
	CATE)

What about Lacey?

	276
	1:26:39:23
	OTS OF CATE TO WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	328.
	1:26:40:03
	WELCH)

What about her?

	277
	1:26:40:20
	OTS OF WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	329.
	1:26:40:23
	CATE)

Did you ever see her socially?

	278
	1:26:42:15
	OTS OF CATE TO WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	330.
	1:26:43:21
	WELCH)

No.

	279
	1:26:45:07
	CS – PROFILE – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	331.
	1:26:45:11
	CATE)

She wasn’t around when you were playing poker with Rusty?

	280
	1:26:47:17
	CS – PROFILE – WELCH LOOKING OSL, LAWYER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	332.
	1:26:47:20
	WELCH)

I have no idea.

	
	
	
	333.
	1:26:48:15
	CATE)

You think you might remember if she had been?

	281
	1:26:50:10
	OTS OF WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	334.
	1:26:50:14
	CATE)

I mean, she’s an attractive girl, right?

	282
	1:26:52:11
	OTS OF CATE TO WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	335.
	1:26:52:15
	CATE)

Somebody a man might notice?

	
	
	WELCH LOOKS OVER TO LAWYER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	336.
	1:26:53:23
	WELCH)

This is bullshit.

	283
	1:26:54:07
	MCS – LAWYER AND WELCH. LAWYER LEANS OVER TO WELCH.
	
	
	

	284
	1:26:55:14
	OTS OF WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	337.
	1:26:55:18
	LAWYER)

Just answer.

	
	
	
	338.
	1:26:56:16
	CATE)

Did you and Lacey ever date?

	285
	1:26:57:16
	OTS OF CATE TO WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	339.
	1:26:58:03
	WELCH)

I’m a married man.

	286
	1:26:58:21
	OTS OF WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	340.
	1:26:59:00
	CATE)

Is that a no?

	287
	1:26:59:20
	MS – LAWYER AND WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	341.
	1:27:01:15
	WELCH)

I don’t know what you’re trying to do here...

	288
	1:27:03:09
	OTS OF WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	342.
	1:27:03:12
	WELCH)

...but I’ve never done anything with Lacey Stubbs.

	
	
	
	343.
	1:27:06:00
	CATE)

I never said that you did. I just asked if you’d dated her.

	289
	1:27:08:21
	OTS OF CATE TO WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	344.
	1:27:09:00
	WELCH)

Okay, well, for the record– for the record–

	
	
	WELCH LOOKS OSL TO STENOGRAPHER.
	
	
	

	290
	1:27:10:22
	CS – PROFILE – WELCH. LAWYER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	345.
	1:27:11:03
	WELCH)

...I never talked to her, never looked at her, never laid a fuckin’ hand on her until I arrested her.

	291
	1:27:15:10
	CS – PROFILE – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	346.
	1:27:15:14
	CATE)

“Never laid a hand on her.”

	292
	1:27:17:11
	MS – WELCH, STANDS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	347.
	1:27:17:15
	WELCH)

Fuck, man. I’m done.

	293
	1:27:18:16
	CS – CATE.
	
	
	

	294
	1:27:19:15
	WS – CATE, STENOGRAPHER, LAWYER AND WELCH. WELCH NEXT TO DOOR, THEN CROSSES TO TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	348.
	1:27:20:01
	LAWYER)

We need to take a break.

	
	
	
	349.
	1:27:20:11
	CATE)

It’s okay. That’s all I have.

	295
	1:27:21:22
	MS – WELCH AND LAWYER. WELCH POINTING AT CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	350.
	1:27:22:02
	WELCH)

Tell that fucking cunt if she wants to talk shit about me again, she’s gonna fuckin’ regret it.

	296
	1:27:26:11
	CS – CATE LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	297
	1:27:28:16
	INT. CATE’S VEHICLE – NIGHT – POV THROUGH FRONT WINDSHIELD OF ROAD. CATE TALKING ON BLUETOOTH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	351.
	1:27:28:19
	CATE)

Lacey, I need to know what happened between you and...

	298
	1:27:31:17
	CS – CATE SEEN THROUGH WINDSHIELD.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	352.
	1:27:31:20
	CATE)

...Detective Welch.

	
	
	
	353.
	1:27:33:00
	LACEY ON PHONE)

I-I can’t. They said they’d hurt my baby.

	
	
	
	354.
	1:27:41:11
	LACEY ON PHONE)

I gotta go.

	299
	1:27:42:13
	MCS – PROFILE – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: PHONE BEEPING ]
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: LINE RINGING ]
	
	
	

	
	
	
	355.
	1:27:49:23
	BRIDGES ON PHONE)

Hello.

	300
	1:27:51:02
	MCS – CATE SEEN THROUGH WINDSHIELD.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: CRASHING SOUND ]
	
	
	

	301
	1:27:51:23
	EXT. TWO-LANE ROAD – NIGHT – WS – CATE’S VEHICLE SWERVES OFF ROAD AS ANOTHER PASSES BEHIND HER.
	
	
	

	302
	1:27:52:17
	INT. CATE’S VEHICLE – POV THROUGH WINDSHIELD AS CATE’S VEHICLE SKIDS OUT OF CONTROL.
	
	
	

	303
	1:27:53:04
	EXT. HIGHWAY – WS – CATE’S VEHICLE FLIPPING ON ITS SIDE.
	
	
	

	304
	1:27:54:02
	INT. CATE’S VEHICLE – POV THROUGH WINDSHIELD AS CATE’S VEHICLE LANDS ON ITS SIDE.
	
	
	

	305
	1:27:55:03
	EXT. HIGHWAY – WS – CATE’S VEHICLE LAYING ON ITS SIDE.
	
	
	

	306
	1:27:57:19
	EXT. TWO-LANE ROAD – NIGHT – LATER – WS – WRECKER IN BG WITH CATE’S VEHICLE. POLICE OFFICER TALKING WITH SOMEONE. POLICE OFFICER WALKS TOWARD FG TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	356.
	1:28:05:13
	POLICE OFFICER)

Ma’am, would you mind coming with me?

	307
	1:28:06:23
	MS – CATE AND TWO POLICE OFFICERS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	357.
	1:28:07:23
	CATE)

I wasn’t drunk. Somebody hit me.

	
	
	
	358.
	1:28:11:15
	POLICE OFFICER)

It’s just routine.

	308
	1:28:13:01
	EXT. AMBULANCE – NIGHT – MS – CATE WITH POLICE OFFICER. HE HOLDS UP A BREATHALYZER. CATE BLOWS INTO IT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	359.
	1:28:13:04
	POLICE OFFICER)

Take a nice breath into that, please.

	309
	1:28:17:13
	INT. THERAPIST’S OFFICE – NIGHT – MS – CATE ENTERS AND CROSSES TO FG TO THERAPIST AND JOSH, HOLDING AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	360.
	1:28:18:11
	CATE)

I’m so sorry I’m late. I called your cell a million times.

	310
	1:28:21:18
	OTS OF CATE TO THERAPIST.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	361.
	1:28:21:22
	THERAPIST)

Are you okay?

	311
	1:28:22:13
	OTS OF JOSH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	362.
	1:28:22:18
	CATE)

I’m okay. My-My-My car’s destroyed. Uh, somebody tried to run me off the road.

	312
	1:28:26:22
	MS – JOSH, HOLDING AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	363.
	1:28:27:22
	CATE)

The police had me file...

	313
	1:28:28:21
	OTS OF JOSH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	364.
	1:28:28:22
	CATE)

...a report, and then paramedics didn’t want me to leave.

	314
	1:28:31:05
	OTS OF CATE TO THERAPIST.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	365.
	1:28:31:20
	THERAPIST)

Okay, well, um, we’ll just– we’ll schedule another session.

	315
	1:28:35:13
	OTS OF JOSH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	366.
	1:28:35:16
	CATE)

Oh, no! I’m okay. Please. I’m here.

	
	
	
	367.
	1:28:37:18
	THERAPIST)

I’m sorry.

	316
	1:28:38:05
	MS – THERAPIST.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	368.
	1:28:38:08
	THERAPIST)

I have another appointment.

	317
	1:28:39:21
	OTS OF JOSH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	369.
	1:28:40:00
	CATE)

Oh.

	
	
	
	370.
	1:28:41:22
	THERAPIST)

Okay.

	
	
	JOSH STEPS OUT OF FRAME.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	371.
	1:28:45:08
	CATE)

I’m sorry.

	318
	1:28:46:23
	INT. JOSH’S VEHICLE – NIGHT – TWO-SHOT – CATE IN PASSENGER’S SEAT, JOSH DRIVING.
	
	
	

	319
	1:28:53:19
	MCS – AUGIE IN REAR SEAT, BUCKLED INTO CHILD’S CAR SAFETY SEAT.
	
	
	

	320
	1:28:57:10
	INT. CATE’S APARTMENT – NIGHT – MS – CATE ENTERS HER DARK APARTMENT, CROSSES TO LIVING ROOM, THEN TO BEDROOM.
	
	
	

	321
	1:29:28:01
	INT. WOMEN’S PRISON – VISITING AREA – DAY – OTS OF LACEY TO CATE. LACEY SOBBING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	372.
	1:29:33:13
	CATE)

If I go and tell the judge that the cops framed you for murder, he’s gonna want to know why.

	322
	1:29:41:06
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	373.
	1:29:47:15
	LACEY)

I called the cops one time when Rusty beat my face. He just went ballistic. A couple weeks later, the day before my 18th birthday, Welch and another cop show up, asking if I’m gonna press charges. I said no, ’cause we already made up.

	323
	1:30:09:14
	OTS OF LACEY TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	374.
	1:30:11:04
	LACEY)

Then Welch starts acting all weird and asking me if I’m alone.

	324
	1:30:15:11
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	375.
	1:30:17:08
	LACEY)

I just got this sick feeling, and I tried to run outside, but they were both on me, and I could– I could see Rusty s-staring up at me from the yard.

	325
	1:30:28:22
	OTS OF LACEY TO CATE.
	
	
	

	326
	1:30:32:04
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	376.
	1:30:32:07
	LACEY)

They held me down and Welch punched me in my face. He said I– He heard I liked it rough and said Rusty told him that I like it up the ass. Then they did it. They took turns doing it.

	327
	1:30:49:15
	EXT. COURTHOUSE WALKWAY – DAY – LS – BRIDGES AND CATE MOVING TOWARD FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	377.
	1:30:49:19
	BRIDGES)

Why didn’t she report it?

	
	
	
	378.
	1:30:51:06
	CATE)

Who was she gonna report it to? Boyfriend rapes her, cops rape her. She goes to jail and the guards rape her? It’s amazing she’s as intact as she is.

	
	
	
	379.
	1:31:00:20
	BRIDGES)

Intact for a murderess.

	328
	1:31:02:07
	MLS – BRIDGES AND CATE MOVING TOWARD FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	380.
	1:31:02:11
	CATE)

I don’t think she did it.

	
	
	
	381.
	1:31:03:17
	BRIDGES)

Oh, really?

	
	
	
	382.
	1:31:04:22
	CATE)

The cops need a guilty party. They’re afraid Lacey’ll nail them on the rape. If she gets the death penalty, they kill two birds with one stone.

	
	
	
	383.
	1:31:11:17
	BRIDGES)

The D.A. isn’t gonna play along with this.

	
	
	
	384.
	1:31:14:11
	CATE)

They didn’t know. They relied on what the cops gave them. The cops fed them Lacey. It’s fucking déjà vu.

	329
	1:31:22:05
	INT. CATE’S APARTMENT – NIGHT – MWS – CATE EATING AT TABLE, STARING AT THE WALL.
	
	
	

	330
	1:31:34:11
	EXT. DOWNTOWN LOS ANGELES – DAY – ELS – HELICOPTER HOVERING OVERHEAD.
	
	
	

	331
	1:31:38:07
	EXT. COURTHOUSE – DAY – WS – PROTESTORS PUSHING AGAINST POLICE LINE.
	
	
	

	332
	1:31:41:02
	MS – POLICE HOLDING BACK PROTESTORS. CAMERA TILTS UP TO PICTURE OF LACEY IN GOTH COSTUME AND MAKEUP.
	
	
	

	333
	1:31:44:19
	INT. COURTROOM – DAY – MLS – SUMPTER IN BG. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG. SUMPTER SIGHS.
	
	
	

	334
	1:31:48:17
	TWO-SHOT OF CATE AND LACEY SITTING AT TABLE. CATE WRITING ON SOME PAPERS.
	
	
	

	335
	1:31:51:21
	TWO-SHOT OF BARKER AND HIS FEMALE ASSISTANT LOOKING OSR TOWARD CATE.
	
	
	

	336
	1:31:54:16
	MLS – SUMPTER IN BG. CATE PARTIALLY IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	385.
	1:31:54:19
	SUMPTER)

We’re all waiting...

	337
	1:31:56:04
	HIGH ANGLE – WS – CATE AND LACEY. SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	386.
	1:31:56:07
	SUMPTER)

...Ms. McCall.

	
	
	
	387.
	1:31:57:23
	CATE)

Of course.

	
	
	CATE TAKES A DRINK OF WATER.
	
	
	

	338
	1:32:01:09
	MCS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	339
	1:32:03:10
	MS – CATE LOOKING OSR TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	388.
	1:32:03:14
	CATE)

You okay?

	340
	1:32:04:13
	MS – LACEY. SHE NODS HER HEAD.
	
	
	

	341
	1:32:07:06
	HIGH ANGLE – WS – CATE AND LACEY. SPECTATORS IN BG. CATE STANDS. HAZEL ENTERS IN BG.
	
	
	

	342
	1:32:11:15
	MS – HAZEL CROSSING TO L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	389.
	1:32:14:19
	CATE)

Lacey Stubbs may be guilty...

	343
	1:32:16:10
	HIGH ANGLE – WS – CATE AND LACEY. SPECTATORS IN BG. HAZEL IN BG, CROSSING L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	390.
	1:32:16:16
	CATE)

...of having bad taste in boyfriends...

	344
	1:32:18:23
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	391.
	1:32:19:03
	CATE)

...of being naive...

	345
	1:32:21:07
	MS – CATE. SPECTATORS PARTIALLY SEEN IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	392.
	1:32:21:11
	CATE)

...of standing by an abusive man and lying to protect him, but she’s not guilty of murdering Jennifer Cole.

	346
	1:32:30:07
	MS – HAZEL SITTING IN GALLERY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	393.
	1:32:31:17
	CATE)

When I first took this case...

	347
	1:32:32:19
	MS – CATE. LACEY SITTING IN BG, SPECTATORS SITTING IN FAR BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	394.
	1:32:32:22
	CATE)

...I believed she was guilty. I’d read the news reports.

	348
	1:32:36:19
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	395.
	1:32:36:23
	CATE)

She looked like a bad girl straight out of the tabloids.

	349
	1:32:39:21
	CS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	396.
	1:32:40:00
	CATE)

But that’s not the real Lacey Stubbs.

	
	
	CATE TURNS, CROSSES R.
	
	
	

	350
	1:32:45:01
	WS – CATE LIFTS COVERING ON LARGE PHOTO OF PLAIN, GIRL-NEXT-DOOR TYPE PHOTO OF LACEY. LACEY AND SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	397.
	1:32:48:02
	CATE)

This is.

	351
	1:32:49:14
	MS – BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	352
	1:32:51:15
	WS – CATE NEXT TO PHOTO OF LACEY. LACEY AND SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	398.
	1:32:51:19
	CATE)

This photo was taken two months before Lacey started dating the real killer, Rusty Burkhardt. Rusty transformed Lacey to his taste, attempting to change...

	353
	1:33:00:18
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	399.
	1:33:00:22
	CATE)

...the girl next door into a dangerous femme fatale.

	354
	1:33:03:10
	MCS – CATE CROSSING L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	400.
	1:33:04:11
	CATE)

But he didn’t actually succeed. Lacey Stubbs is not the dangerous person in this courtroom today.

	
	
	
	401.
	1:33:14:22
	CATE)

They are.

	
	
	CATE TURNS, LOOKING OSL TOWARD BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT.
	
	
	

	355
	1:33:16:12
	MS – BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT. SPECTATORS MURMURING.
	
	
	

	356
	1:33:19:20
	MS – HAZEL.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: GAVEL RAPS ]
	
	
	

	357
	1:33:21:07
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	402.
	1:33:22:12
	SUMPTER)

Quiet.

	358
	1:33:23:11
	MCS – CATE CROSSING L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	403.
	1:33:23:15
	CATE)

It sounds outrageous, doesn’t it? But Lacey’s in prison not because she’s actually guilty, but because D.A. Brinkerhoff and the Hawthorne County P.D....

	359
	1:33:32:22
	WS – CATE CROSSING L IN FRONT OF BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	404.
	1:33:33:02
	CATE)

...decided she was guilty and set about fabricating a case against her. They withheld evidence. They suppressed witness statements. They coerced a defense witness to change key testimony, and then they invited...

	
	
	CATE CROSSES R.
	
	
	

	360
	1:33:47:13
	MCS – SUMPTER AS CATE CROSSES R TO L IN FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	405.
	1:33:47:16
	CATE)

...the real killer, Rusty Burkhardt, to take the stand...

	361
	1:33:49:23
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	406.
	1:33:50:03
	CATE)

...and claim that Lacey had confessed to him.

	
	
	CATE CROSSING R TO MOVE BEHIND LACEY SITTING IN CHAIR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	407.
	1:33:56:23
	CATE)

Police and prosecutors considered Lacey Stubbs trash and they threw her life away without so much as a backwards glance. If it could happen to her, it could happen to any one of us. It could happen to me. It could happen to you.

	362
	1:34:15:21
	MCS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	363
	1:34:18:17
	INT. COURTHOUSE PARKING GARAGE – DAY – LS – CATE WALKING TOWARD BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: VEHICLE APPROACHING ]
	
	
	

	
	
	BRINKERHOFF’S SUV TURNS CORNER, STOPS NEXT TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	408.
	1:34:30:05
	BRINKERHOFF)

Guess you can’t keep a good woman down.

	364
	1:34:32:13
	TWO-SHOT TRACKS R – BRINKERHOFF IN SUV, BACKING UP AS CATE WALKS R.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	409.
	1:34:34:07
	BRINKERHOFF)

Walk away. It’s gonna get ugly.

	
	
	
	410.
	1:34:37:16
	CATE)

What’s the matter, Brinkerhoff? Afraid I’m gonna air your dirty laundry?

	
	
	
	411.
	1:34:42:13
	BRINKERHOFF)

If you air mine, I’ll be forced to air yours. And we both know you got a shitload.

	
	
	BRINKERHOFF DRIVES OFF.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: TIRES SQUEALING ]
	
	
	

	365
	1:34:50:12
	LS – BRINKERHOFF’S SUV DRIVING TOWARD FG. CATE TURNS AND WATCHES SUV DRIVE OFF.
	
	
	

	366
	1:34:53:05
	MS – CATE LOOKING OS FG.
	
	
	

	367
	1:34:57:18
	INT. CATE’S BEDROOM – NIGHT – MS – CATE IN BED. PAPERS AND FILES STACKED ON BED.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: PHONE RINGING ]
	
	
	

	
	
	
	412.
	1:35:09:12
	CATE)

Hello?

	
	
	
	413.
	1:35:10:21
	BRIDGES ON PHONE)

Well, the good news is, you’re very photogenic.

	
	
	
	414.
	1:35:15:07
	CATE)

What?

	
	
	
	415.
	1:35:17:04
	BRIDGES ON PHONE)

You might want to look at the paper.

	368
	1:35:19:14
	CU – NOTEBOOK SCREEN AS “CATE M...” IS TYPED IN THE SEARCH BAR.
	
	
	

	369
	1:35:21:13
	MS – CATE HOLDING CELL PHONE, LOOKING DOWN AT NOTEBOOK.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	416.
	1:35:26:03
	CATE)

Motherfucker.

	370
	1:35:27:15
	CS – NOTEBOOK SCREEN WITH IMAGE OF “THE CHRONICLE” NEWSPAPER METRO SECTION. HEADLINE READS: “LACEY’S LAWYER STRUGGLES TO GO STRAIGHT” ALONG WITH PICTURE OF CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	417.
	1:35:30:15
	CATE VO)

So now you know.

	371
	1:35:32:05
	INT. PRISON VISITATION AREA – DAY – WS – CATE AND LACEY ON PHONES LOOKING AT EACH THROUGH GLASS PARTITION.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	418.
	1:35:32:08
	CATE)

I’m not perfect. I’ve made mistakes just like you– big ones. If you want to get a new lawyer, that’s your prerogative. But I am fucking good at what I do, and I intend to win this, not just because its important to me, but because I think you’re innocent, and you got a raw deal.

	372
	1:35:47:11
	OTS OF CATE TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	419.
	1:35:47:15
	LACEY)

But you said it didn’t matter if I was innocent.

	373
	1:35:50:06
	OTS OF LACEY TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	420.
	1:35:51:11
	CATE)

It matters to me.

	374
	1:35:54:12
	INT. COURTROOM – DAY – FS – OTS OF DR. MIRCHANDANI TO CATE IN BG. LACEY SITTING AT TABLE. CATE APPROACHES DR. MIRCHANDANI.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	421.
	1:35:54:15
	CATE)

Dr. Mirchandani, once the carotid is severed, how long can a person remain conscious?

	375
	1:36:00:03
	MS PAST CATE TO DR. MIRCHANDANI SITTING IN WITNESS BOX.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	422.
	1:36:00:07
	DR. MIRCHANDANI)

Without medical intervention, typically a matter of minutes.

	376
	1:36:04:10
	MS – HAZEL LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	423.
	1:36:04:14
	CATE)

So unless Hazel Cole arrived home within minutes of her daughter being attacked...

	377
	1:36:08:01
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	424.
	1:36:08:04
	CATE)

...she couldn’t possibly have heard her say anything. Is that correct?

	378
	1:36:11:17
	MS – DR. MIRCHANDANI.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	425.
	1:36:11:20
	DR. MIRCHANDANI)

That’s correct.

	
	
	
	426.
	1:36:13:07
	MRS. CLAYMAN)

A car...

	379
	1:36:14:00
	INT. COURTROOM – LATER – WS – CAMERA TRACKING L BEHIND SUMPTER. CATE, LACEY AND SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	427.
	1:36:14:07
	MRS. CLAYMAN)

...with a kind of patchwork paint job came toward me...

	380
	1:36:17:15
	MS – MRS. CLAYMAN IN WITNESS BOX.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	428.
	1:36:17:19
	MRS. CLAYMAN)

...swerving over into my lane. Looked like he was drunk.

	381
	1:36:22:15
	MS – CATE SITTING AT TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	429.
	1:36:22:19
	CATE)

The driver was a man, Miss Clayman?

	382
	1:36:24:17
	MS – MRS. CLAYMAN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	430.
	1:36:24:20
	MRS. CLAYMAN)

Yes, he was. Should I say who he was?

	
	
	
	431.
	1:36:28:01
	CATE)

If you know.

	
	
	
	432.
	1:36:29:02
	MRS. CLAYMAN)

It was Rusty Burkhardt.

	383
	1:36:30:21
	TWO-SHOT OF BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT. BARKER LEANS OVER AND WHISPERS TO HIS ASSISTANT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	433.
	1:36:31:00
	CATE)

And you told all this...

	384
	1:36:32:09
	MCS – PROFILE – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	434.
	1:36:32:12
	CATE)

...to the detectives?

	
	
	
	435.
	1:36:33:09
	MRS. CLAYMAN)

I sure did.

	385
	1:36:34:20
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	436.
	1:36:34:23
	MRS. CLAYMAN)

They asked me if I’d be willing to come to court to testify.

	386
	1:36:37:21
	MS – MRS. CLAYMAN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	437.
	1:36:38:00
	MRS. CLAYMAN)

I said I would, but they never called me.

	387
	1:36:40:11
	INT. COURTROOM – LATER – MCS – PROFILE – DUNCAN SITTING IN WITNESS BOX. SUMPTER IN BG, SOFT FOCUS. RACK FOCUS TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	438.
	1:36:40:15
	CATE)

Are you aware of Ms. Stubbs’ claims that she threw...

	388
	1:36:43:04
	OTS OF DUNCAN TO CATE AND LACEY SITTING AT TABLE. SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	439.
	1:36:43:07
	CATE)

...a pink garbage bag containing a butcher knife with Rusty Burkhardt’s fingerprints on it into the Tujunga River?

	389
	1:36:48:23
	OTS OF CATE TO DUNCAN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	440.
	1:36:49:03
	DUNCAN)

Well, I can’t say that– I actually heard her say that, no.

	390
	1:36:52:21
	TWO-SHOT OF CATE AND LACEY. CATE HOLDING PIECE OF PAPER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	441.
	1:36:53:00
	CATE)

I’m reading from Lacey’s January 26 statement.

	391
	1:36:56:09
	OTS OF DUNCAN TO BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	442.
	1:36:57:11
	CATE)

“I put the knife into a pink trash bag...

	392
	1:36:59:12
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	443.
	1:36:59:15
	CATE)

...I drove over to Stonyvale Bridge and threw it in.”

	393
	1:37:03:20
	OTS OF CATE TO DUNCAN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	444.
	1:37:04:13
	DUNCAN)

Is that a question?

	394
	1:37:06:05
	TWO-SHOT PAST DUNCAN TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	395
	1:37:07:23
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	445.
	1:37:08:03
	CATE)

Did police search the Tujunga River?

	396
	1:37:09:15
	WS – DUNCAN AND SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	446.
	1:37:09:19
	DUNCAN)

I believe so. No bag was found.

	397
	1:37:12:11
	OTS OF DUNCAN TO CATE AND LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	447.
	1:37:12:15
	CATE)

And did you participate in that search?

	398
	1:37:14:13
	MS – DUNCAN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	448.
	1:37:14:16
	DUNCAN)

Uh, no, I did not.

	399
	1:37:15:22
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	449.
	1:37:17:13
	CATE)

You didn’t?

	400
	1:37:18:17
	MS – DUNCAN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	450.
	1:37:18:20
	DUNCAN)

No, I did not.

	401
	1:37:20:17
	OTS OF DUNCAN TO CATE AND LACEY. CATE PICKS UP VCR TAPE, CROSSES TO DUNCAN IN FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	451.
	1:37:20:20
	CATE)

This is the tape of the search that police gave to the defense before Ms. Stubbs’ trial. Have you ever seen this tape before, Mr. Duncan?

	402
	1:37:27:07
	MS – DUNCAN. CATE CROSSES IN FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	452.
	1:37:28:01
	DUNCAN)

I’m aware of it.

[ Clears Throat ]

No pink bag was found.

	403
	1:37:31:08
	MS – CATE PUTTING VCR IN PLAYER, TURNS ON PLAYER. VIDEO APPEARS ON MONITOR. IMAGE ONSCREEN: POLICE OFFICERS SEARCHING NEAR RIVERBANK.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	453.
	1:37:32:13
	CATE)

But police were searching for a pink bag because Lacey had told detectives that she had put the murder weapon with Rusty Burkhardt’s fingerprints on it into a pink trash bag and thrown it into the Tujunga River.

	404
	1:37:43:15
	OTS OF CATE TO DUNCAN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	454.
	1:37:43:19
	CATE)

Correct?

	
	
	
	455.
	1:37:44:12
	DUNCAN)

But we never found it.

	405
	1:37:46:03
	MS – CATE CROSSING TO TABLE, PICKING UP SECOND VCR TAPE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	456.
	1:37:50:07
	CATE)

Here’s another tape. This one wasn’t shown...

	406
	1:37:52:20
	TWO-SHOT PAST DUNCAN TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	457.
	1:37:52:23
	CATE)

...at my client’s trial five years ago.

	407
	1:37:54:20
	TWO-SHOT OF BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT. CATE CROSSING IN FG, EJECTING TAPE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	458.
	1:37:54:23
	CATE)

It contains the exact same footage of the lake search, only this one happens to be a minute longer. Any idea why that might be?

	408
	1:38:03:12
	TWO-SHOT PAST DUNCAN TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	459.
	1:38:03:15
	DUNCAN)

No, ma’am.

	409
	1:38:05:10
	MS – CATE INSERTING SECOND TAPE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	460.
	1:38:05:14
	CATE)

But you’re certain you didn’t participate in the search?

	410
	1:38:07:20
	OTS OF CATE TO DUNCAN. CATE MOVES R.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	461.
	1:38:07:23
	DUNCAN)

That is correct.

	411
	1:38:10:11
	TWO-SHOT OF BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT. CATE EXITING L IN FG.
	
	
	

	412
	1:38:12:01
	MS – DUNCAN. CATE, HOLDING REMOTE, MOVES NEXT TO WITNESS BOX.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	462.
	1:38:13:02
	CATE)

So, Detective Duncan...

	413
	1:38:16:12
	MS – MONITOR – IMAGE ONSCREEN: POLICE SEARCHING NEAR RIVERBANK. DUNCAN AND POLICEWOMAN IN FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	463.
	1:38:17:23
	CATE)

...that’s not you?

	414
	1:38:19:12
	MS – SUMPTER LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	415
	1:38:21:03
	CS – PROFILE – DUNCAN. SUMPTER IN SOFT FOCUS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	464.
	1:38:21:07
	DUNCAN)

That looks like me.

	416
	1:38:23:04
	MS – DUNCAN AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	465.
	1:38:23:07
	CATE)

Because it is you, isn’t it? What do you think...

	
	
	CATE POINTS TO MONITOR.
	
	
	

	417
	1:38:27:20
	OTS OF CATE TO MONITOR. IMAGE ONSCREEN: POLICE OFFICER WITH PINK BAG. DUNCAN PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	466.
	1:38:27:23
	CATE)

...that might be, Detective?

	
	
	
	467.
	1:38:30:23
	DUNCAN)

Looks like something caught on a branch.

	
	
	IMAGE ONSCREEN: DUNCAN TURNING AND MOTIONING TO CAMERAMAN TO STOP FILMING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	468.
	1:38:32:23
	CATE)

A pink bag maybe? Oh, there you are again.

	418
	1:38:35:23
	MS – SUMPTER LOOKING AWAY IN DISGUST.
	
	
	

	419
	1:38:37:16
	MS – DUNCAN AND CATE. CATE MOVES TO FG, TURNS BACK TO FACE DUNCAN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	469.
	1:38:37:19
	CATE)

Would it surprise you to learn that the footage of the pink bag and the footage of you waving at the cameraman to stop filming...

	420
	1:38:43:04
	FS – PAST DUNCAN TO CATE. BARKER, LACEY, AND SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	470.
	1:38:43:07
	CATE)

...were not on the tape given to Lacey Stubbs’ counsel before the trial?

	421
	1:38:46:20
	MS – DUNCAN. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	471.
	1:38:47:14
	DUNCAN)

I just wanna say, uh, after seeing this tape...

	422
	1:38:51:05
	TWO-SHOT PAST DUNCAN TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	472.
	1:38:51:08
	DUNCAN)

...my memory is refreshed.

	423
	1:38:53:05
	MS – CATE IN FG, BARKER AND SPECTATORS IN BG. MONITOR WITH STILL IMAGE OF DUNCAN L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	473.
	1:38:53:08
	DUNCAN)

The bag had just...

	424
	1:38:55:10
	MS – DUNCAN AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	474.
	1:38:55:14
	DUNCAN)

...uh, I think, diapers or something.

	425
	1:38:58:15
	MS – CATE IN FG, BARKER AND SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	475.
	1:38:58:19
	CATE)

So now you remember the bag.

	426
	1:39:00:05
	MS – DUNCAN. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	476.
	1:39:00:08
	DUNCAN)

You just showed it.

	427
	1:39:02:09
	MS – CATE. DUNCAN PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	477.
	1:39:02:12
	CATE)

Which is why you remember it, right? Because your memory was refreshed.

	428
	1:39:07:01
	MS – DUNCAN. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	478.
	1:39:08:07
	CATE)

Are you certain...

	429
	1:39:08:20
	MS – CATE. DUNCAN PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	479.
	1:39:08:23
	CATE)

...that the bag contained diapers and not a butcher knife with Rusty Burkhardt’s fingerprints on it?

	430
	1:39:13:17
	OTS OF CATE TO DUNCAN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	480.
	1:39:13:20
	DUNCAN)

I’m certain.

	431
	1:39:15:06
	OTS OF DUNCAN TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	481.
	1:39:15:10
	CATE)

As certain as you were that you did not participate in this search?

	432
	1:39:19:11
	OTS OF CATE TO DUNCAN, SLIGHTLY NODDING HIS HEAD.
	
	
	

	433
	1:39:21:12
	OTS OF DUNCAN TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE WALKING TO BG.
	
	
	

	434
	1:39:25:09
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: CLEARING THROAT ]
	
	
	

	435
	1:39:28:09
	INT. COURTHOUSE HALLWAY – DAY – MS – CATE EXITING COURTROOM. A MAN HOLDS THE DOOR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	482.
	1:39:29:20
	CATE)

Oh, thank you.

	
	
	
	483.
	1:39:30:23
	MAN)

You’re welcome.

	
	
	CATE TURNING CORNER, WALKING DOWN HALLWAY TOWARD ELEVATORS.
	
	
	

	436
	1:39:37:17
	CS – PROFILE – CATE WAITING FOR ELEVATORS.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: CELL PHONE BUZZES ]
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE LOOKS DOWN AT HER PHONE.
	
	
	

	437
	1:39:40:19
	CU OF BLACKBERRY SCREEN – MESSAGE ON SCREEN FROM WILSON GEORGE: “TURN AROUND.”
	
	
	

	438
	1:39:43:16
	MS – CATE LOOKING AROUND.
	
	
	

	
	
	RACK FOCUS TO END OF HALLWAY. WILSON GEORGE STANDING UP.
	
	
	

	439
	1:39:49:01
	MS – CATE TURNING AND EXITING IN OPPOSITE DIRECTION.
	
	
	

	440
	1:39:53:22
	LS – WILSON GEORGE WATCHING CATE LEAVE.
	
	
	

	441
	1:39:56:10
	EXT. THERAPIST’S BUILDING – DAY – LOW ANGLE – WS – TRAFFIC PASSING BY IN FRONT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	484.
	1:39:59:10
	AUGIE VO)

And next the...

	442
	1:40:00:12
	INT. THERAPIST’S OFFICE – DAY – FS – AUGIE SITTING ON FLOOR WITH STUFFED ANIMALS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	485.
	1:40:00:15
	AUGIE)

...lion comes. Daddy roars at the lion–

	
	
	[AUGIE IMITATES ROARING ]
	
	
	

	443
	1:40:06:10
	MS – THERAPIST, WATCHING, SMILING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	486.
	1:40:06:14
	AUGIE)

...and chases it...

	444
	1:40:08:07
	FS – AUGIE PLAYING WITH STUFFED TOYS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	487.
	1:40:08:08
	AUGIE)

...all the way back to the jungle.

	
	
	[AUGIE IMITATES ROARING]
	
	
	

	
	
	
	488.
	1:40:12:23
	AUGIE)

And if...

	445
	1:40:13:07
	MS – CATE LOOKING OSR AT AUGIE, GLANCING OSL TO THERAPIST.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	489.
	1:40:13:11
	AUGIE)

...the panda comes...

	446
	1:40:16:01
	MS – THERAPIST, NODDING HER HEAD TO CATE.
	
	
	

	447
	1:40:17:02
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	490.
	1:40:17:06
	AUGIE)

...Daddy would–

	448
	1:40:18:07
	FS – AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	491.
	1:40:18:11
	AUGIE)

...roar at the panda...

	449
	1:40:20:23
	CS – CATE LOOKING DOWN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	492.
	1:40:21:03
	AUGIE)

...and chase it all the way back to the jungle. Roar! And if the bear comes–

	
	
	CAMERA TILTS DOWN TO CATE HOLDING FEMALE DOLL AND MOVES IT CLOSER TO AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	493.
	1:40:26:18
	CATE)

Mommy will grab that bear–

	
	
	
	494.
	1:40:29:04
	AUGIE)

No!

	450
	1:40:30:01
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO AUGIE. AUGIE THROWS FEMALE DOLL IN TOY BOX.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	495.
	1:40:31:10
	CATE)

Mommy can’t play?

	
	
	
	496.
	1:40:33:07
	AUGIE)

This is a Daddy game.

	451
	1:40:35:05
	CS – CATE LOOKING OSR AT AUGIE, GLANCING OSL TO THERAPIST.
	
	
	

	452
	1:40:38:12
	MS – THERAPIST LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	497.
	1:40:40:03
	CATE)

This is...

	453
	1:40:41:01
	INT. COURTROOM – DAY – WS – WELCH IN WITNESS BOX IN FG, CATE, CARRYING PAPERS, MOVING TOWARD WELCH. BARKER, HIS ASSISTANT, SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	498.
	1:40:41:04
	CATE)

...a photocopy of Hazel Cole’s statement dated December 27. The one that you took. Is that correct?

	454
	1:40:46:14
	MS – WELCH AND CATE. CATE HANDS PAPERS TO WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	499.
	1:40:48:03
	WELCH)

Yes.

	455
	1:40:49:15
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	500.
	1:40:49:19
	CATE)

Do you see any mention of Hazel Cole saying...

	456
	1:40:51:16
	CS – HAZEL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	501.
	1:40:51:19
	CATE)

...she heard her daughter say Lacey did it?

	457
	1:40:53:19
	MS – WELCH. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	502.
	1:40:53:23
	WELCH)

Uh, well, I remember her saying it.

	458
	1:40:56:02
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	503.
	1:40:56:06
	CATE)

But is it in the statement?

	459
	1:40:57:10
	MS – WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	504.
	1:40:57:14
	WELCH)

I-It’s probably in a later statement.

	460
	1:40:59:16
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	461
	1:41:01:15
	WS PAST WELCH TO CATE. CATE, HOLDING ANOTHER SHEET OF PAPER, MOVING TOWARD FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	505.
	1:41:01:19
	CATE)

Here’s another statement that you took three weeks later on January 25.

	
	
	CATE HANDS PAPER TO WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	506.
	1:41:06:18
	CATE)

Is it mentioned here?

	462
	1:41:07:20
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	463
	1:41:09:10
	WS PAST WELCH TO CATE. CATE TURNS TO FACE WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	507.
	1:41:10:22
	WELCH)

No.

	
	
	
	508.
	1:41:12:11
	CATE)

If Hazel Cole had mentioned that, as she held her dying...

	464
	1:41:15:14
	CS – HAZEL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	509.
	1:41:15:15
	CATE)

...daughter in her arms she had heard the words...

	465
	1:41:17:17
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	510.
	1:41:17:20
	CATE)

...“Lacey did it”...

	466
	1:41:19:13
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	511.
	1:41:19:16
	CATE)

...is that something that you would typically include in your report?

	467
	1:41:21:20
	MS – WELCH. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	512.
	1:41:21:23
	WELCH)

Well, she probably mentioned it at a future time.

	468
	1:41:24:15
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	513.
	1:41:24:19
	CATE)

You mean after you suggested that it might help you make a case against Lacey Stubbs?

	
	
	
	514.
	1:41:28:14
	BARKER)

Objection.

	469
	1:41:29:10
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	515.
	1:41:29:14
	SUMPTER)

Sustained.

	470
	1:41:30:12
	MS – CATE MOVING TOWARD WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	516.
	1:41:30:15
	CATE)

Do you remember Hazel Cole calling you to say that she’d found an earring several weeks after the murder?

	471
	1:41:35:13
	MS – WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	517.
	1:41:35:16
	WELCH)

Yes, I do.

	472
	1:41:37:12
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	518.
	1:41:37:15
	CATE)

And do you remember Rusty Burkhardt saying the earring was his?

	473
	1:41:40:02
	MS – WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	519.
	1:41:40:22
	WELCH)

No, I don’t remember that.

	474
	1:41:42:13
	WS PAST WELCH TO CATE. CATE MOVING TOWARD TABLE IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	520.
	1:41:42:16
	CATE)

Your Honor, Defense Exhibit Number 17.

	475
	1:41:44:21
	MS – SUMPTER, BEING HANDED A PIECE OF PAPER.
	
	
	

	476
	1:41:46:16
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	477
	1:41:48:09
	MS – WELCH AND CATE. CATE PLACES TAPE RECORDER IN FRONT OF WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	521.
	1:41:48:12
	WELCH ON TAPE RECORDER)

Do you recognize this?

	
	
	
	522.
	1:41:50:02
	RUSTY ON TAPE RECORDER)

Yeah.

	
	
	
	523.
	1:41:50:20
	WELCH ON TAPE RECORDER)

What is it?

	
	
	
	524.
	1:41:51:23
	RUSTY ON TAPE RECORDER)

It’s my earring.

	
	
	
	525.
	1:41:52:23
	WELCH ON TAPE RECORDER)

Okay.

	478
	1:41:53:14
	WS PAST WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE, MOVING TO FG, SHUTTING OFF TAPE RECORDER, PICKING UP RECORDER, MOVING TOWARD BG, THEN TURNING TO FACE WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	526.
	1:41:56:19
	CATE)

Detective Welch, do you recognize the two voices on that tape?

	479
	1:41:59:15
	MS – WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	527.
	1:41:59:19
	WELCH)

Yes, I do. It’s me and Rusty Burkhardt.

	480
	1:42:01:19
	WS PAST WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	528.
	1:42:01:23
	CATE)

And who did Rusty say the earring belonged to?

	481
	1:42:03:22
	MS – WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	529.
	1:42:04:02
	WELCH)

Well, if you play the tape further on, he changes it–

	482
	1:42:06:03
	MS – CATE MOVING TOWARD WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	530.
	1:42:06:07
	CATE)

I’m not talking about after you coached him.

	483
	1:42:08:19
	MCS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	531.
	1:42:08:23
	CATE)

I’m asking you, right there...

	484
	1:42:10:13
	MS – CATE CROSSING L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	532.
	1:42:10:16
	CATE)

...when you first asked the question, did Rusty Burkhardt say the earring was his, yes or no?

	485
	1:42:16:00
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	486
	1:42:17:23
	MS – WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	533.
	1:42:19:06
	WELCH)

Yes.

	487
	1:42:21:08
	MS – CATE TURNING AND WALKING TOWARD BG.
	
	
	

	488
	1:42:24:04
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	489
	1:42:26:16
	MS – WELCH. HE LOST OS LFG AT LACEY AND SMILES SLIGHTLY.
	
	
	

	490
	1:42:29:18
	EXT. COURTHOUSE – DAY – WS – CAMERA TILTS DOWN TO FRONT DOOR.
	
	
	

	491
	1:42:33:08
	INT. COURTROOM – DAY – TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO LACEY IN WITNESS BOX. CAMERA SLOWLY PUSHES IN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	534.
	1:42:36:23
	LACEY)

He held his gun to my throat. Then he moved it down between my legs, and he pushed it inside of me. I could feel the cold steel in me while he moved it in and out.

	492
	1:42:50:10
	MS – SUMPTER LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	493
	1:42:52:04
	MS – CATE. LACEY PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	535.
	1:42:52:07
	CATE)

Can you remember anything about the gun? What it looked like?

	494
	1:42:56:10
	MS – LACEY. CAMERA SLOWLY PUSHES IN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	536.
	1:42:56:14
	LACEY)

It had letters engraved on the handle.

	
	
	
	537.
	1:42:59:08
	CATE)

And could you read what they were?

	
	
	
	538.
	1:43:01:14
	LACEY)

It said “raw.”

	495
	1:43:03:02
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	539.
	1:43:04:12
	CATE)

Lacey, did you know either of the men who raped you?

	496
	1:43:07:19
	CS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	540.
	1:43:07:23
	LACEY)

One of them was friends with Rusty– Robert Welch.

	497
	1:43:11:15
	TWO-SHOT OF BARKER AND HIS FEMALE ASSISTANT. BARKER MOTIONS TO MALE ASSISTANT IN GALLERY. MALE ASSISTANT STANDS  AND CROSSES L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	541.
	1:43:12:13
	CATE)

And what happened then?

	498
	1:43:15:07
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	542.
	1:43:15:11
	LACEY)

He got off of me and said if I opened my mouth...

	499
	1:43:18:12
	CS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	543.
	1:43:18:15
	LACEY)

...they will come back and do the same thing to my kid.

	500
	1:43:22:00
	CS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	544.
	1:43:22:03
	CATE)

Did you ever see Detective Robert Welch again, after the rape?

	501
	1:43:26:17
	CS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	545.
	1:43:28:03
	LACEY)

He was the one who arrested me.

	502
	1:43:30:03
	CS – CATE NODDING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	546.
	1:43:30:07
	CATE)

Thank you.

	503
	1:43:31:20
	CS – LACEY CUPPING HER MOUTH, LOOKING DOWN.
	
	
	

	504
	1:43:34:21
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	547.
	1:43:35:00
	SUMPTER)

Mr. Davis...

	505
	1:43:35:16
	HIGH ANGLE – WS – MR. DAVIS SITTING AT TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	548.
	1:43:35:19
	SUMPTER)

...please ask our friends...

	506
	1:43:37:01
	MS – SUMPTER. CATE CROSSING R TO L IN FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	549.
	1:43:37:03
	SUMPTER)

...in the sheriff’s office to locate Detective Welch and invite him back into my courtroom.

	507
	1:43:41:17
	MS – CATE SITTING DOWN AT TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	550.
	1:43:42:16
	SUMPTER)

I want to warn the prosecution.

	508
	1:43:44:02
	WS – BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT, WHISPERING, THEN TURN TO LOOK AT SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	551.
	1:43:44:23
	SUMPTER)

I don’t want...

	509
	1:43:45:14
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	552.
	1:43:45:18
	SUMPTER)

...anyone to discuss with Mr. Welch what was just brought up in here.

	510
	1:43:50:14
	MS – CATE LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	553.
	1:43:50:18
	BARKER)

Okay, go call him.

	511
	1:43:51:17
	MS – PAST CATE TO BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	554.
	1:43:51:20
	WOMAN)

I’m on it.

	
	
	THE ASSISTANT EXITS R.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	555.
	1:43:53:03
	SUMPTER)

Is there a problem, Mr. Barker?

	
	
	BARKER STANDS UP.
	556.
	1:43:56:00
	BARKER)

Uh–

	512
	1:43:56:04
	WS – BARKER STANDING. HIS ASSISTANT STOPS, LOOKS BACK AT BARKER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	557.
	1:43:56:07
	BARKER)

Your Honor, uh, my associate may be on the phone with Detective Welch right now.

	513
	1:44:01:06
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	558.
	1:44:01:10
	SUMPTER)

What?

	514
	1:44:02:01
	MS – BARKER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	559.
	1:44:02:02
	BARKER)

I asked him to call him as soon as the rape allegation–

	515
	1:44:04:11
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	560.
	1:44:04:15
	SUMPTER)

What, a minute ago?

	516
	1:44:05:14
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	561.
	1:44:05:15
	BARKER)

Obviously, this is coming as a complete surpr–

	517
	1:44:07:09
	MS – BARKER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	562.
	1:44:07:12
	SUMPTER)

God help you...

	518
	1:44:09:03
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	563.
	1:44:09:07
	SUMPTER)

...if someone’s coached this witness. Do you hear me, Mr. Barker? God help you.

	519
	1:44:14:17
	INT. COURTROOM – LATER – MS – PAST WELCH IN WITNESS BOX DRUMMING HIS FINGERS TO CATE APPROACHING CARRYING PIECE OF PAPER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	564.
	1:44:14:20
	CATE)

I have an incident report here dated November 29, 2007. Would you please take a look at it to refresh your memory?

	
	
	CATE HANDS WELCH THE PIECE OF PAPER, THEN SHE WALKS AWAY.
	
	
	

	520
	1:44:22:17
	MS – WELCH LOOKING AT PIECE OF PAPER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	565.
	1:44:24:19
	CATE)

According to that report...

	521
	1:44:26:09
	WS – PAST WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	566.
	1:44:26:12
	CATE)

...Lacey Stubbs met you at the door with a bloody face saying...

	522
	1:44:29:12
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	567.
	1:44:29:15
	CATE)

...“Rusty has a butcher knife. I’m afraid he’s going to kill me.”

	523
	1:44:32:04
	MS – SUMPTER. WELCH IN RFG IN SOFT FOCUS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	568.
	1:44:32:07
	CATE)

Is that correct?

	524
	1:44:33:16
	MS – WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	569.
	1:44:33:19
	WELCH)

Yes.

	525
	1:44:35:20
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	570.
	1:44:35:23
	CATE)

And do you recall coming back to the same trailer three weeks later on November 29...

	526
	1:44:39:23
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	571.
	1:44:40:03
	CATE)

...to see if Miss Stubbs was intending to press charges?

	527
	1:44:42:18
	MS – WELCH, SHAKING HIS HEAD.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	572.
	1:44:43:12
	WELCH)

No, I do not.

	528
	1:44:44:22
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	573.
	1:44:45:02
	CATE)

You don’t remember that?

	529
	1:44:46:00
	MCS – WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	574.
	1:44:46:03
	WELCH)

No. It never happened.

	530
	1:44:48:00
	MS – PAST WELCH TO CATE. CATE APPROACHING WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	575.
	1:44:48:03
	CATE)

You don’t remember pushing your way into the trailer and forcing Lacey Stubbs to have anal sex with you?

	
	
	
	576.
	1:44:53:04
	BARKER)

Objection.

	531
	1:44:54:01
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	577.
	1:44:54:06
	SUMPTER)

Sustained.

	532
	1:44:55:04
	MCS – PAST WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	578.
	1:44:55:07
	CATE)

Where were you Saturday, November 29, 2007?

	533
	1:44:58:05
	MCS – WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	579.
	1:44:58:08
	WELCH)

I have no idea.

	534
	1:44:59:13
	MCS – PAST WELCH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	580.
	1:44:59:16
	CATE)

But you’re sure you weren’t raping Lacey Stubbs.

	535
	1:45:01:16
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	581.
	1:45:01:19
	BARKER)

Objection!

	
	
	
	582.
	1:45:02:07
	SUMPTER)

Sustained.

	536
	1:45:03:05
	MS – WELCH. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	583.
	1:45:03:08
	WELCH)

Dead sure.

	537
	1:45:04:23
	MCS – CATE TURNING AND WALKING AWAY.
	
	
	

	538
	1:45:08:05
	MS – BARKER TURNING TO HIS ASSISTANT.
	
	
	

	539
	1:45:09:19
	WS – PAST WELCH TO CATE. CATE TURNS TO FACE WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	584.
	1:45:11:15
	CATE)

Do you carry a gun?

	
	
	
	585.
	1:45:13:06
	WELCH)

Yes, I do. Always.

	540
	1:45:14:16
	MS – CATE. BARKER IN BG, SOFT FOCUS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	586.
	1:45:14:19
	CATE)

May I see it?

	541
	1:45:16:10
	MS – WELCH LOOKING OSL TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	542
	1:45:18:04
	MS – SUMPTER NODDING. WELCH PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	543
	1:45:19:09
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	544
	1:45:20:21
	MS – WELCH, REMOVING HIS GUN AND HOLDING IT OUT TO CATE.
	
	
	

	545
	1:45:27:19
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	587.
	1:45:30:12
	CATE)

Is it engraved in any way?

	546
	1:45:32:16
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	547
	1:45:33:23
	MS – WELCH, SETTING GUN DOWN ON RAILING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	588.
	1:45:34:03
	WELCH)

Yep.

	548
	1:45:35:14
	HIGH ANGLE – CU – GUN, WITH INITIALS “R-A-W”
	
	
	

	
	
	
	589.
	1:45:35:18
	WELCH)

Yes. With my initials.

	549
	1:45:38:03
	MS – WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	590.
	1:45:38:07
	WELCH)

R-A-W.

	550
	1:45:40:14
	INT. COFFEE BAR – NIGHT – WS – CATE AND BRIDGES PLAYING POOL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	591.
	1:45:41:14
	BRIDGES)

Damn it.

	
	
	
	592.
	1:45:42:05
	CATE)

It’s okay. You suck. It’s fine.

	
	
	BRIDGES CHECKS HIS CELL PHONE.
	
	
	

	551
	1:45:47:22
	MS – BRIDGES, LOOKING DOWN AT CELL PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	593.
	1:45:48:02
	BRIDGES)

Well, how do you like that? The prosecutor wants to negotiate on Sims.

	552
	1:45:52:09
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	594.
	1:45:52:12
	CATE)

You can’t leave. I’m about to annihilate you.

	553
	1:45:54:20
	MS – BRIDGES CARRYING BRIEFCASE, WALKING TOWARD FG. CATE FOLLOWS HIM.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	595.
	1:45:54:23
	BRIDGES)

Ah, the wheels of justice are turning, my dear, grinding down the innocent.

	
	
	
	596.
	1:45:58:23
	CATE)

What about my closing statement?

	
	
	
	597.
	1:46:00:15
	BRIDGES)

Practice in the mirror till I get back.

	
	
	BRIDGES EXITS LFG.
	
	
	

	554
	1:46:09:00
	EXT. LOS ANGELES SKYLINE – DAY – WS – AERIAL VIEW OF DOWNTOWN SKYLINE.
	
	
	

	555
	1:46:16:02
	INT. COURTROOM – DAY – WS – PAST SPECTATORS TO CATE, LACEY, BARKER, HIS ASSISTANT, AND SUMPTER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	598.
	1:46:16:06
	CATE)

The prosecution’s case against my client demands...

	556
	1:46:18:07
	MCS – CATE CROSSING L. HAZEL ENTERS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	599.
	1:46:18:23
	CATE)

...that you believe two incredible things– the testimony of a known perjurer and probable killer...

	557
	1:46:23:13
	MS – CATE, STANDING, LACEY, SITTING. SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	600.
	1:46:24:03
	CATE)

...who says that Lacey Stubbs confessed to him...

	558
	1:46:25:23
	MS – SUMPTER, LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	601.
	1:46:26:03
	CATE)

...and the dubious claims of Hazel Cole–

	559
	1:46:28:15
	FS – BARKER, HAZEL, AND ASSISTANT. BARKER AND HAZEL SPEAKING IN LOW TONES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	602.
	1:46:28:19
	CATE)

...who says she heard her daughter...

	560
	1:46:30:14
	MS – CATE, STANDING, LACEY, SITTING. SPECTATORS IN BG. CATE LOOKS OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	603.
	1:46:30:23
	CATE)

...say “Lacey did it.” Excuse me.

	561
	1:46:33:12
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	604.
	1:46:33:15
	SUMPTER)

Is there a problem, Mr. Barker?

	562
	1:46:35:11
	HIGH ANGLE – WS – BARKER, HAZEL, AND ASSISTANT. BARKER STANDS UP.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	605.
	1:46:36:08
	BARKER)

I’m sorry, Your Honor. Uh– Ms. Cole would like a chance to address the court.

	563
	1:46:41:23
	MS – CATE, STANDING, LACEY, SITTING. SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	606.
	1:46:42:03
	CATE)

During my closing statement? This is highly improper.

	564
	1:46:45:14
	WS – PAST CATE IN FG TO HAZEL, BARKER, AND ASSISTANT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	607.
	1:46:45:18
	HAZEL)

I saw Rusty driving past me as I was coming home that morning...

	565
	1:46:47:22
	MS – CATE, STANDING, LACEY, SITTING. SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	608.
	1:46:48:02
	HAZEL)

...too, just before I found Jen.

	
	
	
	609.
	1:46:49:22
	CATE)

The court should not be considering this. All the testimony is in!

	
	
	[ SFX: GAVEL RAPS ]
	
	
	

	
	
	
	610.
	1:46:51:23
	SUMPTER)

Ms. McCall...

	566
	1:46:52:19
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	611.
	1:46:52:23
	SUMPTER)

...if this person has information that’s relevant to what actually happened, I want to hear it.

	567
	1:46:58:13
	MS – CATE, STANDING, LACEY, SITTING. SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	612.
	1:46:58:16
	SUMPTER)

Approach the bench.

	568
	1:47:00:16
	WS – PAST CATE TO HAZEL, BARKER, AND ASSISTANT. HAZEL EXITS L. BARKER AND CATE FOLLOW.
	
	
	

	569
	1:47:03:06
	MCS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	570
	1:47:05:04
	WS – CATE, HAZEL, AND BARKER STANDING IN FRONT OF SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	571
	1:47:07:05
	OTS OF CATE TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	613.
	1:47:07:08
	SUMPTER)

Are you telling us, Mrs. Cole, that after all this time, you’re only just now remembering...

	572
	1:47:12:20
	HIGH ANGLE – MS – PAST SUMPTER TO BARKER AND HAZEL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	614.
	1:47:12:23
	SUMPTER)

...what happened on the morning your daughter was killed?

	
	
	
	615.
	1:47:16:23
	HAZEL)

No, I-I told detectives at the time, and they told me I shouldn’t dwell on it.

	573
	1:47:22:12
	MS – SUMPTER. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	616.
	1:47:22:15
	SUMPTER)

Detectives told you that you shouldn’t dwell on it?

	574
	1:47:25:11
	HIGH ANGLE – OTS OF SUMPTER TO HAZEL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	617.
	1:47:25:15
	HAZEL)

Yes, sir. And I guess I put it out of my mind. And that when that neighbor lady...

	575
	1:47:31:17
	MS – SUMPTER. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	618.
	1:47:31:20
	HAZEL)

...said she saw him too, I–

	
	
	SUMPTER SIGHS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	619.
	1:47:35:12
	HAZEL)

I’m Christian...

	576
	1:47:35:23
	MCS – CATE. SUMPTER PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	620.
	1:47:36:03
	HAZEL)

...and I try always to tell the truth, and I–

	577
	1:47:38:19
	MS – HAZEL AND BARKER. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG,
	
	
	

	
	
	
	621.
	1:47:38:23
	HAZEL)

And I just felt I should tell you.

	578
	1:47:41:09
	MS – SUMPTER. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	622.
	1:47:41:12
	SUMPTER)

I commend you for your honesty, something that is in short supply...

	579
	1:47:45:19
	HIGH ANGLE – MS – PAST SUMPTER TO BARKER AND HAZEL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	623.
	1:47:45:23
	SUMPTER)

...in my courtroom as of late. At this point...

	580
	1:47:49:15
	MS – PAST SUMPTER TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	624.
	1:47:49:19
	SUMPTER)

...Mr. Barker, given everything that we’ve heard...

	581
	1:47:52:17
	MCS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	625.
	1:47:52:20
	SUMPTER)

...wouldn’t you say it’s time to discuss some relief?

	582
	1:47:55:00
	HIGH ANGLE – MS – PAST SUMPTER TO BARKER AND HAZEL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	626.
	1:47:55:03
	BARKER)

Your Honor, please, I just need a few moments to–

	
	
	
	627.
	1:47:57:11
	SUMPTER)

We have had...

	583
	1:47:58:00
	MS – SUMPTER. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	628.
	1:47:58:04
	SUMPTER)

...police detectives lying under oath, altering tapes, suppressing evidence. And now we have...

	584
	1:48:04:09
	MS – CATE, HAZEL, AND BARKER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	629.
	1:48:04:12
	SUMPTER)

...the victim’s own mother, with no reason to lie...

	585
	1:48:07:18
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	630.
	1:48:07:22
	SUMPTER)

...telling us she saw Mr. Burkhardt fleeing...

	586
	1:48:10:18
	MS – SUMPTER. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	631.
	1:48:10:22
	SUMPTER)

...the scene of the crime. I repeat. At this point, Mr. Barker, don’t you think...

	587
	1:48:17:05
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	632.
	1:48:17:08
	SUMPTER)

...Ms. Stubbs is entitled to...

	588
	1:48:19:04
	MS – SUMPTER. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	633.
	1:48:19:07
	SUMPTER)

...some relief?

	589
	1:48:20:19
	OTS OF SUMPTER TO BARKER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	634.
	1:48:22:14
	BARKER)

I-I can see how...

	590
	1:48:23:11
	MCS – PAST SUMPTER TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	635.
	1:48:23:15
	BARKER)

...one would think that, yes.

	591
	1:48:26:06
	MCS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	592
	1:48:27:10
	MCS – PAST SUMPTER TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	636.
	1:48:27:14
	SUMPTER)

You can make your decision over the weekend...

	593
	1:48:29:16
	MS – SUMPTER. HAZEL PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG. BARKER PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	637.
	1:48:29:19
	SUMPTER)

...whether you want to put on your own witnesses and defend this case or not. In the meantime, I’m going...

	594
	1:48:35:10
	MS– LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	638.
	1:48:35:13
	SUMPTER)

...to release Miss Stubbs into some agreed-upon custody.

	595
	1:48:38:21
	HIGH ANGLE – MS – PAST SUMPTER TO BARKER AND HAZEL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	639.
	1:48:39:00
	HAZEL)

He’s letting her go? But don’t you see?

	596
	1:48:41:20
	MS – CATE, HAZEL, AND BARKER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	640.
	1:48:41:23
	HAZEL)

If I saw them, it means I got there within minutes. It means I could have got there when Jen could still speak!

	
	
	
	641.
	1:48:47:00
	SUMPTER)

No, Mrs. Cole.

	597
	1:48:47:17
	MS – SUMPTER. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	642.
	1:48:47:20
	SUMPTER)

If you saw Mr. Burkhardt leaving the crime scene and told detectives, it means they withheld exculpatory evidence.

	598
	1:48:55:06
	OTS OF SUMPTER TO HAZEL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	643.
	1:48:55:10
	SUMPTER)

Thank you. You may sit down.

	599
	1:48:58:11
	WS – CATE, HAZEL, AND BARKER STANDING IN FRONT OF SUMPTER. CATE CROSSES L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	644.
	1:48:58:15
	BARKER)

Ms. Cole.

	
	
	
	645.
	1:49:01:10
	SUMPTER)

Ms. McCall.

	600
	1:49:01:16
	MS – CATE TURNING TO FACE SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	646.
	1:49:02:17
	CATE)

Yes, Your Honor?

	601
	1:49:04:08
	OTS OF CATE TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	647.
	1:49:04:11
	SUMPTER)

You’re the obvious choice for custody.

	602
	1:49:06:01
	MS – CATE. LACEY IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	648.
	1:49:06:04
	CATE)

Oh, uh, I have– I have plans to see my daughter.

	603
	1:49:10:19
	OTS OF CATE TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	649.
	1:49:10:23
	SUMPTER)

I’m sure you’ll work something out.

	604
	1:49:13:14
	INT. CATE’S APARTMENT BUILDING – HALLWAY – DAY – LS – CATE AND LACEY AT CATE’S APARTMENT DOOR. CATE OPENS DOOR, BOTH ENTER APARTMENT. CAMERA FOLLOWS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	650.
	1:49:23:11
	CATE)

Welcome to my perfect life.

	605
	1:49:26:14
	INT. CATE’S APARTMENT – NIGHT – FS – CATE PASSES BY DOORWAY, STOPPING AT DRAWER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	651.
	1:49:26:18
	LACEY)

Because I want to see her.

	606
	1:49:30:23
	MS – CATE AT DRAWER, THEN LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	652.
	1:49:31:03
	LACEY)

I don’t have a car.

	607
	1:49:34:02
	WS – LACEY SEEN THROUGH DOORWAY ON PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	653.
	1:49:35:17
	LACEY)

Just fucking forget it.

	
	
	[ SFX: PHONE BEEPS ]
	
	
	

	608
	1:49:39:00
	MS – CATE STANDING IN DOORWAY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	654.
	1:49:40:07
	CATE)

You okay?

	609
	1:49:41:04
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	655.
	1:49:44:23
	LACEY)

I’m out for one weekend in five fucking years, and my parents won’t bring her to see me.

	610
	1:49:49:23
	MS – CATE IN DOORWAY.
	
	
	

	611
	1:49:51:10
	WS – CATE CROSSING TO LACEY IN BG. CATE SITS DOWN NEXT TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	612
	1:49:59:19
	EXT. STUBBS’S HOME – DAY – WS – TRAFFIC DRIVING PAST ON STREET.
	
	
	

	613
	1:50:02:23
	INT. STUBBS’S HOME – DAY – WS – MRS. STUBBS, CATE, LACEY’S DAUGHTER, MR. STUBBS IN FG WATCHING TV. LACEY IN BG ON PHONE.
	
	
	

	614
	1:50:07:08
	TWO-SHOT OF CATE IN FG. MRS. STUBBS IN BG, SOFT FOCUS. CATE LOOKS OSR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	656.
	1:50:07:11
	LACEY)

She’s so big, I don’t even recognize her.

	615
	1:50:09:08
	MS – LACEY ON PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	657.
	1:50:10:08
	LACEY)

I miss you.

	616
	1:50:12:21
	WS – MRS. STUBBS, CATE, LACEY’S DAUGHTER, MR. STUBBS IN FG WATCHING TV. LACEY IN BG ON PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	658.
	1:50:14:11
	MRS. STUBBS)

They really gonna let her go?

	
	
	
	659.
	1:50:17:02
	CATE)

Well, we’ll know more Monday, but, um, it looks...

	617
	1:50:19:23
	OTS OF CATE TO MRS. STUBBS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	660.
	1:50:20:03
	CATE)

...like things could finally go Lacey’s way.

	
	
	
	661.
	1:50:25:12
	MRS. STUBBS)

Things always go Lacey’s way. She makes sure of it.

	618
	1:50:37:17
	MS – LACEY ON PHONE. LACEY TURNS TO FACE CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	662.
	1:50:37:20
	LACEY)

Yeah.

	
	
	
	663.
	1:50:40:21
	LACEY)

I can’t really talk right now.

	619
	1:50:43:03
	EXT. COURTHOUSE – DAY – WS – CATE AND BRIDGES ESCORTING LACEY PAST ANGRY PROTESTORS.
	
	
	

	620
	1:50:52:20
	INT. COURTROOM – DAY – MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	664.
	1:50:52:23
	SUMPTER)

You just got through telling us you didn’t intend to defend this case.

	621
	1:50:55:00
	TWO-SHOT OF BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT, BOTH STANDING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	665.
	1:50:56:13
	BARKER)

But to claim that she’s innocent–

	622
	1:50:58:00
	TWO-SHOT OF CATE AND LACEY. CATE, STANDING, LACEY, SITTING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	666.
	1:50:58:03
	SUMPTER)

I have never seen a case in any jurisdiction where there has been...

	623
	1:51:01:00
	WS – BRIDGES SITTING AMONG SPECTATORS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	667.
	1:51:01:03
	SUMPTER)

...as much prosecutorial misconduct.

	624
	1:51:03:00
	TWO-SHOT OF BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	668.
	1:51:03:10
	BARKER)

But my point–

	625
	1:51:04:06
	MCS – PROFILE – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	669.
	1:51:04:10
	SUMPTER)

By my count, at least five state witnesses perjured themselves.

	626
	1:51:08:17
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	670.
	1:51:08:20
	SUMPTER)

We have obstruction of justice, witness tampering...

	627
	1:51:12:05
	MCS – PROFILE – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	671.
	1:51:12:08
	SUMPTER)

...evidence disappearing.

	628
	1:51:13:22
	MWS – SUMPTER, POINTING OSR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	672.
	1:51:14:02
	SUMPTER)

There is a human being sitting here...

	629
	1:51:16:10
	TWO-SHOT OF CATE AND LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	673.
	1:51:16:14
	SUMPTER)

...serving a life sentence...

	630
	1:51:17:23
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	674.
	1:51:18:03
	SUMPTER)

...based on testimony that your office has since disavowed.

	631
	1:51:21:03
	MS – BARKER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	675.
	1:51:21:07
	SUMPTER)

I find...

	632
	1:51:22:13
	WS – BRIDGES SITTING AMONG SPECTATORS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	676.
	1:51:22:14
	SUMPTER)

...by clear and compelling evidence...

	633
	1:51:24:09
	MCS – PROFILE – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	677.
	1:51:24:12
	SUMPTER)

...Lacey Stubbs to be actually innocent...

	634
	1:51:26:21
	MS - CATE SMILING. TURNS TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	678.
	1:51:27:00
	SUMPTER)

...of first-degree murder.

	635
	1:51:28:21
	MS – LACEY STANDS UP.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	679.
	1:51:29:00
	SUMPTER)

So she shall be immediately released.

	636
	1:51:30:06
	MS – CATE AND LACEY HUGGING.
	
	
	

	637
	1:51:31:19
	MCS – CATE AND LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	680.
	1:51:31:23
	SUMPTER)

And I am going to add...

	638
	1:51:33:17
	MS – BARKER AND HIS ASSISTANT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	681.
	1:51:34:02
	SUMPTER)

...she can never be tried...

	639
	1:51:35:02
	MS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	682.
	1:51:35:06
	SUMPTER)

...in this state again.

	640
	1:51:37:22
	MS – HAZEL, STANDING UP, GRABBING RAILING.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: GAVEL RAPS ]
	
	
	

	
	
	
	683.
	1:51:38:15
	HAZEL)

No!

	641
	1:51:39:09
	MCS – PAST CATE TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	684.
	1:51:39:12
	CATE)

Holy shit. We did it.

	642
	1:51:41:08
	THREE-SHOT OF CATE, BRIDGES, AND LACEY. BRIDGES AND CATE HUG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	685.
	1:51:44:11
	BRIDGES)

Congratulations.

	
	
	BRIDGES SHAKES LACEY’S HAND.
	
	
	

	643
	1:51:45:12
	MCS – PAST CATE TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	686.
	1:51:45:16
	LACEY)

Thank you.

	
	
	
	687.
	1:51:46:11
	BRIDGES)

I’ll see you outside.

	
	
	
	688.
	1:51:48:08
	LACEY)

Oh, thank you.

	644
	1:51:49:18
	MS – HAZEL SITTING BACK DOWN, SOBBING.
	
	
	

	645
	1:51:57:04
	INT. RESTAURANT – DAY – WS – PATRONS SEATED AT TABLES.
	
	
	

	646
	1:51:59:19
	THREE-SHOT OF BRIDGES, CATE, AND AUGIE SITTING AT TABLE EATING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	689.
	1:52:01:00
	AUGIE)

Ice cream has too much sugar.

	
	
	
	690.
	1:52:03:04
	CATE)

Mm-hmm. But today we’re celebrating.

	
	
	
	691.
	1:52:06:08
	AUGIE)

Why?

	647
	1:52:07:20
	TWO-SHOT OF BRIDGES AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	692.
	1:52:07:23
	BRIDGES)

Because your mama helped a lady out of a real bad situation.

	648
	1:52:13:14
	MS – AUGIE. CATE IN FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	693.
	1:52:13:18
	AUGIE)

My daddy said she did bad things.

	649
	1:52:16:04
	MCS – PAST BRIDGES TO CATE.
	
	
	

	650
	1:52:17:17
	OTS OF AUGIE TO BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	694.
	1:52:17:20
	BRIDGES)

Well, people thought she did bad things...

	651
	1:52:20:13
	MS – AUGIE. CATE IN FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	695.
	1:52:20:16
	BRIDGES)

...because mean people told lies about her.

	652
	1:52:22:19
	MCS – PAST BRIDGES TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	696.
	1:52:24:07
	BRIDGES)

So your mommy went to court and told the truth. She made the mean people play fair.

	653
	1:52:29:09
	MS – AUGIE. CATE IN FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	697.
	1:52:29:12
	AUGIE)

You made the mean people play fair?

	654
	1:52:31:11
	TWO-SHOT OF CATE AND AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	698.
	1:52:31:15
	CATE)

Yeah, baby. They–

	
	
	
	699.
	1:52:33:03
	GEORGE)

Wow!

	655
	1:52:34:07
	MS – CATE AND AUGIE. GEORGE ENTERS R.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	700.
	1:52:34:11
	GEORGE)

I always knew you were good, babe. But, boy, you tore ’em up in there.

	
	
	
	701.
	1:52:37:13
	CATE)

How are you, George?

	
	
	
	702.
	1:52:39:03
	GEORGE)

Good. Looks like Waterford’s going back to trial. I need you back on the team.

	656
	1:52:42:14
	TWO-SHOT OF BRIDGES AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	703.
	1:52:43:18
	CATE)

Well, I’m not sure the other partners–

	
	
	
	704.
	1:52:45:20
	GEORGE)

Everybody deserves a second chance.

	657
	1:52:47:11
	MS – CATE, AUGIE, AND GEORGE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	705.
	1:52:47:15
	GEORGE)

Even a stone-cold killer like Lacey Stubbs.

	658
	1:52:50:09
	TWO-SHOT OF BRIDGES AND CATE.
	
	
	

	659
	1:52:51:15
	MS – GEORGE SMILING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	706.
	1:52:51:19
	GEORGE)

How ya doin’, buddy?

	660
	1:52:53:02
	TWO-SHOT OF BRIDGES AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	707.
	1:52:54:04
	BRIDGES)

I’m fine, buddy.

	661
	1:52:55:15
	MS – GEORGE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	708.
	1:52:55:19
	GEORGE)

Call me.

	
	
	GEORGE EXITS R.
	
	
	

	662
	1:52:58:02
	TWO-SHOT OF BRIDGES AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	709.
	1:52:59:08
	BRIDGES)

Wow, babe.

	
	
	
	710.
	1:53:01:01
	CATE)

Hey.

	663
	1:53:01:18
	MS – AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	711.
	1:53:01:22
	CATE)

You pay me half a million bucks a year, you can call me “babe” too, babe.

	
	
	AUGIE LAUGHS.
	
	
	

	664
	1:53:05:08
	MS – BRIDGES. AUGIE PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	712.
	1:53:05:11
	BRIDGES)

Here’s a half a million dollars, babe.

	665
	1:53:08:09
	TWO-SHOT OF CATE AND AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	713.
	1:53:08:12
	CATE)

Shut up.

	
	
	[AUGIE LAUGHS]
	
	
	

	
	
	
	714.
	1:53:10:15
	CATE)

Don’t encourage him.

	666
	1:53:13:03
	INT. JOSH’S APARTMENT – NIGHT – MS – CATE AND AUGIE IN FG WITH AUGIE’S STUFFED TOYS. JOSH IN BG AT TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	715.
	1:53:13:23
	CATE)

Can I brush his teeth?

	
	
	
	716.
	1:53:15:07
	AUGIE)

Not yet.

	
	
	
	717.
	1:53:15:21
	CATE)

He ate so much ice cream. No?

	
	
	
	718.
	1:53:18:02
	AUGIE)

He’s not the one that had ice cream.

	
	
	
	719.
	1:53:21:15
	CATE)

Oh.

	
	
	
	720.
	1:53:23:06
	AUGIE)

He had ice cream.

	
	
	
	721.
	1:53:25:07
	CATE)

Oh, okay.

	667
	1:53:26:07
	MCS – AUGIE AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	722.
	1:53:27:19
	CATE)

I gotta go now, sweetie pie. You want me to give you the tiny little mama? Here.

	
	
	CATE PUTS THE IMAGINARY “TINY MOM” IN AUGIE’S HAND.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	723.
	1:53:36:21
	CATE)

Take good care of her when I’m gone, okay?

	
	
	CATE KISSES AUGIE.
	
	
	

	668
	1:53:43:17
	EXT. RESIDENTIAL STREET – NIGHT – WS – RED VAN PARKED ACROSS THE STREET. DOOR OPENS. MR. BOOTHE EXITS AS CATE ENTERS L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	724.
	1:53:50:06
	MR. BOOTHE)

Hey.

	
	
	MR. BOOTHE FOLLOWS CATE, IN FG. CATE QUICKENS HER PACE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	725.
	1:53:52:23
	MR. BOOTHE)

Stop.

	669
	1:53:54:10
	EXT. – CATE’S APARTMENT BUILDING – FRONT DOORS – NIGHT – FS – CATE RUSHES TO DOOR AS CAMERA PUSHES IN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	726.
	1:53:55:18
	MR. BOOTHE)

I need to talk to you about Lacey Stubbs!

	
	
	
	727.
	1:53:58:06
	CATE)

I’m not interested in defending myself...

	670
	1:53:59:02
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO MR. BOOTHE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	728.
	1:53:59:06
	CATE)

...or the case.

	
	
	
	729.
	1:54:00:10
	MR. BOOTHE)

My daughter...

	671
	1:54:00:23
	TWO-PAST MR. BOOTHE TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	730.
	1:54:01:00
	MR. BOOTHE)

...is Dorrie Boothe.

	672
	1:54:03:16
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF CATE AND MR. BOOTHE (3x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	731.
	1:54:04:12
	MR. BOOTHE)

Do you think that there’s any chance that...

	
	
	
	732.
	1:54:06:22
	MR. BOOTHE)

...the new evidence you dug up might help her too?

	
	
	
	733.
	1:54:09:12
	CATE)

I don’t actually do criminal defense. This was–

	
	
	
	734.
	1:54:11:10
	MR. BOOTHE)

My daughter didn’t kill anybody. But they put her in prison for the rest of her natural life. What if it was your daughter?

	675
	1:54:21:00
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	735.
	1:54:23:16
	CATE VO)

So, the cops...

	676
	1:54:24:04
	INT. WOMEN’S PRISON – VISITATION AREA – DAY – MS – TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO DORRIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	736.
	1:54:24:06
	CATE)

...basically came up with a story that they wanted people to believe, and they sold it to the D.A., and the D.A. sold it to a jury...

	677
	1:54:31:12
	TWO-SHOT PAST DORRIE TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	737.
	1:54:31:15
	CATE)

...and the jury bought it. Hook, line, and sinker.

	678
	1:54:34:13
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF CATE AND DORRIE (10x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	738.
	1:54:34:16
	DORRIE)

Isn’t that what you did?

	
	
	
	739.
	1:54:38:03
	CATE)

Uh, I was under the impression that you wanted to discuss an appeal.

	
	
	
	740.
	1:54:42:04
	DORRIE)

Why?

	
	
	
	741.
	1:54:43:11
	CATE)

B-Because I–

	
	
	
	742.
	1:54:45:04
	DORRIE)

I’m not gonna lie to save myself. I did what they said I did. I held her down while Lacey cut her throat.

	
	
	
	743.
	1:54:54:14
	CATE)

But Lacey said that Rusty–

	
	
	
	744.
	1:54:55:15
	DORRIE)

Rusty wasn’t there. He dropped us off and he picked us up, but he was never in the condo. So Lacey can lie and say all kinds of things, and maybe you believe her when she bats her eyes and turns on the waterworks. But that’s ’cause you weren’t there. But I was, and I know what happened.

	688
	1:55:15:19
	INT. CATE’S CAR – NIGHT – CATE SEEN THROUGH WINDSHIELD DRIVING. CAR SEEN THROUGH REAR WINDOW FOLLOWING BEHIND.
	
	
	

	
	
	FLASHING RED LIGHTS COME ON FROM CAR BEHIND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: SIREN WHOOPS ]
	
	
	

	
	
	
	745.
	1:55:27:22
	CATE)

Oh, Jesus Christ.

	689
	1:55:30:04
	EXT. TWO-LANE ROAD – NIGHT – WS – CATE’S CAR PULLS OVER. POLICE CAR PULLS IN BEHIND HER.
	
	
	

	690
	1:55:36:17
	INT. CATE’S CAR – MS – CATE LOOKING OVER SHOULDER AND IN MIRROR.
	
	
	

	691
	1:55:40:13
	CU – DRIVER’S MIRROR – IMAGE OF POLICE CAR DOOR OPENING, MAN STEPPING OUT.
	
	
	

	692
	1:55:43:18
	MS – CATE SEEN THOUGH WINDSHIELD.
	
	
	

	693
	1:55:47:19
	CU OF MIRROR – TWO MEN APPROACHING CATE’S CAR.
	
	
	

	694
	1:55:49:09
	MCS – CATE SEEN THOUGH WINDSHIELD LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	695
	1:55:51:00
	MCS – CATE SEEN THROUGH DRIVER’S SIDE WINDOW.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	746.
	1:55:51:03
	DUNCAN)

Step out of the car. Leave your hands where I can see them.

	
	
	
	747.
	1:55:53:21
	CATE)

You’ve got to be kidding.

	696
	1:55:54:22
	MS – PAST CATE IN CAR TO DUNCAN AND WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	748.
	1:55:55:11
	WELCH)

Is there a problem?

	
	
	
	749.
	1:55:56:15
	DUNCAN)

I need you to step out of the vehicle.

	697
	1:55:58:10
	MS – CATE SEEN THROUGH FRONT WINDSHIELD. CATE ATTEMPTS TO START CAR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	750.
	1:55:58:14
	CATE)

Okay, you’ve had your fun. I’m gonna go now.

	
	
	
	751.
	1:56:00:09
	WELCH)

Lady, we haven’t even...

	698
	1:56:01:00
	MS – PAST CATE INSIDE CAR TO DUNCAN AND WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	752.
	1:56:01:03
	WELCH)

...begun to have fun yet.

	699
	1:56:02:04
	MS – CATE REACHING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	753.
	1:56:02:07
	WELCH)

Get out of the car.

	700
	1:56:03:06
	MCS – CATE REACHING FOR HER CELL PHONE.
	
	
	

	701
	1:56:04:13
	TWO-SHOT OF DUNCAN AND WELCH. WELCH DRAWS HIS WEAPON AND POINTS IT AT CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	754.
	1:56:04:16
	WELCH)

I said...

	702
	1:56:05:10
	MCS – CATE THROUGH DRIVER’S SIDE WINDOW.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	755.
	1:56:05:14
	WELCH)

...get the fuck out of the car...

	703
	1:56:06:19
	MS – PAST CATE INSIDE CAR TO WELCH’S HAND POINTING HIS GUN AT CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	756.
	1:56:07:23
	WELCH)

...now.

	704
	1:56:08:10
	MCS – CATE THROUGH DRIVER’S SIDE WINDOW. CATE OPENS CAR DOOR.
	
	
	

	705
	1:56:12:19
	WS – CATE EXITING CAR. WELCH POINTING GUN AT CATE. DUNCAN HOLDING FLASHLIGHT.
	
	
	

	706
	1:56:16:00
	THREE-SHOT – CATE, DUNCAN, AND WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	757.
	1:56:16:03
	DUNCAN)

Face the car. Put your hands behind your back.

	707
	1:56:18:19
	MS – PROFILE – CATE STANDING NEXT TO CAR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	758.
	1:56:18:23
	CATE)

I’m not doing any–

	
	
	DUNCAN SPINS HER AROUND.
	
	
	

	708
	1:56:20:03
	TWO-SHOT OF CATE AND DUNCAN. DUNCAN PUSHES CATE ROUGHLY AGAINST CAR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	759.
	1:56:20:07
	CATE)

I haven’t done anything!

	
	
	
	760.
	1:56:22:17
	WELCH)

No, but I could say that I found an open container...

	
	
	WELCH HOLDS UP WHISKEY BOTTLE.
	
	
	

	709
	1:56:25:15
	MS – CATE UP AGAINST HER CAR. WELCH IN FG, TOSSES WHISKEY BOTTLE INSIDE CATE’S CAR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	761.
	1:56:25:19
	WELCH)

...in the front seat of your car. And in a court of law, it would be your word against mine...

	710
	1:56:29:06
	MCS – WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	762.
	1:56:29:10
	WELCH)

...right?

	
	
	CAMERA PANS L TO CATE.
	
	
	

	711
	1:56:31:16
	WS – CATE SWINGS AND HITS DUNCAN.
	
	
	

	712
	1:56:32:06
	MS – CATE STARTING TO RUN.
	
	
	

	713
	1:56:32:13
	WS – DUNCAN IN BG. CATE TRIES TO RUN. WELCH GRABS HER.
	
	
	

	714
	1:56:33:02
	TWO-SHOT OF CATE AND WELCH.
	
	
	

	715
	1:56:33:14
	WS – WELCH SLAMMING CATE DOWN ON HOOD OF CAR. DUNCAN IN BG.
	
	
	

	716
	1:56:34:07
	LOW ANGLE – MCS – WELCH LEANING OVER CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	763.
	1:56:34:11
	WELCH)

Add to that assaulting a police officer...

	717
	1:56:36:18
	MS – CATE BEING HANDCUFFED.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	764.
	1:56:36:22
	WELCH)

...resisting arrest–

	718
	1:56:37:23
	LOW ANGLE – MCS – WELCH LEANING OVER CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	765.
	1:56:38:03
	WELCH)

You don’t happen to know a good lawyer, do you?

	719
	1:56:39:18
	MCS – CATE LEANING OVER HOOD OF CAR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	766.
	1:56:39:22
	CATE)

This is bullshit!

	
	
	
	767.
	1:56:41:11
	WELCH)

No, bullshit...

	720
	1:56:41:21
	MCS – WELCH. DUNCAN PARTIALLY SEEN IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	768.
	1:56:42:00
	WELCH)

...is Lacey Stubbs saying I raped her.

	721
	1:56:44:00
	LOW ANGLE – MCS – WELCH LEANING OVER CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	769.
	1:56:44:03
	WELCH)

That’s fucking bullshit.

	722
	1:56:45:12
	MS – CATE BEING PULLED UPRIGHT BY WELCH.
	
	
	

	723
	1:56:46:14
	WS – CATE BEING PUT IN BACK OF POLICE CAR. WELCH CLOSES THE DOOR. DUNCAN HOLDING A FLASHLIGHT.
	
	
	

	724
	1:56:49:06
	INT. COURTROOM – DAY – WS – SPECTATORS IN FG. BRIDGES AND CATE IN BG STANDING BEFORE JUDGE HAYES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	770.
	1:56:49:10
	BRIDGES)

My client, Your Honor, is a highly-respected, well-known attorney...

	725
	1:56:53:14
	HIGH ANGLE – WS – CATE AND BRIDGES STANDING IN FRONT OF JUDGES’ BENCH. SPECTATORS IN BG. JUDGE HAYES PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	771.
	1:56:53:18
	BRIDGES)

...in this jurisdiction for 13 years.

	726
	1:56:56:04
	MS – PAST BRIDGES AND CATE IN FG TO JUDGE HAYES IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	772.
	1:56:56:07
	JUDGE HAYES)

She’s charged with assault on a LEO.

	727
	1:56:59:08
	HIGH ANGLE – WS – CATE AND BRIDGES STANDING IN FRONT OF JUDGES’ BENCH. SPECTATORS IN BG. JUDGE HAYES PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	773.
	1:56:59:11
	BRIDGES)

She thought her life was threatened.

	728
	1:57:01:08
	MS – PAST BRIDGES AND CATE IN FG TO JUDGE HAYES IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	774.
	1:57:01:11
	JUDGE HAYES)

That won’t fly in my court, counselor.

	729
	1:57:04:02
	MS – CATE AND BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	775.
	1:57:04:06
	JUDGE HAYES)

January 26. Bond is set at 5,000...

	730
	1:57:07:12
	WS – SPECTATORS IN FG. BRIDGES AND CATE IN BG STANDING BEFORE JUDGE HAYES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	776.
	1:57:07:15
	JUDGE HAYES)

...unsecured.

	
	
	[ SFX: GAVEL RAPS ]
	
	
	

	731
	1:57:09:16
	HIGH ANGLE – WS – CATE AND BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	777.
	1:57:11:03
	BRIDGES)

Let’s go, Cate.

	
	
	CATE AND BRIDGES TURN TO LEAVE.
	
	
	

	732
	1:57:13:21
	EXT. STUBBS HOUSE – FRONT DOOR – MS – MRS. STUBBS OPENS DOOR, MR. STUBBS IN BG SITTING IN CHAIR. ALL SEEN THROUGH SCREEN DOOR .
	
	
	

	733
	1:57:16:15
	OTS OF MRS. STUBBS TO CATE STANDING ON PORCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	778.
	1:57:16:19
	CATE)

I-I need to talk to Lacey.

	734
	1:57:18:20
	ALTERNATING SHOTS OF MRS. STUBBS AND CATE (3x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	779.
	1:57:18:23
	MRS. STUBBS)

She ain’t here.

	
	
	
	780.
	1:57:20:23
	CATE)

Do you have any idea where I might find her?

	
	
	
	781.
	1:57:22:20
	MRS. STUBBS)

Took off the day after the trial. I ain’t heard from her since.

	
	
	
	782.
	1:57:27:10
	MR. STUBBS)

Well, that ain’t true.

	737
	1:57:28:12
	MCS – CATE SEEN THROUGH SCREEN DOOR. MRS. STUBBS PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	783.
	1:57:29:15
	MR. STUBBS)

She called...

	738
	1:57:30:15
	MS – PAST LACEY’S DAUGHTER IN FG TO MR. STUBBS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	784.
	1:57:30:19
	MR. STUBBS)

...askin’ for money.

	739
	1:57:32:06
	MCS – CATE SEEN THROUGH SCREEN DOOR. MRS. STUBBS PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	785.
	1:57:32:10
	CATE)

Do you know where she was calling from?

	740
	1:57:34:11
	MS – PAST LACEY’S DAUGHTER IN FG TO MR. STUBBS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	786.
	1:57:34:15
	MR. STUBBS)

Number came up as Stockton. She’s shacked up with some guy.

	
	
	
	787.
	1:57:40:03
	MRS. STUBBS)

Said she’d be sendin’ somebody...

	741
	1:57:41:12
	MCS – CATE SEEN THROUGH SCREEN DOOR. MRS. STUBBS PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	788.
	1:57:41:13
	MRS. STUBBS)

...to get her belongings, but so far...

	742
	1:57:43:18
	MS – MRS. STUBBS AND LACEY’S DAUGHTER IN FG, MR. STUBBS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	789.
	1:57:43:22
	MRS. STUBBS)

...there it all sits.

	743
	1:57:46:16
	MS – CATE SEEN THROUGH SCREEN DOOR. MRS. STUBBS PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	790.
	1:57:49:12
	CATE)

Um, Lacey borrowed a necklace of mine.

	744
	1:57:53:11
	MS – MRS. STUBBS AND LACEY’S DAUGHTER IN FG, MR. STUBBS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	791.
	1:57:53:15
	MRS. STUBBS)

You don’t gotta explain. Lacey’s been takin’ things that don’t belong to her her whole life.

	
	
	MRS. STUBBS OPENS THE SCREEN DOOR.
	
	
	

	745
	1:57:59:18
	REVERSE ANGLE – MRS. STUBBS OPENING SCREEN DOOR. CATE ENTERING ROOM.
	
	
	

	746
	1:58:02:20
	MS – MR. STUBBS SITTING IN CHAIR. CATE CROSSING R TO L.
	
	
	

	747
	1:58:04:17
	INT. STUBBS’S HOUSE – DAY – HIGH ANGLE – MCS – CATE GOING THOUGH BOX OF LACEY’S BELONGINGS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	792.
	1:58:09:03
	GIRL)

Can I have a Popsicle?

	
	
	
	793.
	1:58:10:09
	MRS. STUBBS)

No.

	
	
	
	794.
	1:58:11:06
	GIRL)

Please? Please?

	
	
	
	795.
	1:58:13:00
	MRS. STUBBS)

No!

	
	
	CATE FINDS NECKLACE.
	
	
	

	748
	1:58:13:15
	MS – CATE, PUTS NECKLACE IN HER POCKET. MR. STUBBS IN BG WATCHING TV.
	
	
	

	749
	1:58:17:13
	HIGH ANGLE – MCS – BOX OF LACEY’S BELONGINGS. CATE PULLS OUT FILE, OPENS AND EXAMINES IT.
	
	
	

	
	
	CUT TO:
	
	
	

	750
	1:58:25:03
	HIGH ANGLE – MCS – BOX OF LACEY’S BELONGINGS. CATE PULLS OUT PAPERBACK BOOK TITLED “LUST GIRLS.”
	
	
	

	751
	1:58:29:19
	MS – CATE THUMBING THROUGH PAPERBACK.
	
	
	

	752
	1:58:32:05
	HIGH ANGLE – MCS – PAGE OF PAPERBACK WITH A PARAGRAPH HIGHLIGHTED IN YELLOW.
	
	
	

	753
	1:58:35:04
	MS – CATE LOOKING DOWN AT PAPERBACK. CAMERA SLOWLY PUSHES IN.
	
	
	

	754
	1:58:37:21
	MS – CATE HIDING PAPERBACK IN HER COAT.
	
	
	

	755
	1:58:42:00
	INT. STUBBS’S LIVING ROOM – MS – CATE SHOWS MRS. STUBBS THE NECKLACE. CATE CROSSES TO FG, EXITS L. MRS. STUBBS STANDS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	796.
	1:58:42:23
	CATE)

Got it.

	756
	1:58:47:22
	WS – MR. STUBBS, LACEY’S DAUGHTER, MRS. STUBBS IN FG. CATE IN BG STANDING IN FRONT DOORWAY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	797.
	1:58:49:16
	CATE)

Do you happen to know the name of the man Lacey’s staying with?

	757
	1:58:53:02
	MS – MR. STUBBS SITTING IN CHAIR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	798.
	1:58:53:06
	MR. STUBBS)

I don’t remember his name. He’s the one who was accused of raping her.

	758
	1:58:57:19
	MS – CATE IN BG. MRS. STUBBS PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	799.
	1:58:57:23
	CATE)

Detective Welch?

	759
	1:58:59:23
	OTS OF CATE TO MRS. STUBBS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	800.
	1:59:00:03
	MRS. STUBBS)

No, not him. The other one.

	760
	1:59:03:01
	MS – MR. STUBBS SITTING IN CHAIR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	801.
	1:59:03:04
	MR. STUBBS)

That prison guard she was fuckin’.

	
	
	
	802.
	1:59:05:09
	CATE)

Thank you.

	761
	1:59:06:21
	MS – CATE IN BG. MRS. STUBBS PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG. CATE EXITS AND CLOSES FRONT DOOR BEHIND HER.
	
	
	

	762
	1:59:09:15
	INT. CATE’S CAR – DAY – MS – PROFILE – CATE DRIVING ON HIGHWAY.
	
	
	

	763
	1:59:17:11
	INT. APARTMENT BUILDING STAIRWAY – DAY – MS – CATE CLIMBING STAIRS. CAMERA PUSHES OUT.
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE LOOKS AT PIECE OF PAPER, STOPS AT APARTMENT DOOR. CATE KNOCKS ON DOOR.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: KNOCKING ]
	
	
	

	
	
	A BURLY MAN IN A SECURITY GUARD UNIFORM OPENS THE DOOR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	803.
	1:59:45:05
	CATE)

Is Lacey here?

	
	
	MAN STEPS AWAY FROM DOOR. LACEY IN BG.
	
	
	

	764
	1:59:49:03
	MS – LACEY, WEARING DENIM SHORTS, TANK TOP, GOTH MAKEUP, HOLDING A CIGARETTE AND A BEER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	804.
	1:59:52:10
	LACEY)

What are you doing here?

	765
	1:59:54:14
	MCS – CATE IN DOORWAY.
	
	
	

	766
	1:59:56:20
	INT. APARTMENT – BEDROOM – DAY – LACEY AND CATE ENTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	805.
	1:59:58:22
	LACEY)

Make yourself at home.

	
	
	CATE LOOKS BACK INTO LIVING ROOM.
	
	
	

	767
	2:00:01:18
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	806.
	2:00:04:23
	CATE)

He the one you accused of rape?

	768
	2:00:05:16
	WS – LACEY IN BG IN FRONT OF MIRROR. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	807.
	2:00:07:03
	LACEY)

Oh, I never accused him. They said I couldn’t consent ’cause I was an inmate. So they fired his ass and bussed me off to bumfuck.

	769
	2:00:12:15
	MS – CATE STEPS TOWARD FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	808.
	2:00:15:07
	CATE)

I talked to Dorrie.

	770
	2:00:16:19
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE IN FG TO LACEY IN BG IN FRONT OF MIRROR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	809.
	2:00:16:23
	LACEY)

She getting a new trial too?

	
	
	
	810.
	2:00:19:15
	CATE)

No. She doesn’t want one.

	
	
	
	811.
	2:00:22:21
	LACEY)

Never was too bright, that girl.

	771
	2:00:24:13
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	812.
	2:00:24:16
	CATE)

She still says you killed Jen.

	772
	2:00:27:05
	OTS OF CATE TO LACEY IN FRONT OF MIRROR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	813.
	2:00:29:16
	LACEY)

Dorrie wants to be all sweetness and Jesus now. But do you know...

	773
	2:00:32:08
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	814.
	2:00:32:11
	LACEY)

...she killed a girl back in Alaska who was gonna tell her parents...

	774
	2:00:34:19
	MS – LACEY LOOKING IN HER PURSE. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	815.
	2:00:34:23
	LACEY)

...she was a lesbo? Yeah, put a rope around her neck...

	775
	2:00:37:19
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	816.
	2:00:37:23
	LACEY)

...strung her up, and dumped her body in a frozen lake. Her parents moved, like, two months later so the cops wouldn’t catch her.

	
	
	CATE PULLS PAPERBACK “LUST GIRLS” FROM HER PURSE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	817.
	2:00:44:00
	CATE)

Found this at your parents’ house.

	776
	2:00:45:21
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	818.
	2:00:46:00
	LACEY)

I read a lot of trash when I was in jail. What else you gonna do?

	777
	2:00:50:04
	MS – CATE STEPS FORWARD, HOLDING OUT PAPERBACK.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	819.
	2:00:52:03
	CATE)

Would you mind reading this section?

	778
	2:00:53:05
	MS – LACEY, LOOKING DOWN AT PAPERBACK, BUT NOT MOVING.
	
	
	

	779
	2:00:55:16
	MCS – CATE TAKES BACK BOOK.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	820.
	2:00:57:00
	CATE)

Okay. I’ll read it. “I could feel the gun against my throat. Then he moved it down between my legs...

	780
	2:01:03:09
	OTS OF CATE TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	821.
	2:01:03:12
	CATE)

...and I could feel the cold steel slide inside my cunt. The cop was fucking me with his piece as his cock tore me open from behind.”

	781
	2:01:11:02
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	822.
	2:01:12:23
	CATE)

You said that after Welch raped you, he threatened to do the same thing to your kid.

	782
	2:01:16:23
	MCS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	823.
	2:01:17:03
	CATE)

But you didn’t have a kid yet. You were still six months pregnant when you went to jail.

	
	
	
	824.
	2:01:21:00
	LACEY)

He might not have said the thing about the kid right then.

	783
	2:01:23:08
	ALTERNATING MS OF CATE AND LACEY (10x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	825.
	2:01:23:11
	CATE)

Welch didn’t rape you, did he?

	
	
	
	826.
	2:01:25:02
	LACEY)

I knew it was a cop friend of Rusty’s.

	
	
	
	827.
	2:01:27:08
	CATE)

What about the initials on the gun?

	
	
	
	828.
	2:01:29:14
	LACEY)

I made that part up too. But everything else is true, I swear on my daughter’s life.

	
	
	CATE TURNS AND WALKS TOWARD DOOR IN BG. THEN STOPS, TURNS TO FACE LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	829.
	2:01:37:16
	LACEY)

Who the fuck are you to judge me? You try walking a mile in my shoes and see how pretty the world looks.

	
	
	
	830.
	2:01:43:00
	CATE)

What would I see, Lacey? Jen Cole’s terrified face as I cut her throat?

	
	
	
	831.
	2:01:50:07
	LACEY)

The judge said I’m innocent.

	
	
	
	832.
	2:01:53:23
	CATE)

But you’re not, are you?

	
	
	
	833.
	2:01:58:05
	LACEY)

What do you think?

	793
	2:02:00:17
	EXT. COURTHOUSE – DAY – TWO-SHOT – BRIDGES SITTING, CATE PACING BACK AND FORTH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	834.
	2:02:00:20
	CATE)

Welch is dirty, Brinkerhoff’s negligent, Rusty’s a creep, and she’s guilty! Jesus Christ. I did what I accused them of!

	794
	2:02:07:05
	MCS – BRIDGES. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	835.
	2:02:07:08
	BRIDGES)

It’s not the same thing, Cate, and you know it.

	795
	2:02:09:21
	LOW ANGLE – MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	836.
	2:02:10:00
	CATE)

We won the case based on a lie.

	
	
	
	837.
	2:02:12:03
	BRIDGES)

Forget about Lacey Stubbs. Focus on your custody hearing.

	796
	2:02:16:20
	MCS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	838.
	2:02:16:23
	BRIDGES)

You did your job. You did it well.

	797
	2:02:19:18
	LOW ANGLE – MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	839.
	2:02:19:22
	BRIDGES)

Now move on.

	798
	2:02:25:02
	INT. COURTHOUSE – SECURITY SCREENING – DAY – MS – CATE PUTS PURSE ON CONVEYOR BELTS, STEPS THROUGH METAL DETECTOR.
	
	
	

	799
	2:02:30:14
	FS – CATE STEPPING THOUGH TO OTHER SIDE OF METAL DETECTOR. SECURITY SCREEN HANDS CATE HER PERSONAL ITEMS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	840.
	2:02:32:11
	CATE)

Thanks.

	
	
	
	841.
	2:02:34:19
	WOMAN)

Can you hold that elevator?

	800
	2:02:35:13
	MS – CATE LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	801
	2:02:37:23
	LS – SUMPTER TALKING WITH WOMAN WHILE WAITING FOR ELEVATORS.
	
	
	

	802
	2:02:41:05
	MS – CATE LOOKING OSL. FERN ENTERS IN BG. FERN PUTS HER ITEMS ON CONVEYOR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	842.
	2:02:43:12
	CATE)

I’ll see you up there.

	
	
	CATE EXITS RFG. FERN LOOKS OSR.
	
	
	

	803
	2:02:46:08
	INT. SUMPTER’S OFFICE – DAY – FS PAST CATE TO SUMPTER IN BG PUTTING ON HIS ROBE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	843.
	2:02:46:11
	SUMPTER)

When you’ve sat on the bench as long as I have, you get used to the fact...

	804
	2:02:50:08
	OTS OF CATE TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	844.
	2:02:50:11
	SUMPTER)

...that a trial is basically just a liars’ contest.

	805
	2:02:53:10
	OTS OF SUMPTER TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	845.
	2:02:53:14
	SUMPTER)

The point is, we sent a clear message to law enforcement.

	
	
	
	846.
	2:02:56:20
	CATE)

But she’s guilty.

	806
	2:02:57:19
	FS PAST CATE TO SUMPTER IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	847.
	2:03:01:03
	SUMPTER)

I heard about your assault charge.

	807
	2:03:02:13
	MS – PAST SUMPTER IN FG TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	848.
	2:03:02:16
	CATE)

That’s all bullshit.

	
	
	
	849.
	2:03:05:09
	SUMPTER)

Who’s the judge?

	
	
	
	850.
	2:03:08:04
	CATE)

Uh, Hayes.

	808
	2:03:10:01
	MS PAST CATE TO SUMPTER .
	
	
	

	
	
	
	851.
	2:03:10:04
	SUMPTER)

I’ll see what I can do.

	809
	2:03:12:02
	MS – PAST SUMPTER TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	852.
	2:03:13:10
	CATE)

What do you mean?

	810
	2:03:14:10
	OTS OF CATE TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	853.
	2:03:14:14
	SUMPTER)

I’ll talk to him.

	811
	2:03:17:22
	OTS OF SUMPTER TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	854.
	2:03:19:13
	SUMPTER)

Are you free tonight?

	812
	2:03:20:23
	TWO-SHOT – CATE AND SUMPTER .
	
	
	

	
	
	
	855.
	2:03:21:03
	SUMPTER)

The Renaissance, say, 8:30?

	813
	2:03:24:02
	CS – PROFILE – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	856.
	2:03:24:06
	CATE)

My, uh– My grandfather used to take me to the Renaissance for lobster.

	814
	2:03:29:22
	CS – SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	857.
	2:03:30:02
	SUMPTER)

In that case, let’s make it the Huntington.

	
	
	SUMPTER CROSSES L AND EXITS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	858.
	2:03:37:08
	SUMPTER)

You’re a good lawyer, Cate. You could even be a great one.

	815
	2:03:41:06
	MS – SUMPTER AT DOOR TO HIS OFFICE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	859.
	2:03:41:10
	SUMPTER)

Don’t let a thing like this get in the way.

	
	
	SUMPTER OPENS DOOR.
	
	
	

	816
	2:03:45:23
	CS – CATE LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: DOOR CLOSING ]
	
	
	

	
	
	
	860.
	2:03:48:15
	JUDGE WENDER VO)

Dr. Weiss...

	817
	2:03:49:05
	INT. COURTROOM – DAY – WS – JOSH AND HIS LAWYER, CATE AND FERN SITTING AT TABLES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	861.
	2:03:49:08
	JUDGE WENDER)

...has submitted a report, which I have reviewed. It’s her opinion that, while the mother...

	818
	2:03:54:07
	LOW ANGLE – MS – JUDGE WENDER SITTING ON THE BENCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	862.
	2:03:54:11
	JUDGE WENDER)

...loves and cares deeply for her child, she’s not able, at present...

	819
	2:03:57:11
	TWO-SHOT OF CATE AND FERN. CAMERA SLOWLY PUSHES IN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	863.
	2:03:57:15
	JUDGE WENDER)

...to fully focus on the child’s needs. It seems the father has been a loving, stable force in his daughter’s life. We certainly don’t want to deny the child access to that stability because the father’s compelled to move for employment.

	
	
	
	864.
	2:04:09:11
	CATE)

Your Honor–

	820
	2:04:09:21
	LOW ANGLE – MS – JUDGE WENDER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	865.
	2:04:10:00
	JUDGE WENDER)

I’m not finished.

	821
	2:04:10:13
	THREE-SHOT OF JOSH IN FG, CATE AND FERN IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	866.
	2:04:11:23
	JUDGE WENDER)

You’re going to work for Microsoft?

	
	
	
	867.
	2:04:13:19
	JOSH)

Uh, yes.

	822
	2:04:14:20
	MS – JUDGE WENDER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	868.
	2:04:14:23
	JUDGE WENDER)

I don’t see that the child’s rights or welfare would be prejudiced in this case.

	823
	2:04:20:06
	MCS – CATE STANDING UP.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	869.
	2:04:20:10
	CATE)

Your Honor, she’s five years old. I may not be the perfect mother, but I love my daughter more than anything in the world.

	824
	2:04:27:05
	MS – JUDGE WENDER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	870.
	2:04:27:08
	JUDGE WENDER)

Well, it looks like you’re going to get the chance to prove it.

	825
	2:04:31:12
	INT. COURTROOM – LATER – WS – JOSH’S LAWYER EXITS IN FG. CATE AND FERN AND JOSH IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	871.
	2:04:32:23
	FERN)

I’ll call you. Okay?

	
	
	
	872.
	2:04:34:03
	CATE)

Okay.

	
	
	FERN MOVES TO FG, EXITS.
	
	
	

	
	
	JOSH AND CATE WALK TOWARD FG, EXIT THROUGH DOORWAY. THEY STOP IN HALLWAY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	873.
	2:04:42:16
	CATE)

Microsoft? Should have sued you for alimony.

	
	
	
	874.
	2:04:48:11
	JOSH)

I’m not asking you for any money, Cate.

	
	
	
	875.
	2:04:50:07
	CATE)

No, just my daughter.

	826
	2:04:52:00
	ALTERNATING OTS SHOTS OF CATE AND JOSH (5x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	876.
	2:04:52:03
	JOSH)

What’s the difference, Cate? You’re already right back in the saddle. You’ve got your high-profile cases, same old firm, crazy hours.

	
	
	
	877.
	2:05:00:03
	CATE)

Listen, I worked my ass off on that case so I could prove to you and the judge and everybody else that I was capable of being my daughter’s mother again!

	
	
	
	878.
	2:05:08:04
	JOSH)

You worked your ass off ’cause you like to win. Augie doesn’t need a mother who wins. She needs a mother who’s there.

	
	
	
	879.
	2:05:15:15
	CATE)

Then why are you taking her a thousand miles away?

	
	
	
	880.
	2:05:19:03
	JOSH)

Tell you what. Move to Seattle for Augie, I’ll share custody.

	
	
	
	881.
	2:05:24:23
	CATE)

I can’t move to Seattle, Josh! I practice law in California!

	
	
	JOSH TURNS AND WALKS A FEW STEPS AWAY.
	
	
	

	831
	2:05:29:21
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	832
	2:05:32:00
	MS – JOSH IN HALLWAY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	882.
	2:05:32:23
	JOSH)

We’re, uh– We’re leaving in the morning, early. Maybe you could manage to stop by, say good-bye.

	
	
	JOSH TURNS AND WALKS TOWARD BG.
	
	
	

	833
	2:05:43:06
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	883.
	2:05:46:05
	BRIDGES VO)

Just try...

	834
	2:05:46:17
	INT. RESTAURANT – DAY – WS – THROUGH DOORWAY OF CATE AND BRIDGES SITTING AT TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	884.
	2:05:46:20
	BRIDGES)

...and focus on the next right action.

	
	
	
	885.
	2:05:49:23
	CATE)

Like what? Throwing myself off the Sixth Street Bridge?

	
	
	
	886.
	2:05:53:03
	BRIDGES)

You got dealt...

	835
	2:05:53:18
	ALTERNATING OTS OF CATE AND BRIDGES (11x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	887.
	2:05:53:22
	BRIDGES)

...a bad blow.

	
	
	
	888.
	2:05:54:15
	CATE)

You think? I want a fucking drink.

	
	
	
	889.
	2:05:59:16
	BRIDGES)

They’re feelings, Cate. They come and go.

	
	
	
	890.
	2:06:02:16
	CATE)

You don’t know shit about my feelings.

	
	
	
	891.
	2:06:04:19
	BRIDGES)

I know you drink so you don’t have to feel ’em.

	
	
	
	892.
	2:06:08:16
	CATE)

Give me a break.

	
	
	
	893.
	2:06:10:03
	BRIDGES)

I’ve been where you are. It gets better.

	
	
	
	894.
	2:06:14:04
	CATE)

Does it? You live in your office with a cot and a hot plate. You didn’t just lose your fucking kid.

	
	
	
	895.
	2:06:20:11
	BRIDGES)

What do you want? To play some kind of misery contest? With me? All right. Let’s play, Cate. Yeah, that’ll be fun! But I’m gonna tell you one thing, goddamn it. You will lose. You’ll fuckin’ lose completely. So please, just cut out the bullshit.

	
	
	
	896.
	2:06:39:21
	CATE)

I can’t do this anymore.

	846
	2:06:41:00
	MCS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	897.
	2:06:41:03
	BRIDGES)

No, you can’t do this anymore. No, you won’t. What do you wanna be? An old bag with a bottle of booze beside you?

	847
	2:06:49:04
	OTS OF BRIDGES TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	898.
	2:06:49:07
	CATE)

I’ve heard enough A.A. bullshit to last me a lifetime.

	848
	2:06:52:12
	MCS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	899.
	2:06:52:15
	CATE)

All the cute little sayings and the stupid fucking rules.

	849
	2:06:56:05
	OTS OF BRIDGES TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	900.
	2:06:56:08
	CATE)

It doesn’t fucking work. I’m fucking done with all of it!

	
	
	CATE POUNDS TABLE AND STANDS.
	
	
	

	850
	2:07:00:06
	MCS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	901.
	2:07:00:10
	BRIDGES)

Cate, sit down.

	851
	2:07:01:10
	MS – PAST BRIDGES TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	902.
	2:07:01:14
	CATE)

The A.A. losers and the dirty cops and the defendants lying out their asses–

	852
	2:07:06:07
	WS – THROUGH DOORWAY OF CATE AND BRIDGES. CATE GATHERS UP HER JACKET AND PURSE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	903.
	2:07:06:11
	CATE)

You can all go fuck yourselves.

	853
	2:07:08:05
	MCS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	904.
	2:07:08:08
	BRIDGES)

All right. I’ll fuck myself. Sit down.

	854
	2:07:10:15
	CS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	905.
	2:07:11:17
	CATE)

I put a man in prison for 11 years because I followed the rules. I just let a murderer walk because I followed the rules. And now I lost my kid because I followed the rules. You know what?

	
	
	CATE POUNDS TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	906.
	2:07:21:13
	CATE)

Fuck the rules! Fuck you and fuck the fucking rules!

	855
	2:07:25:12
	WS – THROUGH DOORWAY OF CATE AND BRIDGES. CATE EXITS RFG.
	
	
	

	856
	2:07:27:03
	MCS – BRIDGES, RUBBING HIS EYES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	907.
	2:07:29:20
	BRIDGES)

Oh, shit.

	857
	2:07:31:06
	INT. HUNTINGTON HOTEL LOBBY – NIGHT – HIGH ANGLE – WS – CATE ENTERING LOBBY.
	
	
	

	858
	2:07:37:06
	OTS OF HOSTESS AS CATE APPROACHES FROM LBG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	908.
	2:07:44:08
	CATE)

I’m meeting Jamison Sumpter.

	
	
	
	909.
	2:07:46:16
	HOSTESS)

Are you Cate?

	
	
	
	910.
	2:07:48:00
	CATE)

Yeah.

	
	
	HOSTESS HANDS CATE AN ENVELOPE.
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE TURNS AWAY TO OPEN IT.
	
	
	

	859
	2:07:54:07
	HIGH ANGLE – CU – ENVELOPE WITH A NOTE: “McCALL ROOM 2019. BRING YOUR BIB. JS”
	
	
	

	860
	2:07:58:04
	MS – CATE. HOSTESS IN BG.
	
	
	

	861
	2:08:00:07
	OTS OF HOSTESS TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	911.
	2:08:03:07
	CATE)

Thanks.

	
	
	CATE EXITS L.
	
	
	

	862
	2:08:04:15
	EXT. CAR – NIGHT – MCS – PROFILE – CATE SITTING IN DRIVER’S SEAT, LOOKING STRAIGHT AHEAD. CATE LOOKS OSL.
	
	
	

	863
	2:08:11:18
	EXT. GEORGE HOUSE – NIGHT – WS – A FEW LIGHTS ARE ON.
	
	
	

	864
	2:08:15:02
	INT . GEORGE HOUSE – NIGHT – OTS OF MR. GEORGE TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	912.
	2:08:16:15
	CATE)

I just– I wanted to say I’m sorry.

	865
	2:08:20:12
	OTS OF CATE TO MR. GEORGE. MRS. GEORGE SETS CUP DOWN ON TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	913.
	2:08:21:21
	MR. GEORGE)

We spent our life savings fighting those awful charges.

	866
	2:08:27:01
	ALTERNATING OTS OF CATE AND MR. GEORGE (3x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	914.
	2:08:28:15
	MR. GEORGE)

But if you love someone, you have no choice but to hold on to what you believe about ’em. Even when people say terrible things.

	869
	2:08:38:20
	MS – MRS. GEORGE, LOOKING ON, WRINGING HER HANDS.
	
	
	

	870
	2:08:41:16
	OTS OF CATE TO MR. GEORGE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	915.
	2:08:42:19
	MR. GEORGE)

You can’t go with the evidence. You got to go with your heart.

	871
	2:08:48:00
	OTS OF MR. GEORGE TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: DOOR OPENS ]
	
	
	

	872
	2:08:52:03
	MS – MRS. GEORGE STANDING. WILSON GEORGE ENTERS, STOPS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	916.
	2:08:57:03
	CATE VO)

I really wasn’t trying...

	873
	2:08:57:23
	INT. BAR – NIGHT – MS – WILSON GEORGE AND CATE SITTING AT BAR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	917.
	2:08:58:03
	CATE)

...to hurt you. I thought– I truly...

	874
	2:09:03:20
	MCS – WILSON AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	918.
	2:09:03:23
	CATE)

...thought I was doing something good.

	875
	2:09:08:03
	MS – REVERSE ANGLE – WILSON AND CATE. WILSON MOVES SHOT GLASS IN FRONT OF CATE.
	
	
	

	876
	2:09:10:05
	MCS – PAST WILSON TO CATE.
	
	
	

	877
	2:09:14:04
	MS – REVERSE ANGLE – WILSON AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	919.
	2:09:15:19
	WILSON)

A guy I know... did 27 years for something he didn’t do.

	878
	2:09:22:00
	MCS – WILSON AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	920.
	2:09:22:03
	WILSON)

He said, “You can’t hang on to the hate.”

	879
	2:09:26:11
	MCS – PAST WILSON TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	921.
	2:09:26:15
	WILSON)

All these years, I thought– I thought I wanted to hear you say you were sorry. But this is better.

	880
	2:09:38:05
	MCS – PAST CATE TO WILSON.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	922.
	2:09:40:18
	WILSON)

I like watching you cry.

	881
	2:09:42:17
	MS – WILSON AND CATE. CATE STARTS CRYING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	923.
	2:09:45:23
	WILSON)

You know why?

	882
	2:09:47:13
	MCS – PAST CATE TO WILSON.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	924.
	2:09:49:06
	WILSON)

The hate is all you left me with. Hate is all I got.

	883
	2:09:55:19
	MCS – PAST WILSON TO CATE.
	
	
	

	884
	2:10:01:23
	INT. CATE’S APARTMENT – DAY – MS – CATE LYING ON THE FLOOR AMONGST FILES AND PAPERWORK. CAMERA SLOWLY PUSHES IN.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: DOORBELL BUZZES ]
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE SIGHS.
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE SLOWLY WAKES UP.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: DOORBELL BUZZES ]
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE STAGGERS TO WINDOW.
	
	
	

	885
	2:10:37:08
	MS – CATE LOOKING OUT WINDOW.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	925.
	2:10:38:05
	CATE)

Oh, shit.

	886
	2:10:40:06
	HIGH ANGLE – LS – CATE’S POV OUT WINDOW OF JOSH AND AUGIE ON SIDEWALK NEXT TO PARKED TAXI.
	
	
	

	887
	2:10:43:23
	EXT. CATE’S APARTMENT BUILDING – DAY – MS – CATE COMES RUNNING THOUGH LOBBY AND EXITS BUILDING.
	
	
	

	888
	2:10:48:05
	MS – FOLLOWS CATE AS SHE RUNS TO JOSH AND AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	926.
	2:10:49:20
	CATE)

I’m sorry, baby.

	889
	2:10:51:01
	OTS OF JOSH AND AUGIE TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	927.
	2:10:51:04
	CATE)

I totally overslept.

	
	
	CATE LOOKS OSL, TO JOSH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	928.
	2:10:55:18
	CATE)

Hey.

	890
	2:10:56:12
	OTS OF CATE TO JOSH AND AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	929.
	2:10:56:15
	JOSH)

Hey.

	891
	2:10:59:01
	OTS OF JOSH AND AUGIE TO CATE. CATE HOLDS OUT HER HAND.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	930.
	2:10:59:21
	JOSH)

Want me to give you the tiny little mama?

	892
	2:11:01:04
	OTS OF CATE TO JOSH AND AUGIE. CATE HOLDS HER HAND TO AUGIE. AUGIE HIDES HER FACE.
	
	
	

	893
	2:11:03:04
	MCS – CATE MOVING OVER TO AUGIE AND JOSH. CATE HUGS AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	931.
	2:11:03:07
	AUGIE)

Oh, Daddy.

	
	
	
	932.
	2:11:04:10
	CATE)

I know you’re mad at me. I know you are.

	
	
	AUGIE CRIES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	933.
	2:11:08:23
	JOSH)

It’s okay, baby. Baby, it’s okay.

	
	
	
	934.
	2:11:10:15
	CATE)

No matter what anybody says, I love you more than–

	
	
	JOSH EXITS L WITH AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	935.
	2:11:14:07
	JOSH)

All right, that’s it.

	894
	2:11:15:19
	MS – JOSH PUTTING AUGIE IN TAXI. CATE WALKING UP BEHIND.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	936.
	2:11:15:23
	CATE)

And I always will. And when people...

	895
	2:11:20:16
	MCS – PAST JOSH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	937.
	2:11:20:19
	CATE)

...say really bad things about a person, if you love them, you have to hang on to what you believe about them in your heart.

	896
	2:11:30:16
	OTS OF JOSH TO AUGIE IN CAR SEAT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	938.
	2:11:30:19
	CATE)

You can’t just go on the evidence.

	897
	2:11:33:08
	MCS – PAST JOSH TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	939.
	2:11:33:11
	CATE)

Because the evidence can get misrepresented and twisted until...

	898
	2:11:37:16
	OTS OF JOSH TO AUGIE IN CAR SEAT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	940.
	2:11:37:19
	CATE)

...it’s all a pack of fucking lies!

	899
	2:11:39:13
	MCS – JOSH AND CATE. JOSH CLOSES TAXI DOOR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	941.
	2:11:40:07
	JOSH)

That’s it. You need to get yourself some help.

	900
	2:11:43:02
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	942.
	2:11:43:06
	CATE)

I got help!

	
	
	[ SFX: ENGINE STARTS ]
	
	
	

	
	
	
	943.
	2:11:46:23
	CATE)

This is the new, improved me!

	901
	2:11:52:04
	MS – CATE’S REFLECTION IN TAXI SIDE WINDOW.
	
	
	

	
	
	TAXI DRIVES OFF.
	
	
	

	902
	2:11:55:12
	MCS – PROFILE – CATE CRYING.
	
	
	

	903
	2:12:01:01
	INT. BRIDGES’S OFFICE BUILDING STAIRWAY – DAY – HIGH ANGLE – LS – CATE SITTING AT TOP OF STAIRS AS BRIDGES CLIMBS STAIRS.
	
	
	

	904
	2:12:05:23
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	944.
	2:12:07:13
	CATE)

I slipped.

	905
	2:12:09:01
	LOW ANGLE – MS – PAST CATE TO BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	945.
	2:12:10:12
	BRIDGES)

So I see.

	906
	2:12:12:00
	MCS – CATE AS BRIDGES CROSSES R TO L. BRIDGES MOVES TO HIS OFFICE DOOR IN LBG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	946.
	2:12:20:17
	BRIDGES VO)

Got a call from the D.A.

	907
	2:12:21:22
	INT. BRIDGES’S OFFICE – DAY – WS – BRIDGES AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	947.
	2:12:23:02
	BRIDGES)

The assault charges are dropped.

	908
	2:12:25:12
	MS – BRIDGES AND CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	948.
	2:12:27:00
	CATE)

See?

	
	
	CATE SITS IN CHAIR IN FRONT OF BRIDGES’S DESK.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	949.
	2:12:29:11
	CATE)

I actually am the piece of shit at the center of the universe.

	909
	2:12:32:17
	MS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	950.
	2:12:32:20
	BRIDGES)

Well, you’re halfway right, anyway.

	910
	2:12:35:05
	MS – PROFILE – CATE BURYING HER HEAD IN HER HANDS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	951.
	2:12:37:18
	BRIDGES)

You wanna keep feeling...

	911
	2:12:38:20
	MS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	952.
	2:12:38:23
	BRIDGES)

...the way you’re feeling right now, well, just keep on doing what you’re doing.

	912
	2:12:44:04
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	953.
	2:12:45:13
	BRIDGES)

If you want to feel better...

	913
	2:12:47:20
	MS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	954.
	2:12:47:23
	BRIDGES)

...figure out how you can serve something other than your own ego.

	914
	2:12:51:06
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	915
	2:12:54:09
	MS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	955.
	2:12:55:21
	BRIDGES)

So you made a mistake.

	916
	2:12:57:02
	MCS – PROFILE – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	956.
	2:12:57:06
	CATE)

I didn’t make a mistake!

	
	
	
	957.
	2:12:58:07
	BRIDGES)

So Lacey pulled one over on you.

	917
	2:13:00:02
	MCS – PROFILE – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	958.
	2:13:00:06
	BRIDGES)

So the custody judge thought Josh was a better parent? Okay.

	918
	2:13:03:19
	MS – CATE STANDING, CROSSING L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	959.
	2:13:03:23
	BRIDGES)

What are you gonna do about it?

	919
	2:13:07:00
	MS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	960.
	2:13:07:03
	BRIDGES)

You gonna drink yourself to death so Augie has no mother at all?

	920
	2:13:10:10
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	961.
	2:13:10:14
	CATE)

For God’s sake, I had a few drinks!

	921
	2:13:12:13
	MS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	962.
	2:13:12:16
	BRIDGES)

Oh, save it, Cate. Save it for somebody that can’t smell your bullshit from a mile away.

	922
	2:13:18:03
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	963.
	2:13:18:07
	BRIDGES)

You’re a drunk! And not because the world did it to you, or because Wilson George turned out to be innocent...

	923
	2:13:25:06
	MCS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	964.
	2:13:25:10
	BRIDGES)

...or Lacey turned out to be guilty. You’re a drunk because that’s the way you...

	924
	2:13:30:02
	MCS – CATE TURNING AWAY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	965.
	2:13:30:06
	BRIDGES)

...choose to handle it.

	925
	2:13:32:19
	MS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	966.
	2:13:33:22
	BRIDGES)

And if you don’t change, guess what? Nothing changes.

	926
	2:13:41:16
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	927
	2:13:45:20
	MS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	BRIDGES SIGHS, SHAKES HIS HEAD, THEN SITS IN HIS OFFICE CHAIR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	967.
	2:13:51:19
	BRIDGES)

You’re a great and special person, Cate...

	928
	2:13:55:06
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	968.
	2:13:55:10
	BRIDGES)

...but not for any of the reasons you think. Not because you’re a great lawyer, or you’re pretty...

	929
	2:14:02:12
	MS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	969.
	2:14:02:15
	BRIDGES)

...or because you win in court.

	
	
	BRIDGES SIGHS.
	
	
	

	930
	2:14:09:18
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	970.
	2:14:11:11
	CATE)

What’s so great about me?

	931
	2:14:13:17
	MS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	971.
	2:14:15:15
	BRIDGES)

It’s something you need to figure out for yourself.

	932
	2:14:19:00
	MCS – CATE TURNS AND LOOKS OUT WINDOW.
	
	
	

	933
	2:14:23:16
	EXT. LOS ANGELES SKYLINE – DUSK – WS – TIME LAPSE OF SUN SETTING, TRAFFIC WHIZZING AROUND.
	
	
	

	934
	2:14:32:23
	INT. CATE’S APARTMENT – NIGHT – WS – CATE SITTING ON FLOOR, BOXES AND PAPERWORK STREWN ABOUT. CAMERA SLOWLY PUSHES IN.
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE GRABS A BOX, STARTS THROWING PAPERWORK IN BOX.
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE STOPS.
	
	
	

	935
	2:15:10:06
	HIGH ANGLE – CU – INDEX CARD. WORDS WRITTEN ON CARD: “ACTUAL INNOCENCE”.
	
	
	

	936
	2:15:12:13
	MS – CATE LOOKING DOWN AT INDEX CARD. SHE RESUMES PICKING UP PAPERWORK OFF FLOOR.
	
	
	

	937
	2:15:19:02
	INT. HALLWAY – DAY – MS – CATE, HOLDING FILE FOLDER, WAITING BY SECURITY DOOR. POLICE OFFICER ENTERS LFG, MOVES TO SECURITY DOOR IN BG. HE ENTERS SECURITY CODE.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: KEYPAD BEEPS ]
	
	
	

	
	
	DOOR OPENS, POLICEMEN ENTERS. CATE GRABS DOOR, ENTERS HALLWAY. CAMERA FOLLOWS.
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE STOPS AT DOOR WITH SIGN “RANDALL BRINKERHOFF, DISTRICT ATTORNEY.” CATE OPENS DOOR, ENTERS OFFICE. BRINKERHOFF SITTING BEHIND DESK. HE PICKS UP PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	972.
	2:15:38:04
	CATE)

I need five minutes.

	
	
	
	973.
	2:15:39:11
	BRINKERHOFF)

We’re appealing Stubbs.

	
	
	
	974.
	2:15:40:21
	CATE)

Everybody knows...

	938
	2:15:40:22
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	975.
	2:15:41:02
	CATE)

...you’re appealing. I know how you can put her back in jail.

	939
	2:15:43:19
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO BRINKERHOFF. CATE PLACES FILE FOLDER ON BRINKERHOFF’S DESK.
	
	
	

	940
	2:15:46:10
	MCS – CATE. BRINKERHOFF PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	976.
	2:15:46:14
	CATE)

A case could be made that she failed to exhaust her state appeals.

	941
	2:15:49:23
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO BRINKERHOFF. BRINKERHOFF HANGS UP PHONE.
	
	
	

	942
	2:15:52:10
	MCS – CATE. BRINKERHOFF PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: PHONE SETTLING IN CRADLE ]
	
	
	

	943
	2:15:54:16
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO BRINKERHOFF.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	977.
	2:15:55:23
	BRINKERHOFF)

I could have you disbarred.

	944
	2:15:57:22
	MCS – CATE. BRINKERHOFF PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	978.
	2:15:58:02
	CATE)

If you have me disbarred, you can’t take credit for my idea.

	945
	2:16:02:07
	EXT. POLICE STATION – NIGHT – LS – CATE IN FG. POLICE OFFICER WALKS PAST, EXITS RFG. WELCH, IN BG, WALKING TOWARD CATE IN FG. CATE MOVES TO MEET HIM.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	979.
	2:16:11:18
	CATE)

Can I talk to you?

	
	
	
	980.
	2:16:12:11
	WELCH)

Go fuck yourself.

	
	
	CATE WALKS ALONG WITH WELCH IN MS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	981.
	2:16:14:01
	CATE)

I know she lied about the rape. I didn’t know it then, but I know it now.

	
	
	
	982.
	2:16:19:07
	WELCH)

You know what your problem is? You can’t tell the good guys from the bad guys.

	
	
	
	983.
	2:16:22:22
	CATE)

It used to be a lot easier to tell the difference.

	
	
	THEY STOP WALKING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	984.
	2:16:26:07
	WELCH)

You’re no better than me.

	
	
	
	985.
	2:16:27:20
	CATE)

I don’t think I’m better than you. I think I’m just like you. I want to get the bad guys too. And right now, I don’t care how I do it.

	946
	2:16:37:00
	INT. PRISON VISITATION AREA – DAY – LS – CATE TALKING ON PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	986.
	2:16:37:03
	CATE)

They found a technicality. They’re exploiting it.

	947
	2:16:39:16
	MS – LACEY TALKING ON PHONE. FEMALE GUARD IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	987.
	2:16:39:19
	LACEY)

Maybe you didn’t notice, but I’m back in fucking jail!

	948
	2:16:42:11
	LS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	988.
	2:16:42:15
	CATE)

As soon as the state denies our appeal, we go right back to federal court. Sumpter’s all over the news saying he’ll set you free again.

	949
	2:16:48:14
	CS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	989.
	2:16:48:18
	LACEY)

Why would you want to represent someone you think is guilty?

	950
	2:16:52:02
	CS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	990.
	2:16:55:03
	CATE)

I don’t make mistakes.

	951
	2:16:57:05
	INT. CORPORATE LEGAL OFFICE – DAY – WS – CATE SEEN THROUGH DOORWAY SITTING BEHIND DESK LOOKING AT LAPTOP SCREEN. CAMERA SLOWLY PUSHES IN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	991.
	2:16:57:08
	SUMPTER ON MONITOR)

This case will come around again. And when it does, I intend to see that this poor...

	952
	2:17:03:07
	MS PAST CATE TO LAPTOP. SUMPTER SEEN IN VIDEO ON SCREEN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	992.
	2:17:03:11
	SUMPTER ON MONITOR)

...abused woman is set free, once and for all.

	953
	2:17:05:23
	MS – GEORGE ENTERS THROUGH DOORWAY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	993.
	2:17:06:03
	GEORGE)

Douglas is...

	954
	2:17:07:01
	CS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	994.
	2:17:07:04
	GEORGE)

...moving over to Exxon.

	955
	2:17:08:06
	OTS OF CATE TO GEORGE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	995.
	2:17:08:10
	GEORGE)

I want you with me in D.C. quarterbacking Waterford.

	956
	2:17:11:05
	MS – CATE. GEORGE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	996.
	2:17:11:08
	CATE)

That’s fucking fantastic.

	
	
	
	997.
	2:17:13:17
	GEORGE)

Yeah, we’ll head out tonight.

	
	
	
	998.
	2:17:15:07
	CATE)

Oh, um, I’m with my daughter in Seattle this weekend.

	957
	2:17:19:00
	MS – GEORGE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	999.
	2:17:19:03
	GEORGE)

Sorry, babe. You’re in D.C. Play your cards right, and you’re right back on the fast track.

	
	
	GEORGE TURNS TO LEAVE.
	
	
	

	958
	2:17:24:17
	CS – CATE LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	959
	2:17:28:06
	EXT. WASHINGTON D.C. – DAY – WS – AERIAL VIEW OF WASHINGTON D.C. SKYLINE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1000.
	2:17:30:15
	CATE VO)

Then we’ll put on Henkle...

	960
	2:17:32:02
	INT. AIRPORT WAITING AREA – DAY – WS – CATE SITTING ON COUCH HOLDING HER CELL PHONE. GEORGE IN BG READING DOCUMENT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1001.
	2:17:32:06
	CATE)

...who will say D.B.C.P. was well below damage-causing levels and that workers refused to wear protective gear. Sorry.

	
	
	CATE HOLDS CELL PHONE TO HER EAR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1002.
	2:17:38:03
	CATE)

Hey. I’m gonna miss my connection to Seattle. Can you see if there are any later flights?

	
	
	GEORGE CROSSES AND SITS NEXT TO CATE.
	
	
	

	961
	2:17:44:06
	MS – CATE AND GEORGE. GEORGE SITS AND HANDS CATE DOCUMENTS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1003.
	2:17:44:10
	GEORGE)

Everything you wanted to know about Arturo Juan Gonzales.

	962
	2:17:48:06
	TWO-SHOT PAST GEORGE TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1004.
	2:17:48:10
	CATE)

Well, that’s not the same guy.

	963
	2:17:50:03
	MS – CATE AND GEORGE. GEORGE LOOKS AT DOCUMENTS AND PHOTO.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1005.
	2:17:53:03
	GEORGE)

Isn’t it?

	
	
	GEORGE HANDS DOCUMENTS BACK TO CATE AND POCKETS THE PHOTO.
	
	
	

	964
	2:17:57:13
	TWO-SHOT PAST GEORGE TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1006.
	2:18:00:08
	CATE)

Okay, so check another airline.

	965
	2:18:02:19
	EXT. SEATTLE SKYLINE AND PUGET SOUND – HIGH AERIAL VIEW – DUSK – VIEW FLYING OVER CITY.
	
	
	

	966
	2:18:07:00
	INT. JOSH’S SEATTLE APARTMENT – NIGHT – WS – AUGIE LAYING ON COUCH. CATE SETS SMALL PACKAGE NEXT TO AUGIE. JOSH STANDING IN DOORWAY. HAPPY BIRTHDAY DECORATIONS ON THE WALLS.
	
	
	

	
	
	AUGIE SITS UP AND LOOKS AT PACKAGE.
	
	
	

	967
	2:18:11:18
	LOW ANGLE – MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	968
	2:18:13:22
	MS – AUGIE PULLS CELL PHONE FROM PACKAGE.
	
	
	

	969
	2:18:16:22
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO JOSH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1007.
	2:18:17:02
	JOSH)

A cell phone?

	
	
	CATE CROSSES L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1008.
	2:18:20:21
	CATE)

I’ve, um–

	970
	2:18:21:11
	MS – AUGIE. CATE LEANS OVER AND TAKES CELL PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1009.
	2:18:21:15
	CATE)

I entered my cell phone number...

	971
	2:18:23:22
	LOW ANGLE – MCS – CATE WITH CELL PHONE. AUGIE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1010.
	2:18:24:02
	CATE)

...so if you ever need to talk to me, you just press that.

	
	
	[ SFX: PHONE BEEPS ]
	
	
	

	972
	2:18:28:04
	MS – PAST CATE TO AUGIE. CATE HANDS AUGIE CELL PHONE. CELL PHONE PLAYS DISTINCTIVE RING TONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: AUGIE’S RINGTONE ]
	
	
	

	973
	2:18:32:23
	LOW ANGLE – MS – CATE PULLS OUT HER CELL PHONE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1011.
	2:18:33:03
	CATE)

That way I’ll always know it’s you.

	
	
	[ SFX: PHONE BEEPS ]
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE HOLDS HER CELL PHONE UP TO HER EAR.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1012.
	2:18:35:11
	CATE)

Hello?

	974
	2:18:36:15
	MS – AUGIE CLOSES HER CELL PHONE.
	
	
	

	975
	2:18:40:04
	LOW ANGLE – MS – CATE LOWERS HER CELL PHONE.
	
	
	

	976
	2:18:42:06
	MS – AUGIE SETS HER CELL PHONE DOWN ON COUCH.
	
	
	

	977
	2:18:43:18
	LOW ANGLE – MCS – CATE LOOKING DOWN AT HER CELL PHONE.
	
	
	

	978
	2:18:45:15
	WS – AUGIE ON COUCH, CATE STANDING, JOSH IN BG.
	
	
	

	979
	2:18:47:18
	LOW ANGLE – MCS – CATE. JOSH ENTERS L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1013.
	2:18:47:22
	JOSH)

Okay, Bug. We’ve got to go back to bed.

	
	
	
	1014.
	2:18:49:15
	CATE)

Could you just give us a minute?

	980
	2:18:51:02
	MS – AUGIE.
	
	
	

	981
	2:18:52:19
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO JOSH. JOSH TAKES A COUPLE STEPS BACK.
	
	
	

	982
	2:18:56:04
	MS – CATE. JOSH BACKS OUT L. CATE CROSSES R.
	
	
	

	983
	2:19:01:16
	MCS – AUGIE. CATE SITS DOWN ON COUCH.
	
	
	

	984
	2:19:05:12
	OTS OF AUGIE TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1015.
	2:19:07:01
	CATE)

I’m sorry I missed your party.

	985
	2:19:09:14
	MCS – AUGIE HOLDING BLUE DOG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1016.
	2:19:09:18
	CATE)

I really wanted to be there.

	986
	2:19:13:04
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1017.
	2:19:13:07
	CATE)

I know I let you down, and I’m really, really sorry.

	987
	2:19:17:02
	MCS – AUGIE LOOKING DOWN AT BLUE DOG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1018.
	2:19:19:01
	AUGIE)

Blue Dog doesn’t feel good.

	988
	2:19:21:03
	CS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1019.
	2:19:21:07
	CATE)

No? Is he sick?

	989
	2:19:24:01
	MCS – AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1020.
	2:19:25:06
	AUGIE)

He ate too many cupcakes.

	990
	2:19:28:15
	CS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1021.
	2:19:34:21
	CATE)

I’m not going to make you any more promises. I’m just going to do better. Okay?

	991
	2:19:41:23
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	AUGIE HOLDS UP HER HAND.
	
	
	

	992
	2:19:45:11
	CS – CATE.
	
	
	

	993
	2:19:47:07
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO AUGIE, HOLDING UP HER HAND.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1022.
	2:19:49:05
	AUGIE)

I don’t want the tiny mama anymore.

	994
	2:19:52:03
	MS – JOSH LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	995
	2:19:54:02
	CS – CATE FIGHTING BACK TEARS.
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE HUGS AUGIE.
	
	
	

	996
	2:20:01:10
	INT. WASHINGTON D.C. COURTHOUSE CORRIDOR – DAY – WS – GEORGE TALKING WITH MAN. GONZALES ENTERS IN BG, WALKS TO FG AND PASSES CATE IN FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	GEORGE WALKS UP TO CATE AND HANDS HER A FOLDER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1023.
	2:20:11:09
	GEORGE)

Make this go away, you make full partner by the end of the year. You have my word.

	
	
	GEORGE LOOKS TO CATE AND THE MAN IN BG, MOTIONING FOR THEM TO MOVE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1024.
	2:20:17:13
	GEORGE)

Hey, shall we?

	
	
	GEORGE LEADS CATE AND MAN TOWARD DOORWAY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1025.
	2:20:21:01
	CATE VO)

Mr. Gonzales...

	997
	2:20:22:00
	INT. COURTROOM – DAY – MS – GONZALES IN WITNESS BOX, FEMALE INTERPRETER NEXT TO BOX. CATE MOVES FROM BG UP TO WITNESS BOX, HANDS GONZALES A NEWSPAPER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1026.
	2:20:22:03
	CATE)

...would you mind reading the first paragraph of this article?

	
	
	
	1027.
	2:20:24:20
	[ Interpreter Translating

Into Spanish ]

	998
	2:20:27:00
	THREE-SHOT OF CATE, GONZALES AND INTERPRETER. GONZALES, HOLDING NEWSPAPER, STARTS READING ALOUD IN SPANISH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1028.
	2:20:30:17
	[ Gonzales Slowly Reads In Spanish ]

	999
	2:20:34:19
	MS – GEORGE AND MAN SITTING AT TABLE.
	
	
	

	1000
	2:20:37:12
	MS – CATE. GONZALES PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG. CATE LOOKS OSL.
	
	
	

	1001
	2:20:39:17
	MS – JURORS IN JURY BOX.
	
	
	

	1002
	2:20:41:06
	THREE-SHOT OF CATE, GONZALES AND INTERPRETER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1029.
	2:20:42:07
	INTERPRETER)

Arturo Juan Gonzales...

	1003
	2:20:42:23
	MCS – GONZALES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1030.
	2:20:43:03
	INTERPRETER)

...convicted of a brutal crime in Chiapas, Mexico in 2003–

	
	
	
	1031.
	2:20:46:12
	[Gonzales Speaks Spanish ]

	
	
	
	1032.
	2:20:48:15
	INTERPRETER)

This isn’t me.

	1004
	2:20:49:05
	MS – CATE PICKS UP FILE OFF HER TABLE, MOVES TO FG. GONZALES PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1033.
	2:20:49:08
	CATE)

Mr. Gonzales, I’m looking at your rap sheet. It lists murder...

	1005
	2:20:54:19
	MCS – GONZALES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1034.
	2:20:55:11
	CATE)

...kidnapping, assault.

	
	
	
	1035.
	2:20:57:20
	[ Interpreter

Translating Spanish ]

	1006
	2:20:58:13
	MS – PAST GONZALES IN FG TO CATE.
	
	
	

	1007
	2:21:00:05
	REVERSE SHOT – MS – CATE AND GONZALES. CATE TURNS AND LOOKS TOWARD RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: AUGIE’S RINGTONE ]
	
	
	

	1008
	2:21:01:09
	WS – CATE RUSHES BACK TO HER PURSE, KNEELING NEXT TO IT. GEORGE AND MAN IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1036.
	2:21:02:20
	CATE)

Sorry.

	1009
	2:21:04:06
	MS – CATE’S PURSE. SHE PULLS HER CELL PHONE OUT. CAMERA TILTS UP TO CATE LOOKING AT SCREEN.
	
	
	

	
	
	[ SFX: AUGIE’S RINGTONE ]
	
	
	

	
	
	CATE LOOKS OSL.
	
	
	

	1010
	2:21:08:01
	MS – GEORGE STARES AT CATE. THE MAN BESIDE HIM APPEARS EXASPERATED.
	
	
	

	1011
	2:21:09:14
	WS – JURORS IN JURY BOX.
	
	
	

	1012
	2:21:11:06
	MCS – GONZALES.
	
	
	

	1013
	2:21:13:06
	WS –PAST INTERPRETER AND GONZALES IN FG TO CATE KNEELING BY TABLE. GEORGE AND MAN IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1037.
	2:21:13:10
	GEORGE)

Cate.

	1014
	2:21:14:15
	MS – CATE KNEELING. SHE LOOKS UP AT GEORGE, OSL.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1038.
	2:21:17:02
	JUDGE)

Ms. McCall.

	1015
	2:21:17:14
	HIGH ANGLE – CS – CATE’S CELL PHONE. SCREEN SHOWS INCOMING CALL FROM AUGIE.
	
	
	

	1016
	2:21:19:17
	LOW ANGLE – MCS – CATE KNEELING, JUDGE IN BG.
	
	
	

	1017
	2:21:22:05
	HIGH ANGLE – CS – CATE’S CELL PHONE. CATE PUSHES BUTTON TURNING OFF CELL PHONE.
	
	
	

	1018
	2:21:23:14
	LOW ANGLE – MCS – CATE KNEELING. SHE LOOKS OSL. JUDGE SITS IN BG.
	
	
	

	1019
	2:21:25:08
	WS – PAST INTERPRETER AND GONZALES IN FG TO CATE KNEELING BY TABLE. GEORGE AND MAN IN BG. CATE STANDS, MOVES TOWARD FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1039.
	2:21:30:16
	CATE)

I know you didn’t kill anybody.

	1020
	2:21:32:14
	MS – GEORGE AND MAN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1040.
	2:21:32:18
	[ Interpreter

Translates Into Spanish ]

	1021
	2:21:34:03
	MCS – GONZALES.
	
	
	

	1022
	2:21:36:01
	MCS – CATE TURNING L TO ADDRESS JURORS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1041.
	2:21:38:12
	CATE)

We’re just trying to make him look bad...

	1023
	2:21:40:02
	WS – JURORS IN JURY BOX.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1042.
	2:21:40:03
	CATE)

...so that you won’t give him what he deserves.

	1024
	2:21:41:05
	MS – GEORGE AND MAN. GEORGE STANDS UP.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1043.
	2:21:42:00
	GEORGE)

Your Honor, we need a recess.

	1025
	2:21:42:13
	MS – CATE WALKING TOWARD FG. GEORGE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG. GONZALES IN BG.
	
	
	

	1026
	2:21:44:06
	REVERSE ANGLE – CATE WALKING UP TO GEORGE. SHE KNEELS DOWN, PICKS UP HER PURSE.
	
	
	

	1027
	2:21:45:10
	MS – GEORGE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG. GONZALES IN BG. CATE STANDS UP, LOOKS AT GEORGE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1044.
	2:21:47:18
	CATE)

Just give him what he deserves.

	1028
	2:21:49:14
	WS – PAST INTERPRETER AND GONZALES IN FG TO CATE AND GEORGE IN BG. CATE EXITS TO LBG.
	
	
	

	1029
	2:21:51:13
	MCS – GONZALES LOOKING OSL.
	
	
	

	1030
	2:21:53:11
	WS – CATE LEAVING COURTROOM THROUGH DOORS.
	
	
	

	1031
	2:21:57:13
	EXT. DOWNTOWN LOS ANGELES – WS – AERIAL SHOT ABOVE SKYSCRAPERS – DAY – CAMERA FLYING OVER CITY.
	
	
	

	1032
	2:22:01:15
	EXT. COURTHOUSE PLAZA – DAY – WS – SUMPTER SITTING AT TABLE READING THE PAPER. CATE ENTERS L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1045.
	2:22:05:06
	CATE)

Nice piece in the "Times."

	1033
	2:22:06:22
	MCS – CATE SITTING DOWN AT TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1046.
	2:22:09:20
	CATE)

You sure it’s justice you want and not a seat on the appellate court?

	1034
	2:22:12:23
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1047.
	2:22:15:03
	SUMPTER)

What are you worried about, Cate? That your client will go free?

	1035
	2:22:19:05
	TWO-SHOT PAST SUMPTER TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1048.
	2:22:19:08
	CATE)

You can’t sit on this case.

	
	
	CATE PULLS OUT A CARD, SITS CARD ON TABLE.
	
	
	

	1036
	2:22:22:00
	OTS OF CATE TO SUMPTER, LOOKING DOWN AT CARD.
	
	
	

	1037
	2:22:23:17
	HIGH ANGLE – CU – CARD. WRITTEN ON CARD: “McCALL ROOM 2019. BRING YOUR BIB. JS”
	
	
	

	1038
	2:22:25:21
	OTS OF SUMPTER TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1049.
	2:22:26:00
	CATE)

You need to recuse yourself.

	1039
	2:22:27:19
	OTS OF CATE TO SUMPTER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1050.
	2:22:29:05
	BAILIFF VO)

All rise.

	1040
	2:22:30:17
	INT. COURTROOM – DAY – WS – FROM BEHIND SPECTATORS TO CATE AND LACEY STANDING AT TABLE. JUDGE’S BENCH IN BG. FEMALE JUDGE ENTERS L.
	
	
	

	1041
	2:22:36:08
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1051.
	2:22:37:13
	LACEY)

Who is that?

	
	
	
	1052.
	2:22:39:03
	CATE)

It– It looks like Justice Tanaka.

	
	
	
	1053.
	2:22:42:12
	JUDGE TANAKA)

Please be seated.

	
	
	CATE AND LACEY SIT DOWN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1054.
	2:22:46:00
	JUDGE TANAKA)

Before us today...

	1042
	2:22:46:16
	FS – PAST LACEY AND CATE IN FG TO JUDGE TANAKA IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1055.
	2:22:46:19
	JUDGE TANAKA)

...after a lengthy journey up and down the state and federal justice system...

	1043
	2:22:50:10
	TWO-SHOT PAST BRINKERHOFF IN FG IN SOFT FOCUS TO CATE IN BG. THEY EXCHANGE GLANCES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1056.
	2:22:51:05
	JUDGE TANAKA)

...we have the habeas petition of Lacey Stubbs.

	1044
	2:22:52:17
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE IN FG IN SOFT FOCUS TO BRINKERHOFF. RACK FOCUS TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1057.
	2:22:53:19
	JUDGE TANAKA)

I’d like to give both parties an opportunity...

	1045
	2:22:55:23
	MS – JUDGE TANAKA.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1058.
	2:22:56:03
	JUDGE TANAKA)

...to request additional testimony...

	1046
	2:22:58:10
	MS – HAZEL SITTING WITH SPECTATORS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1059.
	2:22:58:14
	JUDGE TANAKA)

...on topics that the court has not...

	1047
	2:23:00:07
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1060.
	2:23:00:08
	JUDGE TANAKA)

...sufficiently addressed.

	
	
	
	1061.
	2:23:01:11
	LACEY)

Where the fuck is Sumpter?

	1048
	2:23:03:01
	WS – BRINKERHOFF AND HIS MALE ASSISTANT.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1062.
	2:23:03:04
	BRINKERHOFF)

Did you ever socialize with Lacey Stubbs?

	1049
	2:23:05:20
	MS – WELCH IN WITNESS BOX. BRINKERHOFF PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1063.
	2:23:05:23
	WELCH)

No, sir.

	
	
	
	1064.
	2:23:07:07
	BRINKERHOFF)

Did you have sex with Lacey Stubbs?

	
	
	
	1065.
	2:23:08:23
	WELCH)

No, sir. I did not.

	1050
	2:23:09:18
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1066.
	2:23:09:22
	BRINKERHOFF)

Did you rape Lacey Stubbs?

	1051
	2:23:12:05
	MS – WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1067.
	2:23:12:08
	WELCH)

Absolutely not.

	1052
	2:23:14:00
	WS – BRINKERHOFF STANDING, CROSSING TOWARD FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1068.
	2:23:14:03
	BRINKERHOFF)

Do you know where you were on...

	1053
	2:23:16:06
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1069.
	2:23:16:10
	BRINKERHOFF)

...November 29, 2007?

	1054
	2:23:17:23
	MS – WELCH. BRINKERHOFF PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1070.
	2:23:18:03
	WELCH)

Yes. I was in Chicago with my wife and son.

	1055
	2:23:21:04
	WS – CATE STANDING. BRINKERHOFF AND HIS ASSISTANT SITTING AT TABLE. SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1071.
	2:23:21:07
	CATE)

So now you say you were in Chicago November 29, 2007.

	1056
	2:23:25:14
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO WELCH.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1072.
	2:23:25:18
	WELCH)

Yes, that’s correct.

	1057
	2:23:27:06
	MS – CATE. WELCH PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1073.
	2:23:27:10
	CATE)

And we’re supposed to take your word for that?

	1058
	2:23:29:10
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1074.
	2:23:29:14
	WELCH)

You could. Or you could...

	1059
	2:23:31:10
	TWO-SHOT PAST CATE TO WELCH. WELCH PULLS OUT PIECE OF PAPER, PLACES IT ON RAILING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1075.
	2:23:31:14
	WELCH)

...check my credit card receipts.

	1060
	2:23:34:05
	MS – BRINKERHOFF AND HIS ASSISTANT SITTING AT TABLE. SPECTATORS IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1076.
	2:23:34:08
	BRINKERHOFF)

So is it still your testimony that Detective Welch raped you?

	1061
	2:23:37:09
	MS – LACEY IN WITNESS BOX. LACEY LOOKS L TO JUDGE TANAKA. BRINKERHOFF PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1077.
	2:23:37:12
	LACEY)

She said I wouldn’t have to go through this again.

	1062
	2:23:39:04
	MS – CATE SITTING AT TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1078.
	2:23:39:07
	JUDGE TANAKA)

Answer the question.

	1063
	2:23:42:02
	MS – LACEY IN WITNESS BOX. BRINKERHOFF PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1079.
	2:23:42:06
	WELCH)

Yes, he raped me.

	
	
	
	1080.
	2:23:43:19
	BRINKERHOFF)

I’m reading from the record now.

	1064
	2:23:45:09
	MS – BRINKERHOFF AND HIS ASSISTANT SITTING AT TABLE. BRINKERHOFF HOLDING PIECE OF PAPER.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1081.
	2:23:45:12
	BRINKERHOFF)

“Welch got off me and said if I opened my mouth...

	1065
	2:23:49:02
	MS – LACEY IN WITNESS BOX. BRINKERHOFF PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1082.
	2:23:49:06
	BRINKERHOFF)

...they’d come back and do the same to my kid.”

	1066
	2:23:52:22
	MS – BRINKERHOFF AND HIS ASSISTANT SITTING AT TABLE. LACEY PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1083.
	2:23:53:02
	BRINKERHOFF)

Is that still your testimony?

	1067
	2:23:55:02
	MS – LACEY. BRINKERHOFF PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1084.
	2:23:55:06
	LACEY)

Yes.

	
	
	
	1085.
	2:23:56:10
	BRINKERHOFF)

But on November 29, 2007...

	1068
	2:23:59:15
	MS – CATE SITTING AT TABLE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1086.
	2:23:59:19
	BRINKERHOFF)

...you didn’t have a child, did you?

	1069
	2:24:01:16
	MS – BRINKERHOFF SITTING AT TABLE. LACEY PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1087.
	2:24:01:19
	LACEY)

He said–

	
	
	
	1088.
	2:24:02:07
	BRINKERHOFF)

It’s a simple yes or no question.

	1070
	2:24:03:19
	MS – LACEY. BRINKERHOFF PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1089.
	2:24:06:16
	LACEY)

He said he was gonna rape my kid. Maybe he meant the one inside of me. I don’t know what he was thinking.

	1071
	2:24:10:06
	MS – BRINKERHOFF STANDS. HE HOLDS THE PAPERBACK BOOK.
	
	
	

	1072
	2:24:13:03
	MS – LACEY. BRINKERHOFF CROSSING L IN FG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1090.
	2:24:13:19
	BRINKERHOFF)

Your Honor, I’d like to mark this State’s 12.

	1073
	2:24:16:19
	MS – CATE SITTING AT TABLE. CAMERA SLOWLY PUSHES IN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1091.
	2:24:19:07
	BRINKERHOFF)

Do you recognize this book?

	1074
	2:24:20:11
	MS – LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1092.
	2:24:23:17
	LACEY)

Not really.

	1075
	2:24:25:03
	OTS OF LACEY TO BRINKERHOFF.
	
	
	

	1076
	2:24:27:02
	MCS – LACEY LOOKING OSL TO CATE. CAMERA SLOWLY PUSHES IN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1093.
	2:24:29:19
	BRINKERHOFF)

Would you mind reading the underlined passage here...

	1077
	2:24:32:07
	MCS – CATE SITTING AT TABLE. CAMERA SLOWLY PUSHES IN.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1094.
	2:24:33:15
	BRINKERHOFF)

...starting with “I could feel the gun against my throat”?

	1078
	2:24:37:11
	LOW ANGLE – MCS – LACEY LEAPS UP IN WITNESS BOX.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1095.
	2:24:37:15
	LACEY)

She’s trying to fuck me!

	1079
	2:24:38:09
	MS – JUDGE TANAKA.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1096.
	2:24:38:12
	JUDGE TANAKA)

Ms. Stubbs!

	1080
	2:24:39:09
	WS – LACEY RUNNING OUT OF WITNESS BOX.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1097.
	2:24:39:12
	LACEY)

Ask that cocksucker...

	1081
	2:24:40:08
	MS – CATE STANDS UP.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1098.
	2:24:40:11
	LACEY)

...how he got my book...

	1082
	2:24:41:07
	WS – LACEY RUNNING TOWARD CATE. BAILIFF RESTRAINS LACEY.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1099.
	2:24:41:11
	LACEY)

...in the first place! You fucking bitch!

	1083
	2:24:43:20
	WS – BRINKERHOFF AND SPECTATORS WATCHING. POLICE OFFICER CROSSES BEHIND BRINKERHOFF.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1100.
	2:24:43:23
	LACEY)

I’m gonna fucking kill you! Get the fuck–

	1084
	2:24:44:21
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	1085
	2:24:47:07
	MCS – LACEY BEING HELD BACK BY BAILIFF.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1101.
	2:24:47:11
	LACEY)

I’m gonna fucking slice your throat!

	1086
	2:24:49:10
	MS – HAZEL LOOKING ON.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1102.
	2:24:49:14
	LACEY)

Do you fucking hear me? Fucking cunt!

	1087
	2:24:52:04
	MCS – CATE. LACEY AND BAILIFF AND OTHER OFFICERS IN FG IN SOFT FOCUS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1103.
	2:24:52:07
	LACEY)

I will fucking kill you!

	
	
	
	1104.
	2:24:53:19
	BAILIFF)

Clear the court! Clear the court!

	1088
	2:24:55:17
	MS – LACEY BEING HELD BACK AND THEN CARRIED AWAY BY TWO BAILIFFS.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1105.
	2:24:55:20
	LACEY)

I will fucking kill you!

	
	
	
	1106.
	2:24:56:23
	BAILIFF)

Clear the court now!

	1089
	2:24:57:21
	MS – HAZEL LEAVING THE COURTROOM. SHE LOOKS BACK AT CATE.
	
	
	

	1090
	2:25:00:06
	CS – CATE LOOKING OSR.
	
	
	

	1091
	2:25:06:14
	INT. COURTHOUSE ENTRYWAY – DAY – WS – CATE ENTERS IN FG AND WALKS TOWARD EXIT IN BG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1107.
	2:25:21:15
	CATE VO)

One of my sponsor’s favorite sayings is...

	1092
	2:25:24:04
	INT. MEETING ROOM – NIGHT – WS – CATE SITTING AMONGST GROUP. CAMERA TRACKS SLOWLY L.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1108.
	2:25:24:07
	CATE)

“You can’t change the wind, but you can adjust the sails.”

	1093
	2:25:29:22
	MS – CATE. BRIDGES PARTIALLY SEEN IN RFG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1109.
	2:25:31:03
	CATE)

Water’s been pretty rough here recently. Some days it’s all I can do to hang on and hold my head up high enough so I can see the damn sails without getting my head knocked off. But... I’m here... again. Still.

	
	
	CATE SIGHS, LOOKS UP AT THE CEILING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1110.
	2:25:50:19
	CATE)

Gratitude’s always been really hard. But I want to say thanks.

	1094
	2:25:58:03
	MS – BRIDGES. CATE PARTIALLY SEEN IN LFG.
	
	
	

	1095
	2:26:00:08
	MCS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1111.
	2:26:02:08
	CATE)

I wouldn’t be here without you.

	1096
	2:26:08:18
	INT. AIRPORT TERMINAL – DAY – OTS OF CATE TO BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1112.
	2:26:11:06
	BRIDGES)

Call me as soon as you land.

	1097
	2:26:12:19
	ALTERNATING OTS OF BRIDGES AND CATE (5x).
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1113.
	2:26:14:05
	CATE)

Yeah.

	
	
	
	1114.
	2:26:15:11
	BRIDGES)

And, uh, don’t forget. You gotta start over every single day.

	
	
	
	1115.
	2:26:20:10
	CATE)

One fuckin’ day at a time.

	
	
	
	1116.
	2:26:22:12
	BRIDGES)

Yeah. [ Chuckles ]

	
	
	
	1117.
	2:26:24:00
	CATE)

Okay.

	
	
	
	1118.
	2:26:24:23
	BRIDGES)

Okay.

	
	
	CATE AND BRIDGES HUG.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1119.
	2:26:29:18
	CATE)

Oh, you’re an asshole.

	
	
	CATE TURNS TO WALK AWAY.
	
	
	

	1102
	2:26:31:04
	MCS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1120.
	2:26:32:19
	BRIDGES)

Did you figure it out yet?

	1103
	2:26:33:14
	OTS OF BRIDGES TO CATE STOPPING, TURNING TO FACE BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	1104
	2:26:35:15
	MCS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1121.
	2:26:35:19
	BRIDGES)

The great and the special?

	1105
	2:26:38:03
	OTS OF BRIDGES TO CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1122.
	2:26:38:23
	CATE)

Oh, I’m still working on it.

	
	
	
	1123.
	2:26:40:13
	BRIDGES)

Oh.

	
	
	
	1124.
	2:26:41:00
	CATE)

Maybe that’s it. Maybe... I never give up.

	1106
	2:26:45:01
	MCS – BRIDGES.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1125.
	2:26:46:07
	BRIDGES)

Well, that’s not nothing.

	1107
	2:26:49:06
	OTS OF BRIDGES TO CATE. CATE NODS AND WALKS AWAY TOWARD BG.
	
	
	

	1108
	2:26:57:07
	EXT. SEATTLE – DAY – ELS – SKYLINE SEEN IN THE DISTANCE.
	
	
	

	1109
	2:27:06:09
	INT. CATE’S SEATTLE APARTMENT – DAY – MS – AUGIE, CATE FOLLOWING IN BG. BOTH WALKING DOWN HALLWAY. AUGIE LOOKING AROUND.
	
	
	

	1110
	2:27:15:04
	HIGH ANGLE – MS – AUGIE WALKING DOWN HALLWAY. CAMERA FOLLOWS. AUGIE TURNS L INTO BEDROOM.
	
	
	

	1111
	2:27:20:19
	MCS – CATE IN DOORWAY.
	
	
	

	1112
	2:27:23:15
	FS PAST CATE IN FG TO AUGIE. TEDDY BEAR ON BED IN BG. RAINBOW PAINTED ON WALL ABOVE BED.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1126.
	2:27:25:10
	AUGIE)

Is this my room?

	1113
	2:27:26:22
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1127.
	2:27:28:02
	CATE)

Yeah.

	1114
	2:27:29:00
	FS PAST CATE IN FG TO AUGIE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1128.
	2:27:29:03
	AUGIE)

I have a rainbow room in Daddy’s house.

	1115
	2:27:31:21
	MS – CATE.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1129.
	2:27:32:00
	CATE)

Well, now you have one at my house too.

	1116
	2:27:34:11
	WS – AUGIE NOTICES FISH BOWL ON DESK IN BG. AUGIE CROSSES TO DESK.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1130.
	2:27:37:00
	AUGIE)

A fish!

	
	
	
	1131.
	2:27:39:04
	AUGIE)

Hi, boy.

	1117
	2:27:40:12
	MCS – CATE SMILING.
	
	
	

	
	
	
	1132.
	2:27:41:23
	AUGIE)

I’m gonna name you Rainbow. Is that okay?

	1118
	2:27:51:13
	END CREDITS BEGIN.
	
	
	

	1119
	2:32:48:14
	END CREDITS END.
	
	
	

	1120
	2:32:48:14
	END OF REEL.
	
	
	


	
	
	MUSIC OUT/LAST FRAME OF PICTURE. 2:32:48:14
TOTAL RUN TIME: 1:32:48:14
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